
Town Council Agenda 1  February 6, 2024 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA  

COMMUNITY CULTURAL CENTER AUDITORIUM / MICROSOFT “TEAMS”  

50 Chapman Place  

EAST HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT  

February 20, 2024 

Executive Session 7:00 PM 

=================================================================== 

Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes § 1-225a this Town Council meeting is 
accessible through “Microsoft Teams” 929-235-8441 Conference ID: 620 665 150# or 

Click here to join the meeting  

 
Pledge of Allegiance 7:30 p.m. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. AMENDMENTS TO AGENDA 
 
3. RECOGNITIONS AND AWARDS 
 
4. OPPORTUNITY FOR RESIDENTS TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON AGENDA 
ITEMS 

A.  Other Elected Officials 
B.  Other Residents 
C.  Mayor 

 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
  A.  February 6, 2024 Executive Session 
  B.  February 6, 2024 Regular Meeting 
   
6. COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS   

A. Overview of Town's Long Term Obligations  
  1. Annual Pension and OPEB Fund Review  
    a. Segal Company- Pension Contributions for FY 2023-24  
     b. Freedom Investment Management: Discussion of the Town’s Portfolio-   

    Equity Side  
     c. Fiducient Advisors: Discussion of the Town’s Portfolio- Fixed Income Side  
   2. Finance Director  
     a. Expense and Projection Analysis - OPEB trust fund  
    b. Expense and Projection Analysis - Medical Claims / Health Insurance Trust 

    Fund  
     c. Expense and Projection Analysis - Long Term Debt  
    d. Expense and Projection Analysis - Lease Purchase 

      e. Expense and Projection Analysis – Workers Compensation Fund  
B.  Presentations by Development Department 
  1.  ARPA Small Business Assistance Program Update 
  2.  Report on State Training of Land Use Commission Members 
C.  Section 10-3(c) of Town Ordinances: Disposition of Obsolete Town-Owned 

Equipment-  Surplus 2006 Ford Taurus by Fire Department 
                       
 
 

tel:+1%20929-235-8441,,25704167#_blank
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YmEzOTE4ZTYtOTAzOC00MzJiLWE2MWItMThkNTQwMjMwOTQ4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2287da8af4-4bef-47df-81f6-2cd460cbb560%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22adbe2f67-5e02-469a-ae80-8d192b3a8837%22%7d


Town Council Agenda 2  February 6, 2024 

7. OLD BUSINESS 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Addition of Naubuc Avenue Area Sidewalk Project to Town’s 5-Year Capital 
Improvement Plan (CIP) 

B. State of Connecticut Office of Policy and Management / Local Capital 
Improvement Program (LoCIP) Grant Allocations 

C. Agreement between the Town of East Hartford and the East Hartford 
Supervisors’ Union, Local 818, AFSCME, Council 4 

 1. Approval of Contingency Transfer 
 2. Reallocation of ARPA Funds 
D. Request for Bid Waiver re: Town Hall Enhancements 
E. Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD) 

Brownfields Assessment Grant re: 164 School Street (United Steel, Inc.) and 
1016 Main Street  

F. Transfer of ARPA Funds re: Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) Support  
G. Amusement Permit Application re: Lung Force Walk 2024 

 
9.   OPPORTUNITY FOR COUNCILLORS TO DIRECT QUESTIONS TO THE  
      ADMINISTRATION 
 
10. COUNCIL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTERS  

A. The pending Superior Court action known as JULIO R. CENTENO v. TOWN OF 
EAST HARTFORD, Docket No. HHD-CV-21-6140728-S. 

B. The pending tax assessment appeal known as RIVERVIEW PLAZA , LLC v. 
TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD, Docket Number HHB-CV22-6072893-S -S, 
involving real property located at 20 Hartland Street, East Hartford for the Grand 
List year 2021 through Grand List Year 2025. 

C. The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by JE Mart, LLC 
 regarding the real property located at 818 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.  
  

11. OPPORTUNITY FOR RESIDENTS TO SPEAK 
A.  Other Elected Officials 
B.  Other Residents 
C.  Mayor 

 
 12. ADJOURNMENT (next meeting: March 5, 2024 at Community Cultural 
  Center) 



TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD 
 

740 Main Street  
East Hartford, Connecticut 06108 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OFFICE OF  
THE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
 
 

(860) 291-7207 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

WWW.EASTHARTFORDCT.GOV 

 
       
 
 
DATE:  February 16, 2024 
                       
TO:  Town Council Members                          
             
FROM:  Rich Kehoe, Chair            
 
RE:  Tuesday, February 20, 2024 – 7:00 pm  
  Community Cultural Center Room 111 
 
In accordance with Section 3.3 (a) of the Town Charter, a Special Meeting of the Town 
Council will be held as follows: 

 
Tuesday, February 20, 2024 – 7:00 pm  

 
The purpose of the meeting is to meet in Executive Session to discuss the following: 
 

A. The pending Superior Court action known as JULIO R. CENTENO v. TOWN OF EAST 
HARTFORD, Docket No. HHD-CV-21-6140728-S. 

B. The pending tax assessment appeal known as RIVERVIEW PLAZA , LLC v. 
TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD, Docket Number HHB-CV22-6072893-S -S, 
involving real property located at 20 Hartland Street, East Hartford for the Grand 
List year 2021 through Grand List Year 2025. 

C. The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by JE Mart, LLC 
 regarding the real property located at 818 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.  

 
 

cc:  Mayor’s Office 
 Melissa McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer and Finance Director 
 Office of Corporation Counsel 
 Christine Sasen, Risk Manager  
  
  
 



February 6, 2024 1 Volume 93 

Community Cultural Center Room 111 
 

February 6, 2024 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

PRESENT Chair Richard F. Kehoe, Vice Chair Donald Bell, Jr., Majority Leader 
Sebrina Wilson, Minority Leader John Morrison, Councilors Angela 
Parkinson, Awet Tsegai (via Teams), Harry O. Amadasun, Jr. (arrived 
via Teams at 6:40 p.m.), Thomas Rup and Travis Simpson  

 
ABSENT   
 
ALSO    James Tallberg, Corporation Counsel 
PRESENT  Robert Fitzgerald, Assistant Corporation Counsel 
   Melissa McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer and Finance Director 
   Attorney Kristan Maccini, Maccini Voccio & Jordan, LLC 
   Attorney Katherine Rule, Howd & Ludorf, LLC 
   Mack Hawkins, Chief of Police 
    
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Chair Kehoe called the meeting to order at 6:33 p.m. 
 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 

to go into Executive Session to discuss the following: 

A. The pending summary process eviction action known as TOWN OF EAST 
HARTFORD v. BROTHER'S APPLIANCE, LLC, HFH-CV23-6027036-S involving 
the real property located at 842-844 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.   

B. The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by Victoria T. 
Popik d/b/a CK Nails regarding 836 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.  

C. The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by Bare Bones 
Boxing EH, LLC involving the real property located at 826 Silver Lane, East 
Hartford, CT.    

D. The pending Law Enforcement Liability Claim known as JERMAINE FELICIANO 
 V. EAST HARTFORD, No. 3:20-cv-01932(OAW). 
E. The pending Law Enforcement Liability Claim known as ESTATE OF LENETIS 
 V. EAST HARTFORD, No. 3:20-cv-01834(JCH) 

 
Motion carried 8/0 

 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Don Bell 
  
  to go back to Regular Session. 
 

Motion carried 9/0 
 



February 6, 2024 2 Volume 93 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 
  to adjourn at 7:26 p.m.        
 

Motion carried 9/0 
   

Attest___________________________ 
Richard Kehoe 

                  Town Council Chair 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 1 

EAST HARTFORD TOWN COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY CULTURAL CENTER AUDITORIUM 
 

February 6, 2024 
 

PRESENT Chair Richard F. Kehoe, Vice Chair Don Bell, Majority Leader Sebrina 
Wilson, Minority Leader John Morrison, Councilors Angie Parkinson, Travis 
Simpson, Thomas Rup, Awet Tsegai (via Teams) and Harry Amadasun, Jr. 

 
ABSENT   
 
ALSO  Mayor Connor S. Martin 
PRESENT Melissa McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer and Finance Director  
  Eileen Buckheit, Director of Development  
  Doug Wilson, Town Engineer (via Teams) 
  Marissa Baum, Head of Communications 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Chair Kehoe called the meeting to order at 7:37 pm. The Chair stated that this  
meeting was also available to the public through the “Teams” platform.   
 
The Chair announced the exit locations in accordance with Connecticut General 
Statutes §29-381, after which the Council joined him in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 

to remove Item 8G1 “Connecticut Department of Economic and 
Community Development (DECD) Brownfields Assessment Grant re: 164 
School Street (United Steel, Inc.)” from the Agenda 
 
Motion carried 9/0 

 
RECOGNITIONS AND AWARDS 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR RESIDENTS TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Mayor Martin  
 

 wished all a good evening  
 introduced Marissa Baum who has been hired by the Mayor’s Office as Head of 

Communications 
 thanked all who attended the Community Town Hall presentation on February 1st.  

A recording of the presentation is available on the Town website and social media. 
 FY24-25 Budget Workshops will begin on February 26th at the Community Cultural 

Center Auditorium.  The full schedule by department is available on the Town 
Website.  All are encouraged to attend. 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 2 

 All Town Offices, including the East Hartford Transfer Station, will be closed 
on Monday, February 12, 2024 in observance of Abraham Lincoln’s Birthday and 
on Monday, February 19, 2024 in observance of George Washington’s Birthday.  

 However, trash and recycling pick up with proceed on a normal schedule. 
 As of February 1st, all Town tax bills are considered delinquent.  Applications for 

exemptions for elderly homeowners are available as well as blind, disabled and 
Veteran exemptions.   

 Kindergarten registration for the Fall is now open to residents. 
 Recognized Dottie’s Sea Moss Wellness Bar as the featured local business in this 

month’s edition of the East Hartford Pulse newsletter. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
January 16, 2024 Public Hearing 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Travis Simpson 
 
  to approve the minutes of the January 16, 2024 Public Hearing 
 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
January 16, 2024 Regular Meeting 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Travis Simpson 
 
  to approve the minutes of the January 16, 2024 Regular Meeting 
 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
January 23, 2024 Special Meeting 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Travis Simpson 
 
  to approve the minutes of the January 23, 2024 Special Meeting 
 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS 
 
OLD BUSINESS  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Referrals to Personnel and Pensions Subcommittee 
 
Proposed Revision to Job Description and Paygrade Increase for Position of 
Administrative Clerk II (Fire Department)  
 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 3 

Proposed Revision to Job Description, Paygrade Increase and Change in Title for 
Position of Administrative Clerk III (Police Department) 
 
MOTION By Awet Tsegai 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 

to refer to the Personnel and Pensions Subcommittee Proposed Revision 
to Job Description and Paygrade Increase for Position of Administrative 
Clerk II (Fire Department) and the Proposed Revision to Job Description, 
Paygrade Increase and Change in Title for Position of Administrative Clerk 
III (Police Department) as provided in a memo from Mayor Connor S. 
Martin to Rich Kehoe, Town Council Chair dated January 19, 2024 with 
instructions to review the positions and report back to the full Council with 
its recommendations, if any. 
 
Motion carried 9/0 

 
Town Ordinance Section 10-52:  Setting of Maximum Fund Balance Percentage for 
FY2023 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 

that the Town Council adopt the following:  
 
If at the close of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023, the undesignated 
reserve fund for the town exceeds eleven percent of the total budget 
appropriation for such fiscal year as verified by the Town's auditors in the 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, the amount in excess of 11% in 
such fiscal year shall be appropriated to the Retiree Benefit Trust Fund. 

   
  Motion Carried 9/0 
 
Allocation of Funds from National Development Impact Payment for Main Street 
Development Projects 
 
MOTION By Angie Parkinson 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 
  to adopt the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS, on August 16, 2022, this Council approved a Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Town and ND Acquisitions LLC, whereby, in pertinent 
part, ND Acquisitions LLC provided the Town with a one-time impact payment 
contribution in the amount of $1.50 per rentable square foot of space of two (2) 
warehouse and distribution buildings being constructed on approximately 300 
acres of land commonly known as “Rentschler Field” in East Hartford, 
Connecticut; and 
 
WHEREAS, said one-time impact payment contribution contemplated potential 
funding of planning, design and construction of the portion of the so-called “East 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 4 

Coast Greenway” and in part towards the planning, design, construction, or 
renovation of one or more athletic or recreational facilities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor of the Town of East Hartford and the Principal of ND 
Acquisitions LLC agree that the one-time impact payment contribution may be 
used for any project that benefits the Town of East Hartford; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town desires to allocate five hundred thousand dollars and zero 
cents ($500,000.00) of the one-time impact payment contribution to efforts related 
to Main Street, downtown area, and business development. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the East Hartford Town Council: 
 
1. Appropriates said $500,000 for a development and traffic study of the Main 

Street corridor from the Torpey Bridge in the north to the I-84 overpass to the 
south (“Downtown East Hartford); infrastructure improvements to facilitate the 
development of Complete Streets in Downtown East Hartford; and marketing 
and community events to spur activity in Downtown East Hartford, provided the 
mayor shall provide to the Town Council periodic reports on the expenditure of 
such funds;  

2. Authorizes Mayor Connor S. Martin to make, execute and deliver all 
amendments and to do and perform such acts and to take such actions as 
may be necessary or required for the consummation of the transactions 
provided for and contemplated by this Resolution.   

 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
Local Transportation Capital Improvement Program (LOTCIP) Application re: Forbes 
Street Roundabout 
 
MOTION By Angie Parkinson 
  seconded by John Morrison 
 
  to adopt the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS the Capitol Region Council of Governments (CRCOG) is inviting 
municipalities to submit proposals for transportation projects to be funded under 
the Local Transportation Capital Improvement Program (LOTCIP); and 
  
WHEREAS the Forbes Street Roundabout Project is eligible for funding under this 
program; 
 
WHEREAS roundabouts significantly reduce the frequency and severity of vehicle 
crashes and reduce the speed of traffic entering and exiting the roundabout 
without causing delays inherent in traffic signal operations; 
  
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED that the East Hartford Town Council 
strongly supports the Forbes Street Reconstruction Project and that Connor S. 
Martin, Mayor of the Town of East Hartford, is authorized to make application to, 
and execute and approve on behalf of this corporation, any and all documents, 
contracts, and amendments as may be required by CRCOG as they pertain to the 
above project and the LOTCIP Program. 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 5 

 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
Request for Short Term Bid Waiver from Fire Department re: Emergent Repairs to Fire 
Apparatus with Fleetmaster Sales and Service 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by Travis Simpson 
 

in accordance with Section 10-7(c) of the Town of East Hartford Code of 
Ordinances, the Town Council waive the bidding procedures through June 
30, 2024 as required by Section 10-7(b) and allow the Fire Department to 
purchase emergent repairs to fire apparatus as necessary from 
Fleetmasters Sales and Service for an amount not to exceed $40,000 in 
each occurrence, as detailed in a memo from Fire Chief Kevin Munson to 
Mayor Connor Martin dated January 18, 2024 as this vendor is the only 
factory-authorized Seagrave repair center in Connecticut and these timely 
repairs are necessary to maintain adequate levels of fire protection for the 
community. 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
Request for Bid Waiver for Per Diem Interim Assessor Services 
 
MOTION By Sebrina Wilson 
  seconded by John Morrison 
 

pursuant to Section 10-7(c) of the Town of East Hartford Code of 
Ordinances, the Town Council waive the bidding procedures required by 
Section 10-7(b) and further authorize the Town to obtain per diem interim 
assessor services from Joseph Ferraro, Certified Municipal Assessor, at a 
price not to exceed $40,000.00 and further authorize Mayor Connor S. 
Martin to make, execute and approve on behalf of the Town, any and all 
contracts or amendments necessary as such waiver is in the best interest 
of the Town as it will allow the Finance Department to maintain certified 
assessor services until such time as a permanent Assessor is obtained. 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
Grant Applications 
 
Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD) Brownfields 
Assessment Grant re: 164 School Street (United Steel, Inc.) 
 
This Item has been removed from the Agenda 
 
Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development (DECD) Brownfields 
Area-Wide Revitalization Grant re: Burnside and Church Street Village Study 
 
MOTION By Angie Parkinson 
  seconded by John Morrison 
 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 6 

  to adopt the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to C.G.S Section 32-763, the Connecticut Department of 
Economic and Community Development is authorized to extend financial 
assistance for economic development projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is desirable and in the public interest that the Town of East Hartford 
make an application to the State for $200,000 in order to undertake the Burnside 
and Church Street Village study and to execute an Assistance Agreement. 
 
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED BY THE EAST HARTFORD TOWN 
COUNCIL: 
 
1. That it is cognizant of the conditions and prerequisites (including the match 
obligations) for the state financial assistance imposed by C.G.S Section 32-763; 
 
2. That the filing of an application for State financial assistance by the Town 
of East Hartford in an amount not to exceed $200,000 is hereby approved and that 
Mayor Connor S. Martin is directed to execute and file such application with the 
Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development, to provide 
such additional information, to execute such other documents as may be required, 
to execute an Assistance Agreement with the State of Connecticut for State 
financial assistance if such an agreement is offered, to execute any amendments, 
decisions, and revisions thereto, and to act as the authorized representative of the 
Town of East Hartford. 

 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0  
 
Amusement Permit Application re: Eversource Hartford Marathon 
 
MOTION By Harry Amadasun 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 

that pursuant to Section 5-3(e) of the East Hartford Code of Ordinances, 
approve the outdoor amusement permit entitled “Eversource Hartford 
Marathon – 2024” submitted by Chief of Police Mack Hawkins on January 
9th 2024 for the Hartford Marathon Foundation to conduct a marathon road 
race and outdoor musical entertainment on Saturday, October 19, 2024 
from 7:30AM to 1:30PM, with music between the hours of 9:00AM and 
1:30PM, subject to compliance with adopted codes and regulations of the 
State of Connecticut, the Town of East Hartford, and any other stipulations 
required by the Town of East  Hartford or its agencies. 

 
Motion carried 9/0 

 
Appointment of Salema Davis to Fill Constable Vacancy 
 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 
  to approve the appointment of Salema Davis, 11 Springside Avenue to fill 
  the vacant Republican Constable Position, term to expire November 2025. 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 7 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
Appointments to Boards and Commissions 
 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 
  to approve the following appointments to Boards and Commissions as  
  follows: 
 
 Appointments: 

Beautification Commission 

 Florence Oten, 45 Orchard Street, term to expire December 2025 
 

Public Building Commission 
 
 Stephen Roczynski, 39 Fowler Lane, term to expire Dec 2028 

 
Reappointment: 
 
Board of Assessment Appeals 
 
 Matthew Lauf, 26 Driver Road, term to expire Dec 2026 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
Refund of Taxes 
 
MOTION By Harry Amadasun 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 

to approve a total refund of taxes in the amount of $15,934.19 pursuant to 
Section 12-129 of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 8 

Bill Name/ Check Payable to: Address City/State/Zip Prop Loc/Vehicle Info. Int Paid Over Paid

2021-04-0080062 ACOSTA MARTINEZ MARTA R 40 COLUMBUS ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-1709 2020/5NPD84LF6LH546245 0 -270.87

2021-03-0050819 ALFONSO ELITA 460 TALL TIMBERS RD GLASTONBURY, CT 06033 2021/JF2SKAFCXMH507815 -18.95 -315.84

2022-03-0065814 ARKISON PAUL W 5423 HANOVER SQ DR ST CLOUD, FL 34771 2015/5TFUX4EN5FX032919 0 -166.14

2022-03-0052168 AUDET MARIE G 34 SHAWNEE RD EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-2555 1989/1GCDC14K1KE120521 0 -67.78

2022-03-0053621 BIMONTE WILLIAM P 179 SANDRA DR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-1956 2014/1C4NJDEB8ED528597 0 -191.76

2022-03-0054526 BROWN BARBARA A 229 WOODLAWN CIR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-2801 2017/KMHD74LF0HU384835 0 -9.70

2019-03-0055084 BUSSIERE JOSEPH M 73 MIDLAND RD COVENTRY, CT 06238-2724 2012/1VWAP7A33CC063112 0 -207.00

2020-03-0054854 BUSSIERE JOSEPH M 73 MIDLAND RD COVENTRY, CT 06238-2724 2012/1VWAP7A33CC063112 -27.09 -200.70

2022-03-0056382 CHAPMAN CRYSTAL D 157 SISSON ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-1539 2022/2T3A1RFV9NC270857 0 -7.65

2021-04-0081343 CLIFFORD JAMES A 139 COUNTRY LN EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-3511 2016/4T3BK3BB6GU124041 0 -57.00

2022-01-0003624 DAMBOISE MILDRED G 4 COLONIAL PARK RD EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118 4 COLONIAL PARK RD 0 -151.17

2021-03-0061380 ESPINAR WENDY L 75 DANIEL TRCE BURLINGTON, CT 06013 2021/1C6SRFLT0MN515104 0 -112.29

2018-03-0061799 FALVEY LINEN SUPPLY  INC. 50 BURNHAM AVE CRANSTON, RI 02910 2011/5PVNJ8JT8B4S53136 0 -809.01

2022-03-0055100 FORD CREDIT PER. PROP. TAX PO BOX 67000 DEPT 231601 DETROIT, MI 48267-2316 2019/3FA6P0HD2KR227809 0 -282.92

2022-01-0000435 FERNANDEZ STACEY 171 GRANDE RD EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108 182 COLBY DR 0 -2,686.88

2022-03-0066738 HOANG JOHN N 15 SAINT JOHN ST MANCHESTER, CT 06040-3911 2021/4S4BTANC0M3165023 0 -434.32

2022-03-0067102 HONDA LEASE TRUST 11675 GREAT OAKS WAY SUITE 200 ALPHARETTA, GA 30022 2020/3HGGK5H84LM724499 0 -257.91

2022-04-0083378 JENKINS OLIVIA R 26 SUFFOLK DR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-2652 2005/2T1KR32E45C364671 0 -64.53

2022-02-0040907 KIA OF EAST HARTFORD 99 ASH ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108 99 ASH ST 0 -5,991.76

2021-01-0008260 LINLAR INC 21 HIGH ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118 31 HIGH ST 4108 0 -1,458.84

2022-03-0071378 LUCAR MARIN KEVIN G 56 LANDERS RD EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-3318 2011/JA32W8FV0BU008313 0 -125.40

2021-03-0070893 MAHONEY KELLY A 163 SCHOOL ST APT E2-9 EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-1842 2018/1FADP3F22JL280601 0 -6.51

2019-03-0073246 MCDERMOTT SANDRA A 58 OCONNELL DR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118 2007/KMHCN46C27U108674 0 -19.76

2022-03-0075324 MINH NGUYET LE 6 OVERBROOK DR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-3142 2018/1HGCV2F99JA027663 0 -15.17

2021-04-0084560 MONRO INC 200 HOLLEDER PKWY ROCHESTER, NY 14615 2016/1FM5K8GT7GGC55207 0 -9.55

2022-03-0075674 NISSAN INFINITI LT LLC P O BOX 254648 SACRAMENTO, CA 95865 2020/1N4BL4BW5LC254840 0 -236.60

2022-03-0078013 PETROLITO PHYLLIS M 131 COUNTRY LN EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-3511 2009/4T4BE46K59R054203 0 -5.37

2022-01-0011286 PIEROG WALTER 399 FORBES ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108 399 FORBES ST 0 -900.00

2022-03-0078613 PRESSAMARITA ANNE M 35 ALEXANDER DR EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-3002 2006/JYAVP11E16A087715 0 -5.45

2022-03-0079170 RAMOS THOMAS 25 GOODWIN PL EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-3711 2011/WBAPH7G51BNN04626 0 -10.71

2022-03-0081320 ROSA ROBERT F JR 1882 MAIN ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-1023 1996/1FALP45X3TF218284 -2.00 -16.23

2022-03-0081321 ROSA ROBERT F JR 1882 MAIN ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-1023 2013/SALVP2BG0DH811594 -15.44 -343.10

2022-03-0081322 ROSA ROBERT F JR 1882 MAIN ST EAST HARTFORD, CT 06108-1023 2007/5N3AA08C87N804935 -7.29 -161.98

2022-02-0041754 TRELEVEN KIMBERLY 775 SILVER LABE B10 EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118 775 SILVER LANE B10 -7.98 -106.35

2022-02-0041769 TRELEVEN KIMBERLY 775 SILVER LANE B10 EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118 775 SILVER LANE B10 -9.97 -132.94

2021-03-0087281 WILLIAMS MAXINE C 768 SILVER LN EAST HARTFORD, CT 06118-1230 2009/JN8AZ18W09W142369 0 -6.28

SUBTOTAL     -$88.72 -$15,845.47

TOTAL -$15,934.19  
 
Reallocation of ARPA Funds re: Additional Town Hall Improvements 
 
MOTION By Don Bell 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 
  to adopt the following resolution 
 
 

WHEREAS; the Town has been awarded $24,561,068 in American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA) funds from the U.S. Treasury; and 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 9 

 
WHEREAS; in order to most effectively use these funds, the authorization of new 
projects is periodically necessary;   
 
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED; that Connor S. Martin, Mayor of the 
Town of East Hartford, is authorized to add the following to the approved list of 
ARPA Projects: 
 
1. “Additional Town Hall Improvements;” which consist of the following: 

 
 Rekeying Lock System 
 Panic Alarm System  
 Vault Door Repair & Replacements  
 Furniture and Window Treatment Upgrades   
 Painting of Doors, Frames, & Trim  
 Employee Lounge & Bathroom Improvements 
 Commemorative Project Building Plaque 
 Cupola Repairs  
 Additional Carpeting & Flooring Upgrades  
 Directional Signage Improvements  
 Contingency for costs related to the transition from CCC to Town Hall 

 
AND LET IT BE FURTHER RESOLVED; that Connor S. Martin, Mayor of the 
Town of East Hartford, is authorized to make the following transfers among ARPA 
Accounts: 
 
1. Transfer $222,228.67 from “Small Business Support and Resources – 

Qualified Census Tracts” to “ARPA Unallocated Balance” 
 
2. Transfer $100,508.25 from “Small Business Support and Resources – 

Non-QCT” to “ARPA Unallocated Balance” 
 
3. Transfer $27,263.08 from “Goodwin U Storm Water Management Repair 

and Replace” to “ARPA Unallocated Balance” 
 
4. Transfer $350,000.00 from “ARPA Unallocated Balance” to “Additional 

Town Hall Improvements” 
 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR COUNCILLORS TO DIRECT QUESTIONS TO THE 
ADMINISTRATION  
 
Councillor Simpson recently toured Town Hall with other members of the Council and is 
encouraged by the progress and improvements.  The Mayor shared that there is currently 
discussion for hosting an “open house” for residents of the building once Town Hall 
reopens to the public. 
 
Councillor Parkinson recommended that as part of the Main Street revitalization effort 
additional consideration for improved bus shelters and more greenery be considered, 
particularly in the area near Pratt and Whitney.  The Mayor stated that at a recent meeting 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 10 

with the Department of Transportation, as part of the Greater Hartford Mobility Study 
plans are in place to upgrade a number of Main Street bus shelters.  
 
Chair Kehoe informed the Mayor that he and fellow Councillor Bell received a notice of an 
increase in their house assessment values in a non-revaluation year.  The Chair 
recommended that the Town provide an explanation be included with the notice to 
residents.  Director McCaw stated that she will follow up with the Assessor’s office and 
report back to the Council. 
 
 
COUNCIL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTERS 
 
The pending summary process eviction action known as TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD v. 
BROTHER'S APPLIANCE, LLC, HFH-CV23-6027036-S involving the real property 
located at 842-844 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.   
 
MOTION By Don Bell 
  seconded by Tom Rup 
 
  to adopt the following resolution 
 

WHEREAS, On March 1, 2023, the Town of East Hartford became record owner 
of the real property located at 794 – 810 Silver Lane, East Hartford and 818 – 850 
Silver Lane, East Hartford (hereinafter collectively “Silver Lane Plaza”); 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the Silver Lane Plaza, at the time of acquisition, were 
occupied by various business entities; 
 
WHEREAS, this Council desires to accept the recommendation of Corporation 
Counsel to fully and finally settle the pending summary process eviction action 
known as TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD v. BROTHER'S APPLIANCE, LLC, HFH-
CV23-6027036-S involving the real property located at 842-844 Silver Lane, East 
Hartford, CT.   
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the East Hartford Town Council does 
hereby approve the following items: 
1. Notwithstanding the requirements of Town Ordinance 10-19, this Council 
acting as a committee of the whole for the Fees Committee authorizes the Town to 
enter into an agreement with Brother's Appliances, LLC for relocation benefits, 
settlement and release of claims, and occupancy regarding a portion of the Silver 
Lane Plaza; provided such agreement shall be in a form reviewed and approved 
by the Office of Corporation Counsel; 
2. This Council waives the requirement of rent for Brother’s Appliances, LLC 
through February 15, 2024, for the condition that Brother’s Appliances, LLC will 
totally vacate the Premises located at 842-844 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT by 
or before February 15, 2024;  
3. The Town, in consideration for the release by Brother’s Appliances, LLC of 
all past, present and future claims regarding the real property located at 842-844 
Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT and in full and final settlement for such claim, will 
pay Brother’s Appliances LLC the sum of twelve thousand dollars and zero cents 
($12,000.00); and  



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 11 

4. That Mayor, Connor S. Martin, is hereby authorized to make, execute and 
deliver all settlement agreements, additional and supplemental documents, and to 
do and perform such acts and to take such actions as may be necessary or 
required for the consummation of the transactions provided for and contemplated 
by this Resolution. 

 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
 
The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by Victoria T. Popik d/b/a 
CK Nails regarding 836 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.  
 
MOTION By Don Bell 
  seconded by Travis Simpson 
 
  to adopt the following resolution 
 

WHEREAS, On March 1, 2023, the Town of East Hartford became record owner 
of the real property located at 794 – 810 Silver Lane, East Hartford and 818 – 850 
Silver Lane, East Hartford (hereinafter collectively “Silver Lane Plaza”); 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the Silver Lane Plaza, at the time of acquisition, were 
occupied by various business entities; 
 
WHEREAS, this Council desires to accept the recommendation of Corporation 
Counsel to fully and finally settle the pending notice to quit against and claim for 
relocation costs by Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK Nails regarding 836 Silver Lane, 
East Hartford, CT.  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the East Hartford Town Council does 
hereby approve the following items: 
1. Notwithstanding the requirements of Town Ordinance 10-19, this Council 
acting as a committee of the whole for the Fees Committee authorizes the Town to 
enter into an agreement with Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK Nails for relocation 
benefits, settlement and release of claims, and occupancy regarding a portion of 
the Silver Lane Plaza; provided such agreement shall be in a form reviewed and 
approved by the Office of Corporation Counsel; 
2. This Council waives the requirement of rent for Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK 
Nails through March 1, 2024, for the condition that Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK Nails 
will totally vacate the Premises located at 836 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT by or 
before March 1, 2024;  
3. The Town, in consideration of the release by Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK 
Nails of all past, present and future claims regarding the real property located at 
836 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT and in full and final settlement for such claim, 
will pay Victoria T. Popik d/b/a CK Nails the sum of twenty thousand dollars 
($20,000.00); and  
4. That Mayor, Connor S. Martin, is hereby authorized to make, execute and 
deliver all settlement agreements, additional and supplemental documents, and to 
do and perform such acts and to take such actions as may be necessary or 
required for the consummation of the transactions provided for and contemplated 
by this Resolution. 

 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 12 

  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
The pending notice to quit against and claim for relocation costs by Bare Bones Boxing 
EH, LLC involving the real property located at 826 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.    
 
MOTION By Don Bell 
  seconded by John Morrison 
 
  to adopt the following resolution 
 

WHEREAS, On March 1, 2023, the Town of East Hartford became record owner 
of the real property located at 794 – 810 Silver Lane, East Hartford and 818 – 850 
Silver Lane, East Hartford (hereinafter collectively “Silver Lane Plaza”); 
 
WHEREAS, portions of the Silver Lane Plaza, at the time of acquisition, were 
occupied by various business entities; 
 
WHEREAS, this Council desires to accept the recommendation of Corporation 
Counsel to fully and finally settle the pending notice to quit against and claim for 
relocation costs by Bare Bones Boxing EH, LLC involving the real property located 
at 826 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT.    
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the East Hartford Town Council does 
hereby approve the following items: 
1. Notwithstanding the requirements of Town Ordinance 10-19, this Council 
acting as a committee of the whole for the Fees Committee authorizes the Town to 
enter into an agreement with Bare Bones Boxing EH, LLC for relocation benefits, 
settlement and release of claims, and occupancy regarding a portion of the Silver 
Lane Plaza; provided such agreement shall be in a form reviewed and approved 
by the Office of Corporation Counsel; 
2. That Bare Bones Boxing EH, LLC has vacated the real property located at 
826 Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT and this Council waives any claim for rents 
due;  
3. The Town, in consideration of the release by Bare Bones Boxing EH, LLC 
of all past, present and future claims regarding the real property located at 826 
Silver Lane, East Hartford, CT and in full and final settlement for such claim, will 
pay Bare Bones Boxing EH, LLC the sum of thirty-six thousand dollars and zero 
cents ($36,000.00); and  
4. That Mayor, Connor S. Martin, is hereby authorized to make, execute and 
deliver all settlement agreements, additional and supplemental documents, and to 
do and perform such acts and to take such actions as may be necessary or 
required for the consummation of the transactions provided for and contemplated 
by this Resolution. 

 
  On call of the vote, the motion carried 9/0 
 
The pending Law Enforcement Liability Claim known as JERMAINE FELICIANO  V. 
EAST HARTFORD, No. 3:20-cv-01932(OAW). 
 
MOTION By Don Bell 
  seconded by John Morrison 
 



 
February 6, 2024  Volume 93 13 

to accept the recommendation of Corporation Counsel to fully and finally 
settle the pending Federal Court action known as Jermaine Feliciano v. 
East Hartford, No. 3:20-cv-01932(OAW), for a total sum of $250,000.00. 

 
  Motion carried 9/0 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR RESIDENTS TO SPEAK 
 
Bridgitte Prince, 41 Bodwell Road 

 welcomed Ms. Baum to the Town staff 
 proposed further engagement with UConn and Coca Cola for involvement in the 

Port Eastside project 
 supports the development of single family housing in East Hartford such as the 

Habitat for Humanity project on Burnside Avenue 
 

Gary Roy, 61 Matthew Road 
 noted that road tires have been improperly disposed of at local businesses in 

Town 
 supports the gate that has been installed to restrict access to Martin Park at 

sunset and proposed signage to inform residents of when Martin Park is open and 
closed. 

 voiced safety concerns regarding the parking lots along the Hockanum Trail that 
lack lighting. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
MOTION By John Morrison 
  seconded by Don Bell 
 
  to adjourn (9:00 pm)      
 
  Motion carried 9/0          
 
The Chair wished all a good evening and announced that the next meeting of the Town 
Council will be held on Tuesday February 20th. 
 
     Attest  ___________________________________ 
           Jason Marshall 
                               TOWN COUNCIL CLERK 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

 

DATE:                  February 14, 2024 

TO:                      Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:                Connor S. Martin, Mayor 

RE:                      PRESENTATION: Long-Term Obligations 

 

Please allocate time on the February 20, 2024, town council meeting for a serious of presentations regarding 
the town’s long-term obligations.   
 
Please place this information on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024 meeting.  
 
C: M. McCaw, Finance Director 

  

 

 



Town of East Hartford Pension Plan
July 1, 2023 Valuation Results for Town Council Meeting
(used to develop Contribution for Fiscal Year Ending June 2025)
February 20, 2024

Henry Nearing, FCA, MAAA, EA

9877389
© 2024 by The Segal Group, Inc. 



1

Glossary
General Cost of a Pension Plan
Plan Population
Annual Benefit Payments
Plan Assets
Determination of Actuarial Value of Assets
Funded Status
Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)
Change in ADC
ADC by Employee Type
Town Contributions
Assumptions, Provisions, and Methodologies

│Agenda



2

Glossary of Pension Terms
• Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) – For active participants, the equivalent of the accumulated normal costs allocated to the 

years before the valuation date. For annuitants, the single-sum value of lifetime benefits, taking into account life expectancies 
appropriate to the ages of the annuitants and the interest that the sum is expected to earn before it is entirely paid out in 
benefits.

• Actuarial Value of Assets (AVA) – The value of the Fund’s assets as of a given date, used be the actuary for valuation 
purposes. This value is smoothed over 5 years in order to reduce the year-to-year volatility of calculated results, such as the 
funded ratio and the ADC.

• Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) – The excess of the Actuarial Accrued Liability over the Actuarial Value of 
Assets.

• Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) – The employer’s periodic contribution, expressed as a dollar amount or a 
percentage of covered plan compensation, determined under the Plan’s funding policy. The ADC consists of the Employer 
Normal Cost and the Amortization Payment.

• Employer Normal Cost – Equal to the Total Normal Cost, plus assumed administrative expenses, less expected member 
contributions. The Normal Cost is the portion of the Actuarial Present Value of pension plan benefits and expenses allocated 
to the valuation year.

• Amortization Payment – The portion of the ADC that is designed to pay interest on and to amortize the Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability (20 years remaining as of July 1, 2023)

• Amortization Method – A method for determining the Amortization Payment. East Hartford uses the Level Percentage of Pay 
method where the Amortization Payment is one of a stream of increasing payments that increase at 3.25% annually.



3

Assets

Employer
Contributions

Employee/Retiree
Contributions

Investment
Earnings

Benefit
Payments to 
Participants

Expenses

Ultimate Cost of Retirement Plan

ULTIMATE TOTAL COST =
Benefits Paid + Expenses – Employee/Retiree Contributions – Investment Income



4

Participant Data

Actuarial
Valuation

How are the Annual Plan Costs Determined?
Actuarial Cost Method

Actuarial Assumptions

Financial Data

Funding and 
Accounting Metrics

Plan Provisions



5

Plan Population

620 579 549 524 504 449 428 393 356 337

650 670 682 689 684 717 725 758 780 802

23 29 27 27 30 31 33 36 43 39

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Terminated Vested Members
Pay Status Members
Active Participants

• The Plan was closed to new General employee and BOE entrants on July 1, 2006.    
• The Plan was closed to Paraprofessional employees on July 1, 2015.
• The Plan is still open to Police, Fire and Dispatchers employees.
• The population of retirees and beneficiaries has generally grown over time.
• The terminated vested population has slowly grown over time, but overall counts remain low.
• As of July 1, 2023, there are 65 terminated non-vested former employees due a refund of employee money.
• The overall population has generally decreased over time. 



6

Plan Population by Group
General 

(Town & BOE) Paras Fire Police Dispatch
July 1, 2022 Counts 482 127 276 267 27
Additions to the plan (e.g. 
new hires, alternate 
payees, etc.)

2 0 7 10 3

Left the plan (e.g. death, 
lump sum, etc.) 10 1 4 6 2

July 1, 2023 Counts 474 126 279 271 28

• Because the Town & BOE and Paraprofessional groups are closed to new hires, membership in these groups continues to 
decline.

• Membership in the Fire, Police, and Dispatch groups has remained relatively stable over time.



7

Annual Benefit Payments – Closed Group

• Peak benefit payments of $48,000,000 are expected to occur in the year ending June 30, 2048.

0

10,000,000

20,000,000

30,000,000

40,000,000

50,000,000

60,000,000

2024 2034 2044 2054 2064 2074 2084 2094 2104 2114 2124



8

Plan Asset Values as of July 1

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Market Value $214 $209 $202 $218 $226 $226 $210 $255 $220 $229
Actuarial Value $208 $213 $219 $228 $235 $236 $233 $239 $241 $241

$150

$170

$190

$210

$230

$250

$ 
M

illi
on

s

Actuarial Value of Assets is based on a 5-year average of the Market Value

As of June 30, 2023, there are $11.7M in investment losses to be reflected 
in future years with a $2.5M gain caused by 2022/2023 plan year



9

Plan Assets – Investment Return

-15.00%

-10.00%

-5.00%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
AVA Return 10.91% 5.38% 5.25% 6.65% 5.82% 3.81% 3.29% 8.05% 4.77% 3.95%
MVA Return 15.55% 0.14% -0.94% 10.60% 7.20% 3.16% -2.13% 27.72% -10.35% 8.65%
Prior Assumed Return 8.00% 8.00% 8.00% 7.90% 7.65% 7.60% 7.55% 7.50% 7.25% 7.20%
Difference (MVA - assumed) 7.55% -7.86% -8.94% 2.70% -0.45% -4.44% -9.68% 20.22% -17.60% 1.45%

Returns on the AVA generally below the assumption, demonstrating that the assumed return should be lowered



10

Determination of Actuarial Value of Assets
for Year Ended June 30, 2023

1. Market value of assets , June 30, 2023 $228,963,958 

2. Calculation of unrecognized return
Actual AVA 

Returns
Actual MVA 

Returns
Initial 

Gain/(Loss)1
Percent 

Deferred2
Unrecognized 

Amount3

(a) Year ended June 30, 2023 3.95% 8.65% $3,109,909 80% $2,487,927 

(b) Year ended June 30, 2022 4.77% -10.35% (44,061,969) 60% (26,437,182)

(c) Year ended June 30, 2021 8.05% 27.72% 41,351,663 40% 16,540,666 

(d) Year ended June 30, 2020 3.29% -2.13% (21,349,837) 20% (4,269,967)

(e) Year ended June 30, 2019 3.81% 3.16% (9,876,170) 0% 0

(f) Total unrecognized return ($11,678,556)

3.  Actuarial value of assets as of June 30, 2023: (1) – (2f) $240,642,514 

4.  Expected return on actuarial value of assets: $16,988,866 

5.  Actual return on actuarial value of assets: $9,314,917 

6.  Investment gain/(loss): (5) - (4) ($7,673,949)

7.  Change in ADC due to investment gain/(loss):
     (6) / Amortization Factor4 x 1.0325

$553,000

1 Total return minus expected return on a market value basis
2 Percent deferred applies to the current  valuation year
3 Recognition at 20% per year over five years
4 Based on discount rate of 7.20%



11

Funded Status

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
6.00%

6.50%

7.00%

7.50%

8.00%

8.50%

• Funded status each July 1 is the actuarial value of assets (AVA) divided by the actuarial accrued liability (AAL). 
• Assumed rate of return affects the AAL and actuarially determined contribution for the following fiscal year.
• Funded level of the plan assuming a 7% interest rate would be 45%

Funded % 59% 58% 57% 55% 54% 52% 50% 48% 47% 46%

Future Assumed Return 
(Interest Rate) 8.00% 8.00% 7.90% 7.65% 7.60% 7.55% 7.50% 7.25% 7.25% 7.20%

Interest Rate



12

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)
FYE 2024 ADC
July 1, 2022 Val
7.20% Interest

FYE 2025 ADC
July 1, 2023 Val
7.20% Interest

FYE 2025 ADC 
July 1, 2023 Val
7.10% Interest

FYE 2025 ADC 
July 1, 2023 Val
7.00% Interest

1) Net Employer Normal Cost $3,560,000 $3,460,000 $3,600,000 $3,750,000
2) Actuarial Accrued Liability $516,180,000 $528,770,000 $534,330,000 $539,990,000
3) Market Value of Assets
(Funded %)

$219,630,000
(43%)

$228,960,000 
(43%)

$228,960,000 
(43%)

$228,960,000 
(42%)

4) Actuarial Value of Assets
(Funded %)

$240,590,000
(47%)

$240,640,000
(46%)

$240,640,000
(45%)

$240,640,000
(45%)

5) Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 
(UAAL): (2) – (4) $275,590,000 $288,120,000 $293,680,000 $299,340,000

6) Amortization of UAAL* $18,620,000 $20,110,000 $20,340,000 $20,570,000
7) ADC:  (1) + (6) (adjusted for timing) $22,900,000 $24,340,000 $24,720,000 $25,100,000
* assumes 3.25% increase in amortization payment

All July 1, 2023 scenarios shown reflect the following assumption change and plan change since the July 1, 2022 valuation:
- The male mortality tables were projected an additional year
- Lowering COLA from 2.0% to 1.5% for Town employees retiring after July 2025

The investment return for the plan year ending June 30, 2023 on a market value basis was 8.65% and 3.95% on 
an actuarial basis, which results in an AVA loss of $7.7M.



13

Change in Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)

ADC for Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024 $22,901,528
Expected Amortization Increase (based on 3.25% payroll growth)1 625,000
Change Due to Demographic Experience2 192,000
Change Due to Recognition of Investment Loss3 553,000
Change Due to Assumptions (summarized on page 12) 100,000
Change due to COLA plan change (40,000)
Other Plan Actuarial Experience 3,472
Total Increase 1,433,472
ADC for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2025 $24,335,000

1 Final year expected amortization increase is $1.24 million compared to $0.62 million for current year.
2 Includes gains and losses due to mortality, pay, turnover, and retirement different than expected (about 0.5% 
of liability/assumptions were 99.5% accurate).
3 See page 10 for details.

Decreasing discount rate from 7.20% to 7.00% would increase the ADC an additional $0.8 million.



14

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) by 
Employee Type

Employee Type
Fiscal Year 
Beginning General Police Fire Para Dispatchers Total

ADC at 7.20% July 1, 2023 $6.1M $8.0M $8.2M $0.4M $0.2M $22.9M

ADC at 7.20% July 1, 2024 $6.4M $8.4M $8.8M $0.4M $0.3M $24.3M

ADC at 7.10% July 1, 2024 $6.4M $8.6M $9.0M $0.4M $0.3M $24.7M

ADC at 7.00% July 1, 2024 $6.5M $8.7M $9.2M $0.4M $0.3M $25.1M



15

Town Contributions

Year Ended June 30,
Actuarially 
Determined Actual

2020 $16,416,732 $16,414,737
2021 $17,508,860 $17,508,860
2022 $18,964,310 $18,964,310
2023 $21,464,439 $21,464,439 
2024 $22,901,528 TBD
2025 $24,335,000 TBD

• Town contribution for year ended June 30, 2025 is based on an Assumed Rate of Return of 7.20% and 
amortization increase of 3.25%

• The portion of the contribution attributable to the Paraprofessionals group is $420,000



16

Assumptions, Provisions, and Methodologies
Preliminary ADC results are based on updated June 30, 2023 data. The plan provisions, assumptions, and methodologies used are the same as those noted in the July 1, 
2022 valuation report (dated April 19, 2023), except as noted on page 12.

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements due to such factors as the following: experience that deviates from the assumptions, 
changes in assumptions, increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these measurements (such as the end of an 
amortization period or additional contribution requirements based on the plan’s funded status) and changes in plan provisions or applicable law.
Segal valuation results are based on proprietary actuarial modeling software. The actuarial valuation models generate a comprehensive set of liability and cost calculations 
that are presented to meet regulatory, legislative and client requirements. Our Actuarial Technology and Systems unit, comprised of both actuaries and programmers, is 
responsible for the initial development and maintenance of these models. The models have a modular structure that allows for a high degree of accuracy, flexibility and user 
control. The client team programs the assumptions and the plan provisions, validates the models, and reviews test lives and results, under the supervision of the responsible 
actuary.
The projected costs contained in this presentation are intended to illustrate possible future events for your plans. They are based on various assumptions as to future events, 
and may not be appropriate for purposes other than those stated. Other assumptions could generate different results. Actual amounts will deviate from projected values to 
the extent the actual experience differs from the assumptions used in the projections. Estimates shown in the projections should be considered as point estimates within a 
wide range of results. A more detailed risk assessment should be performed. We are prepared to work with the Town to model additional scenarios.

The actuarial calculations were directed under Henry Nearing’s supervision. He is a member of the American Academy of Actuaries and meets the Qualification Standards of 
the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion herein. To the best of his knowledge, the information supplied in this presentation is complete and 
accurate. Further, in his opinion, the assumptions (other than the expected return on assets) as approved by the Town are reasonably related to the experience of and the 
expectations for the Plan. In addition, in his opinion, the combined effect of these assumptions is expected to have no significant bias. 



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.

John O’Connor

President

Benjamin M. Lavine, CFA, CAIA, RICP

Chief Investment Strategist

Freedom Investment Management, Inc.

Fiscal 2024 Pension & OPEB Equity 
Account Review
2/20/2024



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
2

2/20/2024

Freedom Investment Management, Inc. (“Freedom”) is an investment advisory firm registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All 

material presented was compiled from sources believed to be reliable and current, however the accuracy cannot be guaranteed. This material is 

intended for educational purposes and does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to purchase interests in any investment 

vehicles or securities. For information about Freedom, please read the firm’s Form ADV Part 2 before investing. A copy may be requested by calling 

860.291.1998. Any information in this presentation should not be copied, reproduced, duplicated or transmitted without prior written consent of 

Freedom. 

This presentation includes historical index performance. Investors cannot invest directly in an index. Indexes have no fees. Historical performance 

does not reflect trading in actual accounts and does not take into account transaction costs or other expenses associated with the management of 

actual portfolios. Actual performance of client accounts may also differ from the model allocations shown due to timing of cash flows in and out of a 

client’s account. Performance figures assume reinvestment of dividends and capital gains with annual portfolio rebalancing. 

The information in this presentation is provided solely as background information and these materials should not be copied, reproduced, duplicated, 

or transmitted without prior written consent of Freedom Investment Management, Inc. 

Freedom Disclosures



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
3

 Founded as 3D Asset Management in 2006 and headquartered in Hartford, 

CT. 3D is now registered as Freedom Investment Management following 

acquisition by Freedom Advisors, the parent company of Freedom Investment.

 AUM/AUA: $2.4 billion (as of 12/31/23), overseeing $190 million in municipal 

plan program assets.

 Freedom Advisors provides Turnkey Asset Management Program services to 

independent financial advisors and broker/dealers.  

 Freedom Investment provides fiduciary services for retirement plan sponsors 

and pension plan programs as well as managed model investment solutions.

Background



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
4

 In 2023, the S&P 500 returned +26.3%, following a -18.1% return in 2022.

 Starting valuations should matter: the price that you pay today is what can 

largely determine what you earn over the long run.

 On 6/30/2013, the forward price/earnings (P/E) multiple of the S&P 500 was 

13.8x, which translates into an inflation-adjusted earnings yield of 7.3%. Add 

2% inflation, this comes out to a 9.3% nominal annualized return forecast.

 For the 10 years ending 6/30/2023, the S&P 500 Index returned an annualized 

13.5% (nominal terms).

 Not withstanding 2022’s downturn, today’s market returns continue to enjoy 

tailwinds of lower valuations from 10 years ago. 

Equity Outlook: Cautious on Valuation



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
5

Enjoying the Tailwinds from 10 Years Ago



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
6

 Over the past 140 years*, the S&P 500 P/E averaged 15x, which corresponds to 

a 6.7% real rate of return on stocks.  This is roughly the rate of return realized 

over this period.* 

 At year-end 2023, the S&P 500 traded at 19.7x Forward P/E, which 

corresponds to a 5.1% real rate of return on stocks (7.3% with 2.2% inflation). 

 At year-end 2023, the Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Index yielded 4.5%. 

 A 65% / 35% U.S. Equity / Bond allocation implies a long-run nominal expected 

rate of return 6.3%.

 To arrive at a nominal 7% expected return, the S&P would need to trade at 14x 

P/E and the investment grade bond market yielding 3.0%.

The Base Case for Longer-Term Expectations

* Source: Siegel, Jeremy J., Univ of Pennsylvania (Wharton), “Stocks, Bonds and Future Returns”, 2/1/2018 citing S&P Global Research (1/18/2018)



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
7

2023: A Narrow Market Dominated by Tech



8
Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.

Fiscal Year Review

Pension Plan Performance and Portfolio Update



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
9

Asset Allocation (12/31/2023)



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
10

Fiscal Year 2023 Performance 

Name

Group 

Inception

Beginning 

Market Value

Ending Market 

Value Period

Rolling 1-

Year

Rolling 3-

Year

Rolling 5-

Year

Rolling 10-

Year Inception

CASH-Pen Trust 2008-11-11 356,872 2,003,544 0.47 0.47 0.17 0.33 0.19 0.17

INVESTMENT-Pen Trust 2008-11-03 133,320,734 141,014,343 13.93 13.93 12.30 5.21 7.35 10.18

MSCI ACWI (TR Net) 2008-11-11 16.53 16.53 11.00 8.10 8.76 9.64

Bloomberg 1-3 Month T-Bill 2008-11-03 3.72 3.72 1.31 1.54 0.96 0.69

OPEB-Pen Trust 2009-06-22 8,684,844 8,609,884 12.73 12.73 11.48 4.79 7.15 10.00

MSCI ACWI (TR Net) 2009-06-22 16.53 16.53 11.00 8.10 8.76 9.93

The performance returns stated above are gross of fees through 6/30/2023.



Please see Important Information at the end of the presentation.

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution.
11

CY 2023 Performance 

Name

Group 

Inception

Beginning 

Market Value

Ending Market 

Value Period

Rolling 1-

Year

Rolling 3-

Year

Rolling 5-

Year

Rolling 10-

Year Inception

CASH-Pen Trust 2008-11-11 356,872 5,652,935 1.63 2.28 0.82 0.65 0.39 0.29

INVESTMENT-Pen Trust 2008-11-03 133,320,734 154,571,638 14.39 16.66 7.65 9.16 6.55 10.35

MSCI ACWI (TR Net) 2008-11-11 15.99 22.20 5.75 11.72 7.93 10.25

Bloomberg 1-3 Month T-Bill 2008-11-03 4.32 5.14 2.21 1.87 1.23 0.84

OPEB-Pen Trust 2009-06-22 8,684,844 9,728,009 13.53 16.32 7.15 8.70 6.54 10.17

MSCI ACWI (TR Net) 2009-06-22 15.99 22.20 5.75 11.72 7.93 10.10

The performance returns stated above are gross of fees through 12/31/2023.



1-800-949-9936 freedomadvisors.com

For financial professional and institutional investor use only. Not for distribution. 12



Helping Clients Prosper

Town Council Meeting

East Hartford
February 2024



Table of Contents

Section 1  Firm and Market Update

Section 2  Fixed Income Investment Review

Section 3  Asset Allocation Summary Analysis

2



Firm and Market 
Update

3



www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Public Pension Experience
Serve 60+ public pension plans with 

more than$10 billion 
in assets.

33% Investment Consultants
38% Research & Analytics

18% Operations & Compliance
11% Client Service

Endowments & 
Foundations

Private Clients

Business Lines

Defined Contribution
Defined Benefit

Financial Institutions

200+ Associates

Associate Ownership

37 Partners
>16% of firm Associates 

have ownership

Assets Under Advisement

As of June 30, 2023, percentages are approximate. There may be overlap in responsibilities of some research professionals. 

Fiducient Advisors at a Glance

$280+ billion

4



www.FiducientAdvisors.com

As of January 1, 2023. The CT public fund clients listed have granted written permission to Fiducient Advisors to include their names. It is not known whether clients listed approve or 
disapprove of Fiducient Advisors’ advisory services provided. References provided upon request.

Torrington

Granby

Avon

Canton

Farmington

Thomaston

South Windsor
Simsbury

Bloomfield

Plainfield

East Hartford

Manchester

Portland

Ledyard

East Hampton

New Fairfield

StamfordGreenwich

Stonington

Southbury 

Woodbridge

Orange

Newtown

Lyme

West Hartford

Ansonia

Wethersfield
Glastonbury

Regional School 
District #5

Wallingford

New Britain

Weston Monroe

Naugatuck

Guilford

Waterbury Meriden

Redding

Regional School 
District #15

Waterford

Bristol

Clinton

Stafford

Darien

East Lyme

Westport

CT Public Funds We Serve

5



Public Fund Industry Experience

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Significant and Longstanding Presence Providing Advice to Public Funds

Active in numerous organizations dedicated to educating and assisting fiduciaries and 
decision makers

• CPPF Webinar on POB’s and COVID Implications
• Opal Financial Group's Annual Public Funds Summit East
• Pennsylvania Assoc. of Public Employee Retirement Systems Fall Workshop
• New England States GFOA Training Seminar
• Southern California CAIA Conference

Frequent speakers at national and local conferences on investing and fiduciary 
oversight for public pensions

• Assist municipalities with the establishment of and the appropriate 
investment of  proceeds from pension obligation bonds (POBs)

• Develop investment strategies for municipalities with reserve pools
• Assist municipalities in the creation of asset allocation strategies and 

portfolio design for newly established Other Post Retirement Benefits 
(OPEB) Trusts

Strive to look beyond the merely routine issues associated with public retirement systems

• Connecticut Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) 
• Connecticut Council of Small Towns (COST)
• Connecticut Public Pension Forum (CPPF) – founding member
• Mass Association of Contributory Retirement Systems (MACRS)
• Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of Pennsylvania
• Pennsylvania Association of Public Employee Retirement Systems (PAPERS)

6



Fixed Income 
Investment Review

7



Pension Allocation Review

Source: Schwab Institutional; all values as of 12/31/2023

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Investment Manager/Fund Mandate
Market 
Value 

($)

Asset 
Allocation

(%)

Target 
Allocation 

(%)
Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst Index $19,261,228 22.2% 22.5%
Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares Multi-Sector $23,702,293 27.3% 27.5%
Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I Amortizing Asset Focused $8,520,281 9.8% 10.0%
Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N Credit Focused $8,817,040 10.1% 10.0%
BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund Unconstrained/Flexible $20,057,969 23.1% 22.5%
BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS Global $6,574,225 7.6% 7.5%
Fixed Income Total $86,933,036 100.0% 100.0%

8


Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$19,261,228		22.2%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$23,702,293		27.3%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,520,281		9.8%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,817,040		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$20,057,969		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$6,574,225		7.6%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$86,933,036		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$14,871		0.3%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$1,739,073		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$1,714,842		34.7%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,229,064		24.9%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$242,482		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$4,940,332		100.0%		100%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)


3 Year


5 Year




Pension Fixed Income Characteristics

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Duration (Years) Maturity (Years) Yield (%)

Fixed Income Characteristics

Portfolio Index

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

AAA/AA A BBB Below IG/Not
Rated

Quality

Portfolio Index

9



Pension Performance vs Benchmark

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Investment Manager/Fund Portfolio 
Performance

Benchmark 
Performance

Relative 
Performance

Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2023) 3.3% 2.4% 0.9%
1 Year 6.4% 5.6% 0.8%
3 Year -2.3% -3.3% 1.0%
5 Year 1.6% 1.1% 0.5%

2.0% 1.7% 0.3%10 Year
Fiscal Year Ending:
June 30, 2024 (two quarters thru Dec. 2023) 4.0% 3.4% 0.6%

Investment Manager/Fund Portfolio 
Performance

Benchmark 
Performance

Relative 
Performance

Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2023) 3.1% 2.3% 0.8%
3 Year -2.2% -3.8% 1.6%
5 Year 1.0% 0.7% 0.3%
10 Year 1.7% 1.4% 0.3%
Fiscal Year Ending:
June 30, 2023 -0.2% -0.9% 0.7%

10


Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$18,012,470		22.3%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$22,174,017		27.4%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,010,195		9.9%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,197,908		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$18,699,699		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$5,708,610		7.1%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$80,802,899		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$14,871		0.3%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$1,739,073		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$1,714,842		34.7%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,229,064		24.9%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$242,482		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$4,940,332		100.0%		100%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2023)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				1 Year		6.4%		5.6%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2023 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2023)


1 Year


3 Year


5 Year



Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$18,012,470		22.3%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$22,174,017		27.4%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,010,195		9.9%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,197,908		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$18,699,699		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$5,708,610		7.1%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$80,802,899		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$14,871		0.3%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$1,739,073		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$1,714,842		34.7%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,229,064		24.9%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$242,482		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$4,940,332		100.0%		100%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2023)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2023		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)


3 Year


5 Year


10 Year




OPEB Allocation Review

Source: Schwab Institutional; all values as of 12/31/2023

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Investment Manager/Fund Mandate
Market 
Value 

($)

Asset 
Allocation

(%)

Target 
Allocation 

(%)
Cash $3,901 0.1% 0.0%
Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS Multi-Sector $2,279,418 35.2% 35.0%
Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares Multi-Sector $2,262,846 34.9% 35.0%
BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund Unconstrained/Flexible $1,616,313 25.0% 25.0%
Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm Inflation Protected $315,073 4.9% 5.0%
Fixed Income Total $6,477,551 100.0% 100.0%

11


Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$19,261,228		22.2%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$23,702,293		27.3%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,520,281		9.8%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,817,040		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$20,057,969		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$6,574,225		7.6%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$86,933,036		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$3,901		0.1%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$2,279,418		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$2,262,846		34.9%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,616,313		25.0%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$315,073		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$6,477,551		100.0%		100.0%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)


3 Year


5 Year




OPEB Fixed Income Characteristics

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Duration (Years) Maturity (Years) Yield (%)

Fixed Income Characteristics

Portfolio Index

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

AAA/AA A BBB Below IG/Not
Rated

Quality

Portfolio Index

12



OPEB Performance vs Benchmark

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Investment Manager/Fund Portfolio 
Performance

Benchmark 
Performance

Relative 
Performance

Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2023) 3.2% 2.5% 0.7%
3 Year -2.7% -3.7% 1.0%
5 Year 1.3% 0.9% 0.4%
10 Year 1.9% 1.5% 0.4%
Fiscal Year Ending:
June 30, 2023 0.1% -0.9% 1.0%

Investment Manager/Fund Portfolio 
Performance

Benchmark 
Performance

Relative 
Performance

Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2023) 3.4% 2.7% 0.7%
1 Year 6.8% 5.5% 1.3%
3 Year -2.8% -3.0% 0.2%
5 Year 2.0% 1.2% 0.8%

2.2% 1.8% 0.4%10 Year
Fiscal Year Ending:
June 30, 2024 (two quarters thru Dec. 2023) 4.2% 3.4% 0.8%

13


Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$18,012,470		22.3%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$22,174,017		27.4%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,010,195		9.9%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,197,908		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$18,699,699		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$5,708,610		7.1%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$80,802,899		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$14,871		0.3%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$1,739,073		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$1,714,842		34.7%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,229,064		24.9%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$242,482		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$4,940,332		100.0%		100%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2023)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2023		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)


3 Year


5 Year


10 Year



Sheet1

		Pension		Target 				Duration										Pension		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		6.68		1.67								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		63.3%		15.8%		3.6%		0.9%		12.8%		3.2%		20.4%		5.1%		0.0%		0.00%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		5.58		1.5345								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		67.2%		18.5%		3.1%		0.8%		6.6%		1.8%		16.8%		4.6%		6.4%		1.75%

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.34		0.334								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		65.0%		6.5%		1.5%		0.2%		4.1%		0.4%		3.0%		0.3%		26.4%		2.64%

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		7.07		0.707								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		39.4%		3.9%		0.7%		0.1%		15.9%		1.6%		26.1%		2.6%		17.9%		1.79%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.5%		4.3%		0.7%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.52%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0.27		0.0135								Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		6.7%		0.3%		93.3%		4.67%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		3.92		0.294								BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		25%		1.9%		5%		0.4%		20%		1.5%		34%		2.6%		16%		1.17%

										5.0645																50.1%				3.0%				10.2%				18.3%				18.54%

		Pension		Target 				yield

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		1.1		0.275

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		1.17		0.32175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		3.08		0.308								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		1.93		0.193								Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		Index		$18,012,470		22.3%		22.5%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$22,174,017		27.4%		27.5%

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		3.3		0.165								Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		Amortizing Asset Focused		$8,010,195		9.9%		10.0%

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		2.6		0.195								Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		Credit Focused		$8,197,908		10.1%		10.0%

										1.79525								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$18,699,699		23.1%		22.5%

																		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		Global		$5,708,610		7.1%		7.5%

		Pension		Target 				Maturity 										Fixed Income Total				$80,802,899		100.0%		100.0%

		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index Inst		25.0%		0.25		8.6		2.15

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		27.5%		0.28		7.97		2.19175

		Doubleline Total Return Bond Fund I		10.0%		0.10		5.14		0.514

		Loomis Sayles Investment Grade Bond N		10.0%		0.10		9.42		0.942

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Eaton Vance Senior Floating Rate I		5.0%		0.05		4.81		0.2405

		BradywineGlobal Global Opps Bond Fund IS		7.5%		0.08		8.33		0.62475

										7.839



		OPEB		Target 				Duration										OPEB		Target 				AAA				AA				A				BBB				Below

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		7.04		2.816								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		47.0%		18.8%		5.2%		2.1%		16.6%		6.6%		19.2%		7.7%		12.3%		4.92%

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		5.58		2.232								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		67.2%		26.9%		3.1%		1.2%		6.6%		2.7%		16.8%		6.7%		6.4%		2.54%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		3.41		0.5115								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		23.0%		3.4%		4.3%		0.6%		11.2%		1.7%		18.6%		2.8%		42.9%		6.43%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		2.56		0.128								Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.05		100%		5.0%		0%		0.0%		0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.0%		0.00%

										5.6875																54.1%				4.0%				11.0%				17.2%				13.90%

		OPEB		Target 				yield

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		2.08		0.832								Investment Manager/Fund		Mandate		Market Value 
($)		Asset Allocation(%)		Target Allocation (%)

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		1.17		0.468								Cash				$14,871		0.3%		0.0%

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		2.25		0.3375								Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		Multi-Sector		$1,739,073		35.2%		35.0%

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		-1.45		-0.145								Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		Multi-Sector		$1,714,842		34.7%		35.0%

										1.4925								BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		Unconstrained/Flexible		$1,229,064		24.9%		25.0%

																		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		Inflation Protected		$242,482		4.9%		5.0%

																		Fixed Income Total				$4,940,332		100.0%		100%

		OPEB		Target 				Maturity 

		Western Asset Core Plus Bond IS		40.0%		0.40		12.78		5.112

		Metropolitan West Total Return Plan Shares		40.0%		0.40		7.97		3.188

		BlackRock Strategic Income Opportunities Fund		15.0%		0.15		7.84		1.176

		Vanguard Short-Term Inflation Protection Adm		5.0%		0.10		2.6		0.26

										9.736





Sheet2

				pension 



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)		3.3%		2.4%		0.9%

				3 Year		-2.3%		-3.3%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.6%		1.1%		0.5%

				10 Year		2.0%		1.7%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.0%		3.4%		0.6%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.1%		2.3%		0.8%

				3 Year		-2.2%		-3.8%		1.6%

				5 Year		1.0%		0.7%		0.3%

				10 Year		1.7%		1.4%		0.3%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		-0.2%		-0.9%		0.7%



				opeb



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2023)		3.4%		2.7%		0.7%

				1 Year		6.8%		5.5%		1.3%

				3 Year		-2.8%		-3.0%		0.2%

				5 Year		2.0%		1.2%		0.8%

				10 Year		2.2%		1.8%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2023 (two quarters thru Dec.)		4.2%		3.4%		0.8%



				Investment Manager/Fund		Portfolio Performance		Benchmark Performance		Relative Performance

				Performance Since Inception (thru 6/30/2022)		3.2%		2.5%		0.7%

				3 Year		-2.7%		-3.7%		1.0%

				5 Year		1.3%		0.9%		0.4%

				10 Year		1.9%		1.5%		0.4%

				Fiscal Year Ending:

				June 30, 2022		0.1%		-0.9%		1.0%







1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


A


B


pension 


Investment Manager/Fund


Performance Since Inception (thru 12/31/2022)


3 Year


5 Year


10 Year




Asset Allocation 
Summary Analysis

14



2024 Allocation Updates

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Y / Y 
Change

U.S. Bonds

TIPS

Dynamic Bonds - -
High Yield Bonds

Global Bonds

Muni Bond

Muni High Yield - -

U.S. Large Cap

U.S. Mid/Small Cap

Int'l Developed Equity

Emerging Markets

Real Estate

Broad Real Assets

Real Assets
          &
Alternatives

Real assets broadly struggled to keep up with equity 
markets as inflation fell throughout 2023. On the 
backs of lower prices and inflation remaining elevated, 
forecasts across real asset categories rose. 

Fixed 
Income

As the Federal Reserve continued its battle with 
inflation in 2023 and the market began to believe the 
rhetoric of "higher for longer". Y ields rose across 
much of fixed income improving forward long-term 
return assumptions. Credit, specifically high yield, was 
one of the best performing fixed income asset classes 
in 2023. 2024 projections rose solely based on higher 
Treasury rates as spreads (the additional yield above 
Treasuries) fell over the year. Municipal bond forecasts 
rose as well based on higher rates, but so did interest 
rate risk given the structure of the market. 

Global
Equity

U.S. equity forecasts are nearly flat year over year 
driven by higher valuations and very modest earnings 
growth for 2023. International forecasts fell on a 
similar accord, but to a larger degree also driven by 
higher anticipated volatility outside of the U.S. 
Valuations outside the U.S. remain below their 20-
year averages while the U.S. remains above. 

15



www.FiducientAdvisors.com

2024-2033 Ten-Year Outlook

1) Dynamic bonds are a blend of 33% Cash, 33% Corp HY, and 34% Global Bonds. 2) Tax Equivalent yield based on highest marginal Federal tax rate (37%). 3) Broad Real Assets is  20% REITS, 20% Global Infrastructure, 20%
Commodities, 20% US Bonds, 15% Corp High Yield, 5% TIPS Outputs and opinions are as of the date referenced and are subject to change based on market or economic conditions. Information is intended for general information purposes
only and does not represent any specific investment recommendation. Please consult with your advisor, attorney and accountant, as appropriate, regarding specific advice. There is no guarantee that any of these expectations will become
actual results.. For additional information on forecast methodologies, please speak with your advisor. Please see Index Proxy Summary slide at the end of this presentation for summary of indices used to represent each asset class. Past
performance does not indicate future performance and there is a possibility of a loss. Please see the Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional information.

2024 2023
Y / Y 

Change

U.S. Bonds 5.7% 5.0% 0.6%

TIPS 5.2% 4.6% 0.6%

Dynamic Bonds1 6.5% 5.6% 0.9%

High Yield Bonds 7.7% 7.1% 0.6%

Global Bonds 5.6% 5.1% 0.5%

Muni Bond2 6.3% 5.8% 0.5%

Muni High Yield2 10.2% 9.9% 0.3%

U.S. All Cap 6.5% 6.7% -0.2%

Intl Developed Equity 8.2% 8.9% -0.7%

Emerging Markets 10.1% 10.8% -0.7%

Real Estate 7.0% 6.4% 0.6%

Broad Real Assets3 7.5% 6.8% 0.7%

Marketable Alts 8.4% 8.1% 0.3%

Private Equity 9.5% 9.7% -0.2%

U.S. equity forecasts are nearly flat year over year driven 
by higher valuations and very modest earnings growth for 
2023. International forecasts fell on a similar accord, but 
to a larger degree also driven by higher anticipated 
volatility outside of the U.S. Valuations outside the U.S. 
remain below their 20-year averages while the U.S. 
remains above. 

Fixed 
Income 

As the Federal Reserve continued its battle with inflation in 
2023 and the market began to believe the rhetoric of 
"higher for longer". Y ields rose across much of fixed 
income improving forward long-term return assumptions. 

Credit, specifically high yield, was one of the best 
performing fixed income asset classes in 2023. 2024 
projections rose solely based on higher Treasury rates as 
spreads (the additional yield above Treasuries) fell over the 
year. 

Municipal bond forecasts rose as well based on higher 
rates, but so did interest rate risk given the structure of the 
market. 

Global
Equity

Real Assets
          &
Alternatives

Real assets broadly struggled to keep up with equity 
markets as inflation fell throughout 2023. On the backs of 
lower prices and inflation remaining elevated, forecasts 
across real asset categories rose. 

Marketable alternatives forecasts benefited from higher 
base rates of returns earned in treasuries and higher 
expected volatility within and across asset classes. 

Private equity forecasts are largely flat year over year 
based on the offsetting factors of improving private equity 
valuations and more modest earnings growth outlook.

16



Frontier Engineer® Analysis

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

*The expected one in a hundred worst case calendar year return based on normally distributed capital market assumptions. Greater losses are possible (1% expected likelihood).
**The expected one in a hundred worst case calendar year return based on non-normally distributed capital market assumptions (factoring in skewness & kurtosis). Greater losses are possible (1% expected
likelihood).
Historical Returns and Risk Metrics for each Mix represent back-tested calculations developed with the benefit of hindsight. Return calculations use an asset-weighted methodology based on the target asset
allocation of each mix and the total return of index proxies used to represent each asset class and are net of fees. Historical returns are hypothetical and do not represent returns earned by a client. It is not
possible to invest in an index. Please see the Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional information, including index proxies used to represent each
asset class. Please ask for a copy of Fiducient Advisors' white paper titled 10-Year Capital Market Forecasts. Past performance does not indicate future performance and it is possible to lose money when
investing. Please refer to the Capital Markets Assumptions Slide for the hypothetical alpha and hypothetical fee inputs used in the calculation methodology.

12/31/2023

Fi
xe

d 
In

co
m

e

Eq
ui

ty

R
ea

l A
ss

et
s

Al
te

rn
at

iv
es

U
S 

Bo
nd

U
S 

Bo
nd

s 
- D

yn
am

ic

G
lo

ba
l B

on
ds

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (L

C
)

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (M

C
)

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (S

C
)

In
t'l 

D
ev

. E
qu

ity

EM
 E

qu
ity

An
nu

al
iz

ed
 R

et
ur

n

An
nu

al
iz

ed
 V

ol
at

ilit
y

N
or

m
al

 1
00

 Y
ea

r 
Fl

oo
d*

N
on

-N
or

m
al

 1
00

 
Ye

ar
 F

lo
od

**

A
nn

ua
liz

ed
 N

et
 R

et
ur

n

An
nu

al
iz

ed
 V

ol
at

ilit
y

Current Target Allocation (A) 35% 65% 0% 0% 24.5% 7.9% 2.6% 26.0% 8.0% 6.0% 17.5% 7.5% 7.7% 12.6% -21% -26% 8.7% 10.4%
EMPTY 3.71 3.71 3.71 3.71 3.71 3.71 3.71 3.71 0%

3 31% 10% 3% 33% 10% 6% 21% 9% ase run again with a smaller negative number.
2018 - - - - - - - - 8.0% 13.0%

3/31/2018 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 7.0% 12.0%
12/31/2023 Exclude ST Bonds: 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 11.0% 29.0%

Include ST Bonds: 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.0% 6.0%
 : Cash : TIPS

2/8/2024
2.8.2024

Past (1/88-12/23)

A

US Bond

US Bonds - Dynamic

Global Bonds

US Equity (LC)

US Equity …
US Equity (SC)

Int'l Dev. Equity

EM Equity

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0%

E(
An

nu
al

iz
ed

 N
et

 R
et

ur
n)

E(Standard Deviation)

Current Mix(es)

Asset Classes

Engineer Frontier A

17



www.FiducientAdvisors.com 18

See disclosures for list of indices representing each asset class. Past performance does not indicate future performance and there is a possibility of a loss. 
Indices cannot be invested in directly.

4.59

6.25

0.73

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

2004 2007 2010 2013 2016 2019 2022

Y
ie

ld
 (%

) &
 D

ur
at

io
n 

(y
ea

rs
)

Bloomberg US Aggregate Bond Yield and Duration

Yield to Maturity

Index Level Effective Duration

Yield/Duration

Sources: FactSet, Bloomberg. As of January 31, 2024.

Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Yield & Duration Profile

18



www.FiducientAdvisors.com 19

See disclosures for list of indices representing each asset class. Past performance does not indicate future performance and there is a possibility of a loss. 
Indices cannot be invested in directly.

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

1975 1978 1981 1984 1987 1990 1993 1996 1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2020 2023

Y
ie

ld
 a

nd
 S

ub
se

qu
en

t 
R

et
ur

n 
(%

)

Treasury Yields and Subsequent Fixed Income Performance

U.S. 10-Year Treasury Yield
Bloomberg Agg Subsequent 10-year Return

Sources: FactSet, Morningstar Direct, Fiducient Advisors. For the period January 1, 1976 to January 31, 2024.

More Favorable Long-term Return Outlook for Fixed Income

19



Historical Annual Total Return

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

1The expected one in a hundred worst case calendar year return based on normally distributed capital market assumptions. Greater losses are possible (1% expected likelihood). 
2The expected one in a hundred worst case calendar year return based on non-normally distributed capital market assumptions (factoring in skewness & kurtosis). Greater losses are possible (1% expected 
likelihood). 
Historical Returns and Risk Metrics for each Mix represent back-tested calculations developed with the benefit of hindsight. Return calculations use an asset-weighted methodology based on the target asset 
allocation of each mix and the total return of index proxies used to represent each asset class and are net of fees. Historical returns are hypothetical and do not represent returns earned by a client. It is not 
possible to invest in an index. Please see the Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional information, including index proxies used to represent each 
asset class. Please ask for a copy of Fiducient Advisors' white paper titled 10-Year Capital Market Forecasts. Past performance does not indicate future performance and it is possible to lose money when 
investing.

Annualized net returns as 
of 12/31/2023

Fi
xe

d 
In

co
m

e

Eq
ui

ty

R
ea

l A
ss

et
s

Al
te

rn
at

iv
es

P
as

t 3
 M

on
th

s 
(N

ot
 A

nn
ua

liz
ed

)

1-
Ye

ar
 R

et
ur

n

3-
Ye

ar
 R

et
ur

n

5-
Ye

ar
 R

et
ur

n

7-
Ye

ar
 R

et
ur

n

10
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

15
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

20
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

25
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

30
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

36
-Y

ea
r R

et
ur

n

Current Target Allocation (A) 35% 65% 0% 0% 9.7% 15.8% 3.2% 8.6% 7.5% 6.6% 8.8% 7.2% 6.7% 7.6% 8.7%
Cash 100% 1.4% 5.3% 2.2% 1.9% 1.8% 1.3% 0.9% 1.4% 1.8% 2.4% 3.0%
TIPS 100% 4.7% 3.9% -1.0% 3.2% 2.5% 2.4% 3.5% 3.6% 4.8% 4.8% 5.8%

US Bond 100% 6.8% 5.5% -3.3% 1.1% 1.3% 1.8% 2.7% 3.2% 3.9% 4.4% 5.4%
US Bonds - Dynamic 100% 4.9% 8.6% 0.8% 3.0% 2.7% 2.8% 4.4% 3.9% 4.1% 4.6% 5.6%

For. Dev. Bond 100% 7.9% 6.9% -6.1% -1.0% 0.3% 0.7% 1.4% 2.4% 3.0% 4.0% 4.7%
Global Bonds 100% 8.1% 5.7% -5.5% -0.3% 0.6% 0.4% 1.5% 2.4% 3.0% 3.9% 5.0%

HY Bond 100% 7.2% 13.4% 2.0% 5.4% 4.6% 4.6% 9.2% 6.6% 6.3% 6.7% 7.6%
EM Bond 100% 8.1% 12.7% -3.2% 1.1% 1.9% 0.1% 2.7% 4.7% 6.6% 6.7% 7.7%

Global Equity 100% 11.1% 22.8% 6.2% 12.3% 10.6% 8.5% 10.8% 8.1% 6.4% 7.8% 8.1%
US Equity (AC) 100% 12.1% 26.0% 8.5% 15.2% 12.8% 11.5% 13.8% 9.7% 7.7% 10.0% 10.9%
US Equity (LC) 100% 11.7% 26.3% 10.0% 15.7% 13.4% 12.0% 14.0% 9.7% 7.6% 10.1% 10.9%
US Equity (MC) 100% 12.8% 17.2% 5.9% 12.7% 10.1% 9.4% 13.6% 9.8% 9.3% 10.6% 11.6%
US Equity (SC) 100% 14.0% 16.9% 2.2% 10.0% 7.3% 7.2% 11.3% 8.1% 7.9% 8.6% 9.7%

Non-US Equity (ACWI) 100% 9.8% 16.2% 2.0% 7.6% 6.8% 4.3% 7.2% 6.2% 5.2% 5.7% 5.9%
Int'l Dev. Equity 100% 10.5% 18.9% 4.5% 8.7% 7.4% 4.8% 7.4% 6.1% 4.9% 5.6% 5.8%

EM Equity 100% 7.9% 10.3% -4.7% 4.1% 5.4% 3.0% 6.9% 7.2% 7.9% 4.8% 9.5%
Real Estate 100% 18.0% 11.4% 5.7% 7.6% 6.0% 8.0% 10.9% 8.3% 9.5% 9.5% 9.9%

Broad Real Assets 100% 8.9% 7.8% 3.9% 5.9% 4.8% 3.9% 6.9% 6.5% 8.4% 7.6% 6.6%
Marketable Alternatives 100% 3.1% 6.0% 2.1% 5.1% 4.1% 3.2% 3.8% 3.3% 4.4% 4.7% 6.9%

Private Equity 100% 0.0% -0.2% 6.8% 13.3% 13.6% 12.6% 13.4% 13.0% 13.0% 15.1% 14.6%

20



Calendar Year Total Return

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Historical Returns for each Mix based on back-tested return calculations developed with the benefit of hindsight. Return calculations use an asset-weighted methodology based on the target asset allocation of each 
mix and the total return of index proxies used to represent each asset class and are net of fees. Historical returns used are hypothetical and do not represent returns earned by a client. It is not possible to invest in 
an index. Please see the Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional information, including index proxies used to represent each asset class. For additional 
information on forecast methodologies, please ask for a copy of Fiducient Advisors' white paper titled 10-Year Capital Market Forecasts. Past performance does not indicate future performance and it is possible to 
lose money when investing.

Calendar Net Year 
Returns Fi

xe
d 

In
co

m
e

Eq
ui

ty

R
ea

l A
ss

et
s

Al
te

rn
at

iv
es

YT
D

 1
2/

31
/2

02
3

20
22

20
21

20
20

20
19

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
14

20
13

20
12

20
11

20
10

20
09

20
08

20
07

20
06

20
05

20
04

20
03

20
02

20
01

20
00

19
99

19
98

19
97

19
96

19
95

19
94

19
93

19
92

19
91

19
90

19
89

19
88

Current Target Allocation (A) 35% 65% 0% 0% 16% -15% 11% 14% 21% -6% 17% 8% -1% 6% 16% 13% -1% 13% 26% -27% 9% 15% 9% 13% 26% -8% -4% -4% 17% 13% 15% 12% 22% 1% 19% 6% 27% -5% 23% 18%

Cash 100% 5% 2% 0% 1% 2% 2% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 2% 5% 5% 3% 1% 1% 2% 4% 6% 5% 5% 5% 5% 6% 4% 3% 4% 6% 8% 9% 7%
TIPS 100% 4% -12% 6% 11% 8% -1% 3% 5% -1% 4% -9% 7% 14% 6% 11% -2% 12% 0% 3% 8% 8% 17% 8% 13% 2% 4% 3% 4% 18% -3% 10% 7% 16% 9% 15% 8%

US Bond 100% 6% -13% -2% 8% 9% 0% 4% 3% 1% 6% -2% 4% 8% 7% 6% 5% 7% 4% 2% 4% 4% 10% 8% 12% -1% 9% 10% 4% 18% -3% 10% 7% 16% 9% 15% 8%
US Bonds - Dynamic 100% 9% -7% 1% 5% 8% 1% 4% 7% -1% 3% 2% 7% 4% 7% 19% -7% 4% 7% 3% 6% 10% 3% 6% 3% 3% 6% 9% 8% 14% 0% 10% 9% 21% 1% 15% 8%
For. Dev. Bond 100% 7% -18% -6% 8% 7% 1% 6% 3% -2% 4% -2% 4% 5% 4% 3% 9% 8% 5% -2% 9% 10% 14% 1% 4% -1% 15% 3% 8% 19% 1% 14% 6% 14% 9% 0% 6%
Global Bonds 100% 6% -16% -5% 9% 7% -1% 7% 2% -3% 1% -3% 4% 6% 6% 7% 5% 9% 7% -4% 9% 13% 17% 2% 3% -5% 14% 4% 5% 20% 0% 11% 6% 16% 11% 15% 8%

HY Bond 100% 13% -11% 5% 7% 14% -2% 8% 17% -4% 2% 7% 16% 5% 15% 58% -26% 2% 12% 3% 11% 29% -1% 5% -6% 2% 2% 13% 11% 19% -1% 17% 16% 46% -10% 1% 13%

EM Bond 100% 13% -12% -9% 3% 13% -6% 15% 10% -15% -6% -9% 17% -2% 16% 22% -5% 18% 15% 6% 23% 17% 14% 10% 13% 20% -8% 11% 38% 27% -19% 17% 16% 46% -10% 1% 13%

Global Equity 100% 23% -18% 19% 17% 27% -9% 25% 8% -2% 5% 23% 17% -7% 13% 35% -42% 12% 22% 11% 16% 35% -19% -16% -14% 27% 22% 15% 13% 19% 5% 25% -4% 20% -16% 18% 24%

US Equity (AC) 100% 26% -19% 26% 21% 31% -5% 21% 13% 0% 13% 34% 16% 1% 17% 28% -37% 5% 16% 6% 12% 31% -22% -11% -7% 21% 24% 32% 22% 37% 0% 11% 10% 34% -5% 29% 18%

US Equity (LC) 100% 26% -18% 29% 18% 31% -4% 22% 12% 1% 14% 32% 16% 2% 15% 26% -37% 5% 16% 5% 11% 29% -22% -12% -9% 21% 29% 33% 23% 38% 1% 10% 8% 30% -3% 32% 17%

US Equity (MC) 100% 17% -17% 23% 17% 31% -9% 19% 14% -2% 13% 35% 17% -2% 25% 40% -41% 6% 15% 13% 20% 40% -16% -6% 8% 18% 10% 29% 19% 34% -2% 14% 16% 42% -11% 26% 20%

US Equity (SC) 100% 17% -20% 15% 20% 26% -11% 15% 21% -4% 5% 39% 16% -4% 27% 27% -34% -2% 18% 5% 18% 47% -20% 2% -3% 21% -3% 22% 16% 28% -2% 19% 18% 46% -19% 16% 25%

Non-US Equity (ACWI) 100% 16% -16% 8% 11% 22% -14% 28% 5% -5% -3% 16% 17% -13% 12% 42% -45% 17% 27% 17% 21% 41% -15% -19% -15% 31% 14% 2% 7% 10% 7% 35% -11% 14% -23% 12% 28%

Int'l Dev. Equity 100% 19% -14% 12% 8% 23% -13% 26% 2% 0% -4% 23% 18% -12% 8% 32% -43% 12% 27% 14% 21% 39% -16% -21% -14% 27% 20% 2% 6% 12% 8% 33% -12% 12% -23% 11% 29%

EM Equity 100% 10% -20% -2% 19% 19% -14% 38% 12% -15% -2% -2% 19% -18% 19% 79% -53% 40% 33% 35% 26% 56% -6% -2% -31% 66% -25% -12% 6% -5% -7% 75% 11% 60% -11% 65% 40%

Real Estate 100% 11% -25% 41% -5% 29% -4% 9% 9% 3% 28% 3% 20% 8% 28% 28% -38% -16% 35% 12% 32% 37% 4% 14% 26% -5% -18% 20% 35% 15% 3% 20% 15% 36% -15% 9% 13%

Broad Real Assets 100% 8% -10% 15% 1% 17% -6% 11% 11% -10% 5% 4% 14% 3% 15% 33% -28% 11% 23% 10% 20% 26% 25% -3% 28% 10% -14% 2% 14% 14% 4% 4% 4% 4% -6% 2% 3%
Marketable Alternatives 100% 6% -5% 6% 11% 8% -4% 8% 1% 0% 3% 9% 5% -6% 6% 11% -21% 10% 10% 7% 7% 12% 1% 3% 4% 26% -5% 16% 14% 11% -3% 26% 12% 14% 18% 23% 19%

Private Equity 100% 0% -12% 40% 32% 16% 13% 16% 9% 8% 15% 23% 12% 12% 18% 10% -20% 18% 25% 21% 22% 14% -16% -21% 10% 125% 21% 32% 33% 32% 14% 23% 14% 14% 4% 9% 9%

21



Capital Market Assumptions

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

For additional information on forecast methodologies, please speak with your advisor. Please see Index Proxy Summary slide at the end of this presentation for summary of indexes used to represent each asset 
class. Past performance does not indicate future performance. Please see the Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional information.

Return & Risk 
Assumptions 
(Forecasts)

Ar
ith

m
et

ic
 R

et
ur

n

G
eo

m
et

ric
 R

et
ur

n

St
an

da
rd

 D
ev

ia
tio

n

Sk
ew

ne
ss

Ku
rto

si
s

Correlation 
Assumptions 
(Forecasts)

U
S 

Bo
nd

U
S

 B
on

ds
 - 

D
yn

am
ic

G
lo

ba
l B

on
ds

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (L

C
)

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (M

C
)

U
S 

Eq
ui

ty
 (S

C
)

In
t'l 

D
ev

. E
qu

ity
EM

 E
qu

ity

US Bond 5.9% 5.7% 7.3% -0.50 1.68 US Bond 1.00 0.57 0.74 0.22 0.22 0.13 0.19 0.11

US Bonds - Dynamic 6.7% 6.5% 6.4% -0.96 6.34 US Bonds - Dynamic 0.57 1.00 0.53 0.61 0.66 0.59 0.56 0.57

Global Bonds 6.1% 5.6% 9.8% -0.27 1.12 Global Bonds 0.74 0.53 1.00 0.29 0.28 0.19 0.45 0.32

US Equity (LC) 7.9% 6.5% 16.6% -0.55 0.79 US Equity (LC) 0.22 0.61 0.29 1.00 0.94 0.84 0.70 0.66

US Equity (MC) 8.1% 6.4% 18.4% -0.67 2.02 US Equity (MC) 0.22 0.66 0.28 0.94 1.00 0.94 0.69 0.69

US Equity (SC) 8.3% 6.0% 21.3% -0.44 1.10 US Equity (SC) 0.13 0.59 0.19 0.84 0.94 1.00 0.63 0.66

Int'l Dev. Equity 10.6% 8.2% 21.7% -0.52 1.25 Int'l Dev. Equity 0.19 0.56 0.45 0.70 0.69 0.63 1.00 0.71

EM Equity 14.2% 10.1% 28.4% -0.61 1.96 EM Equity 0.11 0.57 0.32 0.66 0.69 0.66 0.71 1.00

October 31, 2023 Ten-Year Forecasted CMAs

*Historical mix return calculations assume a w eighted average excess return assumption of 0.5% w ith a Fiducient Advisors' hyp    

22



Indices for Past Return & Risk Metrics

www.FiducientAdvisors.com

Note: Private Equity Index is frequently 3-6 months behind the other indices. For historical return calculation purposes, it is given 0% returns during the most recent period where gaps may exist. Past performance, 
actual or hypothetical, is no guarantee of future results and there is a possibility of a loss. Please see Frontier Engineer Hypothetical Performance Disclosures at the end of the presentation for additional 
information, including index proxies used to represent each asset class.

Indices used to 
generate historical 

risk and return 
metrics

Most Recent Index Linked Index 
1

Linked Index 
2

Linked Index 
2

US Bond Bloomberg US Agg Bond TR USD 12/23 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

US Bonds - Dynamic *Custom Blend of Indices 12/23 - 2/90 Bloomberg US Agg Bond TR USD 1/90 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

Global Bonds Bloomberg Global Aggregate TR USD 12/23 - 2/90 Bloomberg US Agg Bond TR USD 1/90 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

US Equity (LC) S&P 500 TR USD 12/23 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

US Equity (MC) Russell Mid Cap TR USD 12/23 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

US Equity (SC) Russell 2000 TR USD 12/23 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

Int'l Dev. Equity MSCI EAFE GR USD 12/23 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

EM Equity MSCI EM GR USD 12/23 - 1/88 MSCI EAFE GR USD 12/87 - 1/79 N.A. N.A. - N.A. N.A. N.A. - N.A.

*US Bonds - Dynamic Index - 1/3 Bloomberg Gbl Agg Ex USD TR Hdg USD,  1/3 FTSE Treasury Bill 3 Mon USD & 1/3 Bloomberg US Corporate High Yield TR USD

                    0.25%.

Index 
Dates

Index 
Dates

Index 
Dates

Index 
Dates

23



The historical performance information derived from the Frontier Engineer and used or presented in charts, tables, or graphs 
represent simulated historical performance, which has been derived by retroactively applying an asset allocation modeling process in 
its most recently developed form with its most recently derived ten-year (forward-looking) capital market assumptions. Such historical 
return simulations (or back testing) was performed by simulating the combination of actual index returns for the historical period with 
a buy and hold strategy effective January 1, 1988 through the most recently available month-end date with simulated rebalancing 
occurring every month-end (with the reinvestment of dividends and capital gains from each index). 

Back tested performance is hypothetical and does not reflect actual trades or actual client performance. As with all models, there are 
inherent limitations which are derived from the retroactive application developed with the benefit of hindsight, including the risk that 
certain factors such as material economic and market conditions could have contributed to materially different (either higher or lower) 
performance results than those depicted, or that certain material factors may have been included or excluded from consideration. As 
such, actual results during the applicable back tested period would have been different than those depicted. 

The asset allocation modeling process currently used was initially developed in 2002, and was not offered as a strategy prior to that 
time. The output of a forward-looking model (or process) is a representation of allocation percentages among specific asset classes. 
Clients cannot invest directly in a target allocation, but rather, in underlying securities within designated asset classes. Advisor may 
change its models from time to time, and regularly updates its model as additional capital market assumption information becomes 
available or to increase or decrease relative weightings or emphasis on certain factors. Consequently, the Advisor may choose to 
deviate from a stated model over time as the model itself is revised, which could have a materially positive or negative impact on 
performance. 

During the period represented, numerous modelling changes were made, including the regular changes in (ten-year) forward-looking 
expected returns, expected volatilities, expected non-normal return distribution assumptions, as well as tracking-error assumptions 
and risk budgets. Furthermore, such assumptions can be modified client-by-client depending on certain preferences, priorities, 
constraints or unique considerations applicable to each client. 

Other economic and market factors may have impacted decision-making when using the model to manage client funds, including the 
list of approved asset classes by a client or client type as well as any client-directed or Advisor implemented constraints. 

All investments bear the risk of loss, including the loss of principal. Past performance, actual or hypothetical, is no guarantee of future 
results.

The returns displayed on the preceding pages are gross of fees. Actual performance would be reduced by investment advisory fees 
and other expenses that may be incurred in the management of the client’s portfolio. The collection of fees produces a compounding 
effect on the total rate of return net of management fees. As an example, the effect of investment management fees on the total value 
of a client’s portfolio assuming (a) quarterly fee assessment, (b) $1,000,000 investment, (c) portfolio return of 8% a year, and (d) 
0.50% annual investment advisory fee would be $5,228 in the first year, and cumulative effects of $30,342 over five years and 
$73,826 over ten years. Additional information on advisory fees charged by Fiducient Advisors are described in Part 2 of the Form 
ADV. 

Disclosure

24



Disclosure

INDEX DEFINITIONS
FTSE Treasury Bill 3 Month measures return equivalents of yield averages and are not marked to market. It is an average of the last three three-month Treasury bill 
month-end rates.
Bloomberg Barclays Capital US Treasury Inflation Protected Securities Index consists of Inflation-Protection securities issued by the U.S. Treasury.
Bloomberg Barclays Muni 5 Year Index is the 5 year (4-6) component of the Municipal Bond index.
Bloomberg Barclays High Yield Municipal Bond Index covers the universe of fixed rate, non-investment grade debt.
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Index covers the U.S. investment grade fixed rate bond market, with index components for government and corporate 
securities, mortgage pass-through securities, and asset-backed securities.
FTSE World Government Bond Index (WGBI) (Unhedged) provides a broad benchmark for the global sovereign fixed income market by measuring the 
performance of fixed-rate, local currency, investment-grade sovereign debt from over 20 countries, 
FTSE World Government Bond Index (WGBI) (Hedged) is designed to represent the FTSE WGBI without the impact of local currency exchange rate fluctuations.  
Bloomberg Barclays US Corporate High Yield TR USD covers the universe of fixed rate, non-investment grade debt. Eurobonds and debt issues from countries 
designated as emerging markets (sovereign rating of Baa1/BBB+/BBB+ and below using the middle of Moody’s, S&P, and Fitch) are excluded, but Canadian and 
global bonds (SEC registered) of issuers in non-EMG countries are included.
JP Morgan Government Bond Index-Emerging Market Index (GBI-EMI) is a comprehensive, global local emerging markets index, and consists of regularly traded, 
liquid fixed-rate, domestic currency government bonds to which international investors can gain exposure.
JPMorgan EMBI Global Diversified is an unmanaged, market-capitalization weighted, total-return index tracking the traded market for U.S.-dollar-denominated 
Brady bonds, Eurobonds, traded loans, and local market debt instruments issued by sovereign and quasi-sovereign entities.
MSCI ACWI is designed to represent performance of the full opportunity set of large- and mid-cap stocks across multiple developed and emerging markets, including 
cross-market tax incentives.
The S&P 500 is a capitalization-weighted index designed to measure performance of the broad domestic economy through changes in the aggregate market value of 
500 stocks representing all major industries.
Russell 3000 is a market-cap-weighted index which consists of roughly 3,000 of the largest companies in the U.S. as determined by market capitalization. It 
represents nearly 98% of the investable U.S. equity market.
Russell Mid Cap measures the performance of the 800 smallest companies in the Russell 1000 Index.
Russell 2000 consists of the 2,000 smallest U.S. companies in the Russell 3000 index.
MSCI EAFE is an equity index which captures large and mid-cap representation across Developed Markets countries around the world, excluding the US and 
Canada. The index covers approximately 85% of the free float-adjusted market capitalization in each country.  
MSCI Emerging Markets captures large and mid-cap representation across Emerging Markets countries.  The index covers approximately 85% of the free-float 
adjusted market capitalization in each country
The Wilshire US Real Estate Securities Index (Wilshire US RESI) is comprised of publicly-traded real estate equity securities and designed to offer a market-based 
index that is more reflective of real estate held by pension funds.
Alerian MLP Index is a float adjusted, capitalization-weighted index, whose constituents represent approximately 85% of total float-adjusted market capitalization, is 
disseminated real-time on a price-return basis (AMZ) and on a total-return basis.
Bloomberg Commodity Index (BCI) is calculated on an excess return basis and reflects commodity futures price movements. The index rebalances annually 
weighted 2/3 by trading volume and 1/3 by world production and weight-caps are applied at the commodity, sector and group level for diversification.
Treasury Inflation-Protected Securities (TIPS) are Treasury bonds that are indexed to inflation to protect investors from the negative effects of rising prices. The 
principal value of TIPS rises as inflation rises.
HFRI Fund of Funds Composite is an equal-weighted index consisting of over 800 constituent hedge funds, including both domestic and offshore funds.
Cambridge Associates U.S. Private Equity Index (67% Buyout vs. 33% Venture) is based on data compiled from more than 1,200 institutional-quality buyout, 
growth equity, private equity energy, and mezzanine funds formed between 1986 and 2015.
HFN Hedge Fund Aggregate Average is an equal weighted average of all hedge funds and CTA/managed futures products reporting to the HFN Database. 
Constituents are aggregated from each of the HFN Strategy Specific Indices.
Goldman Sachs Commodity Index (GSCI) is a broadly diversified, unleveraged, long-only composite index of commodities that measures the performance of the 
commodity market.

25



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

 

DATE:                  February 14, 2024 

TO:                      Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:                Connor S. Martin, Mayor 

RE:                       PRESENTATION: ARPA Small Business Program  

 

Please allocate time on the February 20, 2024, town council meeting for the ARPA Small Business Program 
presentation by Development Director Eileen Buckheit.  
 
Please place this information on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024, meeting.  
 
C: E. Buckheit, Development Director  

  

 

 



 
 

TO: Mayor Connor Martin 

 

FROM: Eileen Buckheit, Development Director 

 

DATE: February 9. 2023 

 

RE: ARPA Small Business Assistance Program 

 

I am requesting an item be placed on the Town Council agenda for February 20, 2024 as a 

communication. 

 

Please reserve time for an update on the ARPA Small Business Assistance Program.    My staff and I will 

be in attendance to discuss the program, provide updates on the projects, and answer any questions 

from the council. 

 

 

Thank you.  



American Rescue Plan Act 

Small Business Assistance Program

TOWN OF
EAST HARTFORD

February 2024 Update



Program Overview

• Purpose is to assist East Hartford businesses that were impacted by the 

pandemic with initiatives that will aid in their recovery

• Funds can be used to expand infrastructure, purchase new equipment, 

renovate facades and/or hire employees

• Original allocation of $3.8 million

• $125,000 maximum award; applicants were awarded a percentage of their 

original requests based on priority scoring



Program Overview

• 52 applications approved totaling just over $3 million

• Over $2.5 million has been paid out as reimbursements or consortium 

vendor purchases

• Only three applications are still pending further documentation before 

approval

• $525,000 returned for other ARPA projects from applicants who withdrew 

their applications after awards



C Town

442 Main Street

Supermarket

$125,000

Towards total project cost of $1.45 million

Facade renovations, parking lot expansion



Main Hardware Supply

1191 Main Street

Hardware store

$93,750

Towards total project cost of over $112,000

Facade renovations – to continue in spring



Bare Bones Boxing

467 Silver Lane

Boxing gym

$125,000

Towards total project cost of $280,575

Relocated from Silver Lane Plaza

Business expansion, signage, new equipment, hiring



Perfect Poundcakes

221 Burnside Avenue

Bakery

$70,000

Baking and display equipment, food trailer



Costa East LLC

1016 Main Street

Former Eastwood Theater

$93,750

Facade renovation and creation of new retail units 

Before:



Carmine’s

389 Main Street

Restaurant

$37,000

New parking lot



Augie & Ray’s

314 Main Street

Restaurant

$47,000

New equipment



Charlie’s Pizzeria

386 Prospect Street

Restaurant

$93,750

New equipment



United Steel

164 School Street

Manufacturer

$125,000

New equipment



Dave’s Service Center

330 Main Street

Auto repair garage

$110,071

New wrecker truck



Bliss & Balance Healing Center

477 Connecticut Boulevard, 

Suite 202

Wellness center

$31,250

New equipment





 
 

TO: Mayor Connor Martin 

 

FROM: Eileen Buckheit, Development Director 

 

DATE: February 9. 2023 

 

RE: Land Use Commissioner Training Report to Town Council 

 

I am requesting an item be placed on the Town Council agenda for February 20, 2024 as a 

communication. 

 

Please see memo attached from Deputy Director Steve Hnatuck regarding the mandatory land use 

training which the State of Connecticut now requires for all our land use board members.  We are 

required to make this report to the Town Council by March 1st.   

 

Steve has included the members and date of training as well as the state requirements.  I will be in 

attendance if there are any questions.   

 

 

Thank you.  



TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD                      
Development & Planning Department 

740 Main Street, East Hartford, CT 06108 

Tel.: (860) 291-7300 

 
MEMORANDUM   
 
To:  Eileen Buckheit, Development Director   

From:   Steve Hnatuk, Deputy Development Director  

Subject: Land Use Commissioner Training Compliance 

Date:   February 9th, 2024 

 

As of January 1, 2023, land use commissioners including the Planning and Zoning Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals commissioners in the State of Connecticut are required to attend mandatory 
training. Commissioners who are in office as of 1/1/2023 must complete four hours of training by 
1/1/2024, and once every four years thereafter, or once every term for which such member is elected 
or appointed if such term is longer than four years. Commissioners taking office after 1/1/2023 must 
complete four hours of training not later than one year after taking office, and once every four years 
thereafter, or once every term for which such member is elected or appointed if such term is longer 
than four years. At least one hour out of the four-hour biennial training requirement must be related 
to Affordable and Fair Housing Policies.  
 
Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes § 8-4c, a certification is required to be made to the Town 
Council by March 1, 2024, affirming compliance with the training requirement established by the new 
law. 
 
The East Hartford Land Use commissioner training status is as follows:  
 

1) Planning and Zoning Commission – Compliant with Commissioner Training Requirements 

All members have completed required training except Valentine Povinelli who has not sought re-
appointment at the close of his term in December 2023. Valentine is anticipated to be replaced with a 
soon to be appointed member in February 2024. The commission is in compliance with Connecticut 
General Statutes § 8-4c. 
 

2) Zoning Board of Appeals – Compliant with Commissioner Training Requirements 

All members have completed the required training and the commission is not in compliance with 
Connecticut General Statutes § 8-4c. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals Member Training 
 

Member 
Date of 

Training 
Training Title 

Hours 
Complete 

Affordable 
Housing 

Requirement 

Training 
Status 

James 
McElroy 

1/27/2024 

1. CLEAR Bias, Predisposition, 
and Conflicts 

2. CLEAR Running a Meeting 
and Making a Decision 

3. CLEAR Fair and Affordable 
Housing 

4 Complete Complete 

David 
Repoli 

2/6/2024 

1. CLEAR Bias, Predisposition, 
and Conflicts 

2. CLEAR Running a Meeting 
and Making a Decision 

3. CLEAR Fair and Affordable 
Housing 

4 Complete Complete 

Erwin Hurst, 
Sr 

12/9/2023 1. CLEAR Land Use Academy 
Training  4 Complete Complete 

Daron 
Ross 

11/16/2023 

1. CLEAR Bias, Predisposition, 
and Conflicts 

2. CLEAR Running a Meeting 
and Making a Decision   

3. CLEAR Fair and Affordable 
Housing 

4 Complete Complete 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Planning and Zoning Commission Member Training 
 

Member 
Date of 

Training 
Training Title 

Number of 
Hours of 
Training 

Affordable 
Housing 

Requirement 
Training Status 

John Ryan 12/9/23 
1. CLEAR Land Use Academy 

Advanced Training December 9th, 
2023 

4 Complete Complete 

Hank 
Pawlowski 

1/10/24 

1. CLEAR Legal Requirements & 
Procedures, Roles & 
Responsibilities 

2. CLEAR Fundamentals of Plan 
Reading 

3. CLEAR, Bias Predisposition and 
Conflicts 

4. CLEAR Running a Meeting and 
Making a Decision 

5. CLEAR Fair and Affordable 
Housing 

5 Complete Complete 

Sid 
Soderhom 

12/9/23 

1. CLEAR Legal Requirements & 
Procedures, Roles, and 
Responsibilities  

2. CLEAR Fair and Affordable 
Housing 

3. CLEAR Land Use Academy 
Advanced Training December 9th, 
2023 

4. CLEAR Fundamentals of Reading 
Plans 

8 Complete Complete 

Stephen 
Roczynski 

1/7/24 

1. CLEAR, Bias Predisposition and 
Conflicts 

2. CLEAR Running a Meeting and 
Making a Decision 

3. CLEAR Land Use Academy 
Advanced Legal Procedures Fair 
And Affordable Housing 

4 Complete Complete 

Peter Marra 12/9/23 

1. CLEAR, Bias Predisposition and 
Conflicts 

2. CLEAR Running a Meeting and 
Making a Decision 

3. CLEAR Land Use Academy 
Advanced Legal Procedures Fair 
And Affordable Housing 

4 Complete Complete 

Wesaneit 
Tsegai 

12/9/23 
1. CLEAR Land Use Academy 

Advanced Training December 9th, 
2023 

4 Complete Complete 

Valentine 
Povinelli 

- 
*Note: Term ended December 2023. Not 
seeking re-appointment.  

- - Incomplete 

 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

DATE:  February 13, 2024 

TO:  Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:  Connor S. Martin, Mayor 

RE:  Ordinance 10-3(c) Disposition of Obsolete or Broken Town-Owned Equipment 

 

Pursuant to Section 10-3 (c), this memo serves as a notification of intent by the Fire Department to 
dispose of obsolete vehicle 2006 Ford Taurus vin 1FAFP5329-6A175680. The Finance Director deemed 
no value to the town in this vehicle so it will be auctioned off by the Public Works Department.  
 
The memo has been circulated among all department and received no interest.  
 
Please place this item on the Town Council agenda as a communication for the February 20, 2024 
meeting. 
 
C:  K. Munson, Fire Chief  
 A. Trujillo, DPW Director 
  
  
Sec. 10-3 (c): 
 
(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, the Mayor may authorize the 
disposal of any furniture or equipment that is determined by the Finance Director to be unsuitable for 
town use and of any computer equipment that is determined by the Information Technology Manager 
to be unsuitable for town use because of obsolescence or damage, provided no Director has indicated 
an interest in the property within fourteen days of notice of intent to dispose by the Mayor, and 
provided further, that if such furniture or equipment has some use other than for town use, such 
furniture or equipment shall be disposed by auction or other means of sale. The Mayor shall notify in 
writing the Town Council of any disposal or auction of property pursuant to this section prior to such 
disposal or auction. 
 
 
 
 



TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD 
 

740 Main Street  
East Hartford, Connecticut 06108 

 

CONNOR MARTIN 
MAYOR 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

KEVIN MUNSON 
FIRE CHIEF 

 
 
 

(860) 291-7200 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

WWW.EASTHARTFORDCT.GOV 

 
 

February 7, 2024 

 

TO:  Melissa McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer and Finance Director 

FROM: James Silver, Assistant Fire Chief 

RE:  Surplus Vehicle 

 

CAO McCaw, 

 

In accordance with Section 10-3 (c) of the Town of East Hartford Code of Ordinances, I 

am providing written notice of the fire department’s intent to dispose of the vehicle noted 

below.  This vehicle has reached the end of its serviceable use and repair costs far exceed 

the vehicle’s value. We will deliver the vehicle to Public Works for disposal at a time 

mutually convenient to both departments. 

 

The vehicle noted below has been removed from service and rendered as surplus. 

 

2006 Ford Taurus vin 1FAFP5329-6A175680 

 

 

Please contact me if you have any questions. 

 

 

 

Cc:  Connor Martin, Mayor 

 Ekaterine Tchelidze, Chief of Staff 

Alex Trujilo, Public Works Director 

Ed Walsh, Fleet Services Manager 

Kevin Munson, Fire Chief 

 



GRANTS ADMINISTRATION 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:  Mayor Connor S. Martin 
 
FROM:  Paul O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Council Resolution – Add Naubuc Avenue Area Sidewalks Project to 5-

Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 
 
DATE:  February 9, 2024 
 
 
Attached is a draft Town Council resolution authorizing the addition of the Naubuc 
Avenue Area Sidewalks Project to the Town’s 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) 
and approving the project for LoCIP funding. 
 
The installation and rehabilitation of sidewalks in and around the Naubuc Avenue Local 
Historic District has been proposed as a possible Local Capital Improvement Program 
(LoCIP) project.  In order to be eligible for LoCIP funding, a project must appear in a 
Town’s 5-Year CIP.  The attached resolution will make this addition to the CIP and 
authorize the Town to submit this project to OPM for authorization as a LoCIP project.. 
 
I respectfully request that this item be placed on the Town Council agenda for their 
meeting to be held on February 20, 2024.  Please contact me at extension 7206 if you 
have any questions. 
 
Attachments: as stated 
 
 
Cc:  Eileen Buckheit, Development Director 
  
 
 
  
 



 
 

 
 

  
 
 

I, Jason Marshall, the duly appointed Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of 
East Hartford, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Connecticut, hereby certify that the following is a true copy of a resolution 
adopted at a meeting of the East Hartford Town Council of said corporation, duly 
held on the 20th day of February, 2024 
 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
 
WHEREAS; the Town wishes to use Local Capital Improvement Program 
(LoCIP) funds to undertake installation/improvements of sidewalks on Naubuc 
Avenue and;  
 
WHEREAS; terms of LoCIP funding require that all grant-funded projects be 
listed on the Town’s Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan; 
 
  
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED; that the East Hartford Town 
Council does hereby approve the following project be added to the Five-Year 
Capital Improvement Plan: 
 

 Naubuc Avenue Area Sidewalks    $257,000 
 
 

AND I DO CERTIFY that the above resolution has not been in any way altered, 

amended, or repealed, and is now in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set my hand and affix the corporate seal 
of said Town of East Hartford the ___ day of February, 2024. 
 
 
        Seal                                             Signed: ___________________________ 
                                                                       Jason Marshall, Town Council Clerk 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

DATE:                    February 14, 2024 

TO:                        Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:                  Mayor Connor S. Martin 

RE:                        RESOLUTION: LoCIP Grant Allocations 

The Local Capital Improvement Program (LoCIP) of the State of Connecticut Office of Policy and 

Management distributes funds to municipalities to reimburse the cost of eligible local capital 

improvement projects.  

 

The following project has been identified for funding from LoCIP: 

 

CIP #  Project Name Amount Description 

2024-232 McAuliffe 

Park 

Irrigation

  

$140,000 Installation of irrigation systems at one hardball field 

and four softball fields improve turf quality and increase 

safety of play. 

2024-234 Parks 

Aluminum 

Bleachers 

$  30,000 Replace existing wooden bleachers at athletic fields that 

are in poor condition and lack safety backing (presenting 

a safety hazard to our town residents and visitors). 

 

2024-235 Fencing 

Replacement 

$  25,000 Replace Town fencing at parks, ball fields, and open 

spaces. Fencing is regularly damaged due to car 

collisions and other mishaps, often resulting in unsafe 

and unsightly conditions. 

 

2024-236 Martin Park 

Paving 

$300,000 Mill and pave the road and parking lot network in Martin 

Park, which are presently in poor and failing 

condition with numerous potholes, breaks in the 

pavement and eroding exposed earth surfaces. 

 

 Naubuc $257,000 Installation and replacement of sidewalks in and around 



 Avenue Area 

Sidewalks 

 

the Naubuc Avenue Local Historic District 

 

Please place this resolution on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024 Town Council 

meeting. 

 

Thank you. 

 

C: P. O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 

 E. Buckheit, Development Director 

 M. McCaw, Finance Director  

  

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I, Jason Marshall, the duly appointed Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of East 
Hartford, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Connecticut, hereby certify that the following is a true copy of a Resolution adopted at a 
meeting of the East Hartford Town Council of said corporation, duly held on the 20th day 
of February, 2024. 
 
 
RESOLVED:  That Connor S. Martin, Mayor of the Town of East Hartford, is authorized 
to make application to, and execute and approve on behalf of this corporation, any and 
all documents as may be required by the State of Connecticut Office of Policy and 
Management to secure Local Capital Improvement Program funds (LoCIP) in the 
amount of $752,000 for the following projects:  
 

 McAuliffe Park Irrigation     $140,000 
 Parks Aluminum Bleachers     $  30,000 
 Fencing Replacement  at Town Parks & Fields  $  25,000 
 Martin Park Paving      $300,000 
 Naubuc Sidewalks      $257,000 

         TOTAL: $752,000 
 
AND I DO FURTHER CERTIFY that the above resolution has not been in any ways 
altered, amended, or repealed, and is now in full force and effect. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set my hand and affix the corporate seal of said 
Town of East Hartford this ____ day of February, 2024. 
 
 
 

                                                                                 
________________________________ 

                  Jason Marshall, Town Council Clerk 
 
 
 
             seal 
 
 
 
 



 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
 
DATE:  February 20, 2024 
 
TO:         Connor S. Martin, Mayor 
 
FROM:  Melissa N. McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer & Director of Finance 
 
TELEPHONE:    (860) 291-7246 
 
RE:                 Local No. 818 Contract Settlement and Fund Settlement Transfer  

 

 
By way of this memo, attached please find the financial analysis related to the Local No. 818 
contract settlement. On November 29, 2023, the Town received the arbitration panel award settling all 
matters pertaining to the Local No. 818 Contract, for the period of July 1,2022 through June 30, 2026. 
 
The Town is required to provide retroactive pay to July 1, 2022.  Therefore, the cost to be incurred in 
fiscal year 2024 covers two fiscal years (FY23 and FY24). To cover the costs related to the settlement, 
$132,589 (rounded) will need to be transferred to the respective salary accounts by way of a 
Contingency Transfer. In addition, an additional ARPA allocation of $11,200 is requested to support 
the Premium Pay provision of the settled contract.  
 
Please note: Under Section 8.11 of the agreement concerning COVID Pay, bargaining unit members 
who were employed by the Town between March 1, 2020 and December 31, 2021, and are still 
employed by the Town at the time of issuance of the Award in Case No. 2023-MBA-149, shall receive a 
$800 payment. All other bargaining unit members employed by the Town upon issuance of the Award 
in Case No. 2023-MBA-149 will receive $400. 
 
Please see a summary below of the financial requirements and associated transfers: 

Wage Cost

FY2023 72,845.68     
FY2024 91,733.46     

164,579.14   

Less: Existing ARPA (20,800.00)    

143,779.14   

Less: New ARPA Request (11,200.00)    

Rounding 10.00              

Net General Fund Transfer 132,589.14    
 
If approved, this funding will satisfy the contact settlement requirements through June 30, 2024, 
including all retroactive pay.  
 
Please contact me if you have any questions or problems with any of the aforementioned information. 



TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD 
 

740 Main Street  
East Hartford, Connecticut 06108 

 

CONNOR S. MARTIN 
MAYOR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TYRON HARRIS DIRECTOR 
OFFICE OF HUMAN 

RESOURCES 
 
 

(860) 291-7220 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

WWW.EASTHARTFORDCT.GOV 

January 31, 2024 
 
The Hon. Richard F. Kehoe & The Hon. Mayor Connor S. Martin 
740 Main Street 
East Hartford, CT  06108 
  
Re:  LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 
 
 We reached an agreement with Local LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 

Attached is the agreement LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4, and the Binding 
Arbitration Award was on Tuesday, December 5. 

 
Note that for the financials, the Union agreed to 8.5% general wage increases over four 
years and bi-weekly payroll. Additionally, effective upon ratification and Town Council 
approval, all active employees of the Bargaining Unit shall receive a one (1) Premium Pay 
lump sum payment of eight hundred fifty dollars ($800). 

INSURANCE AND PENSION 
1. Effective July 1, 2022, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute eleven percent (11%) of the cost of his or her insurance coverage. 
 
2. Effective July 1, 2023, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute eleven and one-half percent (11.5%) of the cost of his or her 
insurance coverage. 

 
3. Effective July 1, 2024, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute twelve percent (12%) of the cost of his or her insurance coverage. 
 
4.   Effective July 1, 2025, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute twelve and one-half percent (12.5%) of the cost of his or her 
insurance   

 
The PPO will be replaced with the HDHP for all employees retiring on or after July 1, 
2019. The deductible will be $2,000 single, $4,000 family. 
 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
Effective July 1, 2025, the contribution will increase to 1.50%. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or want to discuss the contract details in an 
executive session. 
 
  
Thanks, 



The Town of East Hartford
For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024
Settlement Fund Transfer - LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4
Prepared as of February 7, 2024
Binding Arbitration Award was on Wednesday, November 29, 2023

FROM
Account Number Name Amount
G9600-60201 Reserve - Contract Negotiations 132,589$            

TO
Account Number Name Amount
G2400-60110 Permanent Services 4,360$                 
G2600-60110 Permanent Services 2,287$                 
G2950-60110 Permanent Services 5,685$                 
G3200-60110 Permanent Services 6,824$                 
G3300-60110 Permanent Services 5,464$                 
G3700-60110 Permanent Services 5,529$                 
G5203-60110 Permanent Services 3,410$                 
G5400-60110 Permanent Services 9,485$                 
G7200-60110 Permanent Services 5,777$                 
G7300-60110 Permanent Services 26,831$              
G7400-60110 Permanent Services 5,263$                 
G7700-60110 Permanent Services 5,270$                 
G7800-60110 Permanent Services 9,004$                 
G8100-60110 Permanent Services 4,698$                 
G8200-60110 Permanent Services 16,385$              
G9100-60110 Permanent Services 4,482$                 
G9200-60110 Permanent Services 396$                    
G9300-60110 Permanent Services 4,697$                 
G9400-60110 Permanent Services 2,547$                 
G9430-60110 Permanent Services 4,195$                 

132,589$            

The funds being transferred are certified as available and unobligated.

Melissa N. McCaw, Director of Finance

Connor S. Martin, Mayor

Jason Marshall, Town Council Clerk

Dated this 20th day of February, 2024



Reallocation of ARPA Funds re: Settlement Fund Transfer - LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 
 
                           To adopt the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS; the Town has been awarded $24,561,068 in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds 
from the U.S. Treasury; and 
 
WHEREAS; in order to most effectively use these funds, the authorization of new projects is 
periodically necessary;   
 
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED; that Connor S. Martin, Mayor of the Town of East Hartford, 
is authorized to make the following transfers among ARPA Accounts:  
 
1.    Transfer $11,200 from “Small Business Support and Resources – Qualified Census Tracts” to 
“ARPA Unallocated Balance” 
 
2.    Transfer $11,200 from “ARPA Unallocated Balance” to “818 Premium Pay” 

  
 



The Town of East Hartford

LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4

Prepared as of February 7, 2024
Binding Arbitration Award was on Wednesday, November 29, 2023

Budgeted Positions: 32

Active Employees: 30

Term of Contract: July 1,2022 - June 30, 2026 4 Years

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

Current Eff. 7/1/22 Eff. 7/1/23 Eff. 7/1/24 Eff. 7/1/25

Base - 6/30/22 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026

Wages: 2.50% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Health Insurance Contr. (Employee) 11% 11% 11.5% 12% 12.5%

OPEB Contribution: 1% 1% 1% 1% 1.50%

FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4

@2.50% @2.00% @2.00% @2.00%

6/30/22 Base* 6/30/23 Base 6/30/24 Base 6/30/25 Base 6/30/26 Base

Regular Wages 2,571,179        2,635,459     2,688,168            2,741,931            2,796,770             

Overtime 342,648           351,214        358,238               365,403               372,711                

Holiday Pay -                    -                 -                       -                       -                         

Premium Pay (1) Lump sum -                 32,000                 -                       -                         

Total Wages 2,913,827        2,986,673     3,078,407           3,107,335           3,169,481             

Annual Increase 2.913               72,846          91,733                28,928                62,147                  

% Increase 2.5% 3.1% 0.9% 2.0%

Healthcare Contribution (Employee) (68,895)            (70,618)         (75,304)                (80,150)                (85,159)                 

Annual Increase (1,722)           (4,686)                 (4,846)                 (5,009)                  

% Increase 2.5% 6.6% 6.4% 6.3%

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) (9,120)              (9,348)           (9,535)                  (9,726)                  (9,920)                   

Annual Increase (228)              (187)                    (191)                    (195)                      

% Increase 2.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Net Annual Cost 2,844,932        2,916,055     3,003,102           3,027,185           3,084,322             

Annual Increase 71,123          87,047                24,082                57,137                  

% Increase 2.5% 3.0% 0.8% 1.9%

Summary of Financial Impact

Wage Incr. Wage Incr. Health Prem. Ann. Net Cumulative % Incr.

Year Per Year Total Share Incr. Increase Increase Annual

1 72,846                             72,846              (1,722)           -                       71,123                 71,123                  2.5%

2 91,733                             164,579           (4,686)           87,047                 158,170                3.0%

3 28,928                             193,507           (4,846)           24,082                 182,253                0.8%

4 62,147                             255,654           (5,009)           57,137                 239,390                1.9%

Total 255,654                          686,586           (16,264)         -                       239,390               650,937                8.2%

Average Annual % Increase 2.0%

(1) Lump Sum 

Pmt

**New Contract caps accumulated sick leave to 150 days. This will result in a lower liability for sick leave payout upon retirement, resulting in 

budgetary savings. 

*OPEB Contributions and Benefits apply to only eight (8) 818 employees. 

1



  

4869-5475-1649, v. 1 

 

 

 

 

 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
 

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD 
 

and 
 

EAST HARTFORD SUPERVISORS UNION 
LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 

AFSCME AFL-CIO 
 

July 1, 2022– June 30, 2026 
 

 

 

 
  

                                                 
 Based on Interest Arbitration Award dated November 29, 2023 re: Case No.: 2023-MBA-149 



  

4869-5475-1649, v. 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE I RECOGNITION ................................................................................................. 1 
Section 1.0 ................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.1 ................................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE II UNION SECURITY .......................................................................................... 1 
Section 2.0 ................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 2.1 ................................................................................................................... 1 
Section 2.2 ................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.3 ................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.4 ................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.5 ................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 2.6 ................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE III SENIORITY ..................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.0 ................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.1 ................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 3.2 ................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.3 ................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.4 ................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3.5 ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.6 ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.7 ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.8 ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.9 ................................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.10 ................................................................................................................. 6 

ARTICLE IV HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY ................................... 6 
Section 4.0 ................................................................................................................... 6 
Section 4.1 ................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 4.2 ................................................................................................................... 7 
Section 4.3 ................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 4.4 ................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 4.5 ................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 4.6 ................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE V HOLIDAYS ....................................................................................................... 8 
Section 5.0 ................................................................................................................... 8 
Section 5.1 ................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 5.2 ................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 5.3 ................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 5.4 ................................................................................................................... 9 

ARTICLE VI VACATIONS ................................................................................................... 9 
Section 6.0 ................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 6.1 ................................................................................................................... 9 
Section 6.2 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.3 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.4 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.5 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.6 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.7 ................................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.8 ................................................................................................................. 10 



  

4869-5475-1649, v. 1 

ARTICLE VII LEAVE PROVISIONS .................................................................................. 11 
Section 7.0:  Sick Leave ............................................................................................. 11 
Section 7.1:  Special Leave with Pay: ........................................................................ 12 
Section 7.2:  Family Medical Leave ............................................................................ 13 
Section 7.3:  Unpaid Leave of Absence: .................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE VIII WAGES AND BENEFITS ........................................................................... 14 
Section 8.0 ................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 8.1 ................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 8.2 ................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 8.2 (a) ............................................................................................................ 14 
Section 8.3 ................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 8.4 ................................................................................................................. 14 
Section 8.5 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.6 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.7 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.8 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.9 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.10 ............................................................................................................... 15 
Section 8.11 ............................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE IX INSURANCE AND PENSION ....................................................................... 15 
Section 9.0 ................................................................................................................. 15 
Section 9.1 ................................................................................................................. 18 
Section 9.2 Retiree Health Insurance ......................................................................... 18 
Section 9.3 Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) ............................................... 19 

ARTICLE X SAFETY AND HEALTH ................................................................................. 19 
Section 10.0 ............................................................................................................... 19 
Section 10.1 ............................................................................................................... 19 
Section 10.2 ............................................................................................................... 19 
Section 10.3 ............................................................................................................... 19 
Section 10.4 ............................................................................................................... 20 
Section 10.5 ............................................................................................................... 20 
Section 10.6 ............................................................................................................... 20 
Section 10.7 ............................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE XI DISCIPLINARY ACTION .............................................................................. 20 
Section 11.0 ............................................................................................................... 20 
Section 11.1 ............................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE XII SAVING CLAUSE ........................................................................................ 20 
Section 12.0 ............................................................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE XIII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ....................................................................... 21 
Section 13.0 ............................................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.1 ............................................................................................................... 21 
Section 13.2 ............................................................................................................... 22 
Section 13.3 ............................................................................................................... 22 
Section 13.4 ............................................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE XIV MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ........................................................................... 22 
ARTICLE XV DURATION .................................................................................................. 22 

Section 15.0 ............................................................................................................... 22 
Section 15.1 ............................................................................................................... 22 

APPENDIX A ..................................................................................................................... 24 
APPENDIX B July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI ............................................................ 25 



  

4869-5475-1649, v. 1 

APPENDIX B-1 July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................ 26 
APPENDIX B-2 July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................ 27 
APPENDIX B-3 July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................ 28 
APPENDIX C .................................................................................................................... 29 
APPENDIX D TRIPLE OPTIONAL DENTAL PLAN .......................................................... 30 
APPENDIX E BLUEVIEW VISION RIDER ........................................................................ 32 
APPENDIX F HEALTH BENEFIT OPT-OUT FORM ......................................................... 33 
APPENDIX G ATTESTATION FOR $600 WELLNESS REWARD .................................... 34 
APPENDIX H HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS ............. 35 
APPENDIX I   MILITARY LEAVE POLICY ........................................................................ 40 
 

 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     1 

WITNESSETH 
 
This agreement is entered into between the Town of East Hartford, hereinafter referred to 
as the "Town" and Local #818 of Council #4, of the American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union". 

 
ARTICLE I 

RECOGNITION 
Section 1.0 
The Town recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose 
of collective bargaining on matters of wages, hours of employment and all other conditions 
of employment for all supervisory employees of the Town of East Hartford, excluding the 
Director of Libraries, Deputy Director of Finance, and Police and Fire Supervisors and 
Department Heads as defined by the Act.  Reference is hereby made to decision No. 1769 
of the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations and to Memorandum of Agreement dated 
November 30, 1992. 
 
The provisions of the Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining 
unit without discrimination because of age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, 
color, creed, national origin, disability or any other class protected by law, political affiliation 
or union membership. 
 
Section 1.1 
Whenever used in this agreement, the word "his" shall be interpreted to include the word 
"her” and the word "employee" shall be interpreted to include the plural thereof. 

 
ARTICLE II 

UNION SECURITY 
Section 2.0 
The Town agrees to deduct weekly Union dues in whatever sum is established by the Union 
as the regular monthly dues uniformly required as a condition of retaining membership 
therein, upon the receipt of an assignment.  If, for any reason, a deduction was not made on 
the payday in which Union dues were to be deducted, a sufficient amount will be deducted 
in the first pay period in which the employee has sufficient funds due him to bring his 
deductions up to date.  The sum which represents such weekly Union dues deductions shall 
be certified to the Town as constituting such by the duly authorized Financial Officer of the 
Union.  If the sum once certified is changed, the amount deducted from the earnings of an 
employee who has authorized such deductions shall not be increased or decreased until 
thirty (30) days' written notice of such change has been received by the Town from the duly 
authorized Financial Officer of the Union.  
 
Section 2.1 
Deductions provided for in Section 2.0 shall be remitted to the duly authorized Financial 
Officer of the Union not later than one (1) week following the end of each month, following 
the pay period in which the deduction is made.  The Town will simultaneously furnish the 
duly authorized Financial Officer of the Union, each month, a record of the employees from 
whose earnings deductions have been made. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     2 

Section 2.2 
The Town agrees to deduct Union dues or service fees required to be paid pursuant to this 
Article, provided, however, that no deductions hereunder shall be made without the written 
authorization of the employee, which authorization shall be on a form mutually agreed to by 
the Town and the Union. 
 
The Town's obligation to make such deductions shall terminate automatically upon 
termination of the employee who signed the authorization, or upon his transfer to a job not 
covered by this Agreement, or written revocation by the employee of the authorization, 
except that deductions shall be resumed if an employee, terminated by layoff, is rehired with 
seniority rights during the life of the contract then in existence and the authorization has not 
been revoked. 
 
The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Town harmless against any and all claims, 
demands, suits or proceedings arising out of, or by reason of, any action taken or not taken 
by the Town in reliance upon the Union security and check-off provisions of this Agreement 
or on the correctness of any dues or service fee deduction authorization furnished by the 
Union to the Town.  The Town shall call upon the Union to defend any suits or proceedings 
arising out of the foregoing indemnity and the Union shall promptly defend such suits or 
proceedings without cost to the Town and in the event the Union fails to defend such suits 
or proceedings, the Town shall undertake such defense and costs thereof shall be charged 
to the Union. 
 
Section 2.3 
All employees in the bargaining unit, who are members of the Union, shall tender regular 
periodic dues to the Union. 
 
Upon receipt of an individually signed authorization, the Employer agrees to deduct monthly 
from the wages of employees who on the date of the Agreement are or thereafter become 
members of the Union or voluntarily elect to pay a service fee in lieu thereof, whatever sum 
is established by the Union as the regular monthly dues uniformly required as a condition of 
retaining membership therein. 
 
The sum which represents such monthly dues deductions shall be certified to the Employer 
as constituting such dues deductions by the duly authorized financial officer of the Union. If 
the sum once certified is changed, the amount deducted from the earnings of an employee 
who has authorized such deductions shall not be increased until thirty (30) days written 
notice of such change has been received by the Employer from a duly authorized officer of 
the Union. 
 
Section 2.4 
At least one bulletin board shall be reserved, at an accessible place in each division, for the 
exclusive use of the Union for the posting of Official Union notices or announcements. 
 
Section 2.5 
The Town will provide the Union with sufficient copies of this Agreement, within thirty (30) 
days after the signing of this Agreement.  The local Union will receive one (1) and Council 
#4 will receive two (2) originally signed copies of this agreement. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     3 

Section 2.6 
In accordance with Public Act 21-15, the Town shall provide to the union, in an editable 
digital file format, and, if possible, in a format agreed to by the union, the following 
information: 
 

a. Name 
b. Job title 
c. Department 
d. Work location 
e. Work telephone number and 
f. The home address of any newly hired employee. 

 
The public employer shall provide the union such information, if possible, with real-time 
electronic transmission of new hire data but in no event later than ten days after such 
employee is hired or the first pay period of the month following the hiring of such employee, 
whichever is earlier. 
 
All new hires which are represented by the bargaining unit, within fifteen (15) days of their 
start date, shall be released from work, for one (1) hour without loss of pay, to attend a union 
orientation. Management shall not be present during the union’s orientation.  
 

ARTICLE III 
SENIORITY 

Section 3.0 
(A) Each employee’s seniority shall be determined by his length of service with the Town 

since the most recent date of hire.  The Town shall prepare a list of all bargaining unit 
employees showing their seniority in length of service with the Town and deliver the 
same to the Union on December 1 of each year.  Upon completion of their probationary 
period, new employees shall be added to this list. 

 
(B) Bargaining unit seniority as used in this agreement will be defined as length of service 

in this bargaining unit upon completion of the probationary period in Section 3.1. 
 
Section 3.1 
(A) New employees shall serve a probationary period of six (6) months from the date of 

hire, which may be extended for three (3) months by mutual agreement between the 
department head and the Union, and they shall have no seniority rights during this 
period, but shall be subject to all other provisions of this Agreement.  All employees 
who have completed their probationary period shall be full-time employees and shall 
acquire seniority as of the date of their employment. 

 
 (B) Employees new to positions in this bargaining unit shall serve a probationary period 

of three (3) months from the date they come into this bargaining unit.  The employee 
shall be evaluated by the new supervisor at least twice in the first month and once 
each month thereafter during the probationary period.  The supervisor may return the 
employee to his/her former position at the end of the six (6) month probationary period 
if the written evaluations show the employee is not performing well in the new position.  
They shall have no bargaining unit seniority rights during this period and shall be 
subject to all other provisions of this Agreement. 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     4 

Section 3.2 
At any time during the probationary period, the appointing authority may recommend, in 
writing, to the Human Resources Director, the removal of an employee if, in his opinion, the 
working test indicates that the employee is unable or unwilling to perform the duties of his 
position satisfactorily, or that his habits or dependability do not merit his continuing in the 
position.  The reason for his dismissal shall be made in writing to the Human Resources 
Director, the employee and to the Union.  The dismissal of an employee during the 
probationary period shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. 
 
Section 3.3 
(A) All vacancies and new positions shall be posted for a period of five (5) working days 

on bulletin boards to be provided for such purpose, prior to any action taken by the 
Town to fill such vacancies or new positions.  Employees will not be permitted a lateral 
or demotional transfer outside of their division more than once in a twelve-month 
period.  Employees wishing to be considered for assignment to such vacancies or new 
positions may, personally or through their Steward, submit their request to their 
supervisor in writing.   

 
 Employees requesting consideration and who were not selected for such assignment, 

in accordance with the provision of this Agreement, may appeal the action through the 
grievance procedure. 

 
(B) Copies of each job posting and a list of the persons bidding for the job shall be sent to 

the Union Secretary at the end of the posting period. 
 
Section 3.4 
(A) When a vacancy exists or a new position is created, the employee with the highest 

department or division seniority from within the department or division wherein the 
vacancy or new position exists, shall be given the first opportunity to fill the position, 
provided he has the ability and qualifications to perform the work. If he/she refuses, it 
shall go to the next senior person who has the qualifications and ability to perform the 
work. If a promoted employee proves to be unable to perform the work within three (3) 
months, he shall be returned to a position in his former classification and shift in the 
department or division from which he came.  This shall not have any effect on any 
future promotions. 

 
(B) If no employee in the department or division wherein the vacancy or new position 

exists is qualified, the position shall be filled by an employee from other departments 
or divisions in the bargaining unit, provided that the employee is qualified. 

 
(C) If no employees in the bargaining unit are qualified, the position may be filled 

through recruitment of applicants not employed by the Town. 
 
(D) The person appointed to the vacancy or new position and the Union Secretary shall 

be notified, in writing, of the appointment and the vacancy shall be filled as soon as 
possible. 

 
(E) Whenever an employee is temporarily promoted to another class having a higher 

maximum rate of pay, the rule for promotion as provided in Section 8.4 shall not apply.  
The rate of pay for such employee shall be his rate of pay in the former class; provided 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     5 

however that, after such employee has worked a total of thirty (30) working days within 
the most recent two year period in said higher class, Section 8.4 shall apply to 
determine the level of compensation for the remainder of the temporary assignment.  
When the employee is returned to the former class, the rate of pay shall be at the step 
previously received before the temporary promotion plus any step increases that 
would have occurred during the interim. 

 
(F) In the absence of one or both Public Works superintendents, acting superintendents 

can be assigned at the discretion of the department head. 
 
(G) In the absence of the Park superintendent, an acting superintendent may be assigned 

at the discretion of the department head. 
 
Section 3.5 
Layoffs shall take effect as follows: 
 
(A) Part-time employees and temporary employees 
 
(B) Employees working twenty (20) hours a week but less than forty (40) hours per week. 
 
(C) Probationary employees. 
 
(D) The employees with the least bargaining unit seniority shall be laid off first within 

classification.  An employee whose position is eliminated shall have the option to bump 
the least senior employee in the same classification.  The least senior employee within 
the affected classification shall have the option to bump the least senior employee in 
any lateral or lower classification which either was previously held by the bumping 
employee, or for which the bumping employee is qualified.   

 
Section 3.6 
Laid-off employees with the most bargaining unit seniority shall be rehired first to any lower 
or lateral classification the laid-off employee has the ability to perform or any higher 
classification where the laid-off employee is qualified in accordance with the collective 
agreement, and no new employee shall be hired until all laid-off employees have been given 
an opportunity to return to work. 
 
Section 3.7 
Part-time employees are those employees who are not on the list furnished to the Union 
under 3.0 of this Article. 
 
Section 3.8 
Shift preference will be granted on the basis of department or division seniority within the 
classification as openings occur.  Before vacancies are filled, employees in the classification 
will be given shift preference, as provided in this section. 
 
Section 3.9 
An employee shall lose his seniority rights under any of the following circumstances: 
 
(A) If he resigns. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     6 

(B) If he is discharged for just cause. 
 
(C) If he has been laid-off for lack of work and such layoff continues for more than two (2) 

years. 
 
(D) If he fails to report to work within (10) working days after due notice by the Town to 

the employee's last known address to return to work after layoff, provided the 
employee makes known his desire to return within five (5) days. 

 
Section 3.10 
For all purposes, except layoff, the seniority rights of the Union President, Vice-President, 
Secretary and Treasurer, as well as Stewards, shall be exactly the same as the seniority 
rights of all other employees, except as provided below: 
 
(A) In the case of a layoff, the above-named Union Officials will have super-seniority 

during their term of office, provided they have the qualifications to fill the vacant 
positions. 

ARTICLE IV 
HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY 

Section 4.0 
(A) Except as otherwise provided, the regular hours of employment for employees 

represented by the union in the Public Works Department and Parks Department shall 
be forty (40) hours per week divided equally over five working days of eight (8) hours, 
Monday through Friday, beginning at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 3:30 p.m. with 1/2 hour 
for lunch.  If there is a second shift it shall begin at 3:00 p.m. and end at 11:30 p.m. 
with 1/2 hour for supper. If there is a third shift it shall begin at 11:00 p.m. and end at 
7:30 a.m. with 1/2 hour for supper. 

 
 (B) The Collector of Revenue, Supervisor of Administration and Environmental Control, 

Information Technology Manager, Grants Administrator, Town Engineer, Assistant 
Director of Finance, Assessor, Assistant Director of Public Works, Supervisor of 
Nursing, and Police Records Supervisor shall normally work between the hours of 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday with one (1) hour for lunch.  The Assistant 
Library Director shall work five (5) days of seven (7) hours with one (1) hour for lunch.  
Normal work hours will be scheduled during library open hours and may include 
evening (12-8) and/or Saturday (9-5) shifts. This constitutes a regular work day of 
seven (7) hours and a regular work week of thirty-five (35) hours.  Should the interests 
of the Town require it, the incumbents of the positions cited herein may either 
occasionally, seasonally, or periodically work a different schedule of hours provided 
the union and the affected employees concur. 

 
(C) For all Police Communications Supervisors, the work schedule is an 8.75 hour 

workday with 4-days-on and 3 days-off, rotating every eight (8) weeks. The Chief of 
Police, or his designee, will be responsible for assigning all Police Communications 
Supervisors to the appropriate shifts. Shift rotation is on a 56-day cycle.  Initial 
placement on a shift is determined by seniority bidding.  The bid period shall be for a 
period equal to 56 days times the number of Communications Supervisors employed 
at the time of the bidding.   

 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     7 

At the end of 56 days, all shift assignments are rotated.  The rotation is: 
 

Relief to Eves 
Eves to Days 
Days to Mids 
Mids to Relief 
 

The swapping of assigned shifts will be administered as follows: 
 
1)  All exchanges must be requested in writing, signed by all involved parties, and 

received by the Chief of Police or his designee at least 24 hours in advance of the 
beginning of the desired swap period. 

 
2)  All exchanges shall be reviewed and approved or disapproved in advance by the 

Chief of Police or his/her designee. 
 

3) The Department shall not incur any liability to pay overtime or compensatory time 
as a result of the swap.  No swap shall be approved which would violate any 
applicable State or Federal regulations or laws regarding the payment of overtime.  
No swap shall be approved which would violate any requirement of the collective 
bargaining agreement regarding the payment of overtime or which imposes 
restrictions regarding the number of hours that may be worked. 

 
4) Once a swap has been approved, the work schedule(s) shall be amended to 

reflect the change.  Upon approval, the responsibility for the shift shall rest with 
the employee now scheduled to work.  If the employee becomes ill and cannot 
work, he/she shall be charged with the sick time deduction, and the now-vacant 
shift will be filled in the same manner as any other vacant shift.  Any and all types 
of approved time off will be deducted from the employee taking responsibility for 
the shift. 

 
5) Except as described above, the exchanging of shifts, or a portion of any shift, is 

prohibited. 
 

Section 4.1 
Time and one-half shall be paid to non-exempt employees for: 
 
(A) All work performed in excess of the regularly scheduled hours of work in any one day 

and any work performed in excess of the regularly scheduled hours of work in any 
work week. 

 
(B) All work performed on Saturday (does not apply to Police Communication 

Supervisors). 
 
(C) When the Waste Services Supervisor and/or Foreman works on a Saturday, he shall 

be compensated for eight (8) hours or the total time worked, whichever is greater. 
 
Section 4.2 
Double time shall be paid for: 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     8 

(A) All work performed on Sunday (does not apply to Police Communication Supervisors). 
 

(B) All overtime work performed on the holidays listed in Article V, Section 5.0. 
 
Section 4.3 
(A) When an employee is called in for work outside his regularly scheduled working hours, 

he shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate. 
 
(B) When an employee is pre-scheduled to report for meetings of Town Boards or 

Commissions outside his regularly scheduled working hours, he shall be paid a 
minimum of two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate. 

 
(C) A superintendent may, at the department head's discretion be authorized to work 

overtime whenever two or more Local 818 subordinates are called in for overtime 
work. 

 
Section 4.4 
(A) All bargaining unit work will be done by bargaining unit employees unless there are no 

qualified bargaining unit employees available or if unforeseen circumstances occur 
which makes the use of bargaining unit employees impossible. 

 
(B) The Town agrees that the Assistant Director of Public Works shall not be assigned or 

perform bargaining unit duties of subordinate bargaining unit employees. 
 
Section 4.5 
All work performed on an overtime basis shall first be offered to employee(s) who regularly 
perform such work.  Supervisory overtime in Police Communications will be performed only 
by qualified certified employees. 
 
Section 4.6 
Compensatory time shall not accumulate to more than ninety (90) hours.  An employee may 
elect in lieu of overtime payment, compensatory time off for such overtime worked at the 
applicable overtime rate. 

ARTICLE V 
HOLIDAYS 

Section 5.0 
The following holidays shall be observed as days off with full pay: 
 
New Year's Day Memorial Day Veterans Day 
Martin Luther King's Birthday Independence Day Thanksgiving Day 
Lincoln's Birthday Labor Day Christmas Day 
Washington's Birthday Columbus Day Good Friday 
 
The employee’s birthday shall constitute an additional paid holiday. Any employee’s birthday 
falling on a weekend or holiday shall be celebrated within the month in which it occurs. With 
the prior approval of the Department Head, an employee may select another day within the 
calendar month on which to observe the birthday. 
 
Any unanticipated holiday or day of mourning declared by the Mayor, or his designee, and 
celebrated by all other Town employees, other than Board of Education employees, in the 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     9 

form of time off with pay, shall be granted to the members of this bargaining unit.  A holiday 
shall mean a day in which the usual Town business is suspended for the commemoration of 
some event or person. 
 
Section 5.1 
(A) Holidays falling on Saturday shall be celebrated on the preceding day. 
 
(B) Holidays falling on a Sunday shall be celebrated on Monday. 
 
Section 5.2 
Whenever any of these holidays shall occur while an employee is out on sick leave, the 
employee shall be granted an additional day off at a time mutually agreeable to the 
department or division head with no charge to sick leave. 
 
Section 5.3 
When a holiday occurs while an employee is on vacation, said holiday shall not be charged 
against the employee's earned vacation time.  The employee shall be granted an additional 
day off at a time mutually agreeable to the employee and the department or division head. 
 
Section 5.4 
Article V, Sections 5.0, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, and any other contract language regarding holidays, 
shall not apply to Police Communications Supervisors.  In lieu of days off with pay for 
holidays, Police Communications Supervisors shall receive an amount equal to 7% of their 
base wage, payable on the first payday of each December.  This lump sum payment will be 
based upon the rate of pay in effect on December 1st and shall not become a part of base 
pay.   

ARTICLE VI 
VACATIONS 

Section 6.0 
Employees covered by this Agreement shall earn vacation at the current base rate of pay 
as follows: 
 
(A) One week for six months but less than one (1) year of service. 

 
(B) Two weeks for one (1) year but less than five (5) years of service. 
 
(C) Three weeks for five (5) years of service. 
 
(D) Four weeks for ten (10) years of service. 
 
(E) One additional day of vacation after completing fifteen (15) full years of service for a 

total maximum of five (5) weeks for twenty (20) years or more of service. 
 
(F) The employee's anniversary date will be used to determine the amount of vacation 

time due. 
 
Section 6.1 
The scheduling of vacation periods will be made by the Town, in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 6.2 and 6.3, no later than April 15th of the vacation year.  However, 
employees shall have the right to change their vacation for good reason. 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     10 

 
Section 6.2 
Requested dates for vacation leave shall be granted with due consideration to the wishes of 
the employee except that it may be deferred by the Department Head, or his designee so 
as not to conflict with the emergency or peak workloads of the department or division. 
 
Section 6.3 
Whenever there shall be a conflict in requested date(s), preference will be given to 
employees according to seniority.  
 
Section 6.4 
When an employee has exhausted his/her sick leave, he/she must elect to use any other 
accumulated time unless the employee has requested and received a leave of absence as 
prescribed in Article 7, Section 7.6. 
 
Section 6.5 
When an employee is separated from Town service, he shall be paid his pro-rata 
accumulated vacation leave.  In the event of an employee's death, such payment shall be 
made to the employee's estate. 
 
Section 6.6 
Effective 1 January 1989, the maximum accumulation of vacation leave permitted will be 
fifty (50) days.  Employees hired prior to January 1, 1989 may accumulate more than fifty 
(50) days’ vacation.  However, they may not carry over more than fifty (50) vacation days 
from one anniversary date to another.  Earned vacation leave will be credited to the 
employee’s record on his/her anniversary date effective with calendar year 1989.  No 
vacation beyond fifty (50) days will be paid by the Town at retirement or separation.  No 
vacation leave may be used during the sixty (60) days prior to retirement without prior 
approval from the Town.  When an employee is separated from Town Service, he/she shall 
be paid his/her pro-rata accumulated vacation leave to a maximum of fifty (50) days.  Only 
forty (40) of the fifty (50) days shall be credited to the employee’s pension calculation. 
 
Section 6.7 
In determining vacations the Town shall schedule vacations from the smallest practicable 
units in order to provide the greatest number of concurrent vacations possible.  For Police 
Communications Supervisors, vacation weeks shall be the same as pay weeks, beginning 
on a Sunday and ending on the following Saturday.  No more than one Communications 
Supervisor will be permitted to be on a vacation week at any time, however, exceptions may 
be made by the Chief or his designee. 
 
Section 6.8 
In the event that an employee becomes sick during his/her vacation, an employee may elect 
to charge the vacation time that he/she is sick to sick leave and reschedule his/her vacation 
at a time mutually agreeable to the parties, provided that the employee has notified the Town 
immediately upon becoming sick, or as soon as possible.  Medical verification of any 
sickness incurred while on vacation must be provided on a form provided by the Town before 
vacation time may be changed to sick time. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     11 

ARTICLE VII 
LEAVE PROVISIONS 

Section 7.0:  Sick Leave 
All employees shall earn paid sick leave at the rate of 1 1/4 days per month cumulative to 
150 days. Bargaining unit members who have accumulated more than 150 days as of June 
30, 2023, will not be subject to the 150 day cap until their accumulation drops below 150 
days. Sick leave with pay may only be used for the employee's recovery from illness or 
injury, or to permit the absence of the employee for five days to care for a member of the 
employee's immediate family.  Immediate family, for purposes of this section, is defined as 
the employee's spouse, dependent child or either parent of the employee who is currently 
domiciled with the employee.  Use of sick leave to care for a family member shall be limited 
to two occurrences per calendar year. 
 
(A) Accrual of earned sick leave credits will continue while employees are absent from 

work due to vacation, injury, or illness, except for designated FMLA Leave (see 
Section 7.2). 

(B) In exceptional cases, the Human Resources Director, with the advice of the 
department head, may grant additional sick leave with pay.  Requests for such 
additional sick leave shall be in writing and signed by the employee, when possible. 

 Of the fifteen (15) potential sick days which can be accrued per year, one (1) can be 
used as a sick/personal day which may be taken during the fiscal year in a minimum 
of one-quarter (1/4) day segments for personal business or appointments that must 
be conducted during the working hours. Use of this personal/sick time will not interrupt 
the earning of personal days for perfect attendance. 

(C) Sick leave with pay will not be granted for recuperation from illness or injury which is 
directly traceable to employment by another employer. 

(D) It shall be the responsibility of the employee to notify the department or division head 
in advance of sick leave usage, if possible, and in any event not later than 30 minutes 
before the workday begins, and if the absence exceeds five (5) working days, to 
provide the department or division head with a doctor’s certificate on the approved 
form (Appendix C) or substantially equivalent information attesting to the need for 
absence.  The signed form shall be presented to the department or division head 
immediately upon returning to work.  Whenever possible, an employee who is absent 
for more than five (5) working days must notify his department or division head of his 
intention to return to work. In addition, the Town shall have the right to require a 
medical certificate (Appendix C) to substantiate the employee’s request for sick leave 
for the following reasons: (a) any period of absence consisting of more than five (5) 
consecutive working days; (b) leave of any duration if absence from duty recurs 
frequently or habitually; (c) or leave of any duration when evidence indicates that sick 
leave is being abused and reasonable cause may exist for requiring such a certificate. 

(E) It shall be the responsibility of each department head to maintain accurate up-to-date 
leave records for his/her employees.  Once every calendar year in the month of 
December, the department head shall notify all employees of the amount of vacation 
and sick leave to their credit and further shall submit copies of the same to the Human 
Resources Director who shall maintain a control file of such data. 

(F) An employee with perfect attendance will earn one Personal Day for each calendar 
quarter of perfect attendance and an additional Personal Day for a perfect calendar 
year. No more than five (5) days may be accumulated.  Perfect attendance for the 
purpose of this article shall mean no time taken for tardiness, sick leave, unauthorized 
leave, authorized leave without pay, or disciplinary suspension.  Personal Days shall 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     12 

be used at times mutually agreeable to the employee and department head.  The Town 
will not provide payment to any employee who wishes to cash in unused personal 
days. 

(G) If an employee has unused sick leave at the time of his/her layoff, he/she shall be paid 
in a lump sum for each day of unused sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. 

(H) Employees who became members of this bargaining unit after 9/19/86 will receive 
payment for unused sick leave, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days, upon his/her 
retirement or death. For this section only, retirement is defined as retiring under a 
Normal, Early or Disability retirement from the Defined Benefit pension plan or 
reaching Normal Retirement Age of 65 years old and vested in the Defined 
Contribution plan. 

(I) In the event of an employee’s death, the employee’s estate shall receive, on the basis 
of the employee’s current wages, full compensation for any of the employee’s 
accumulation of sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. 

(J) Any current employee who belonged previously to AFSCME Local 1174 and had the 
opportunity to accumulate 130 days maximum terminal leave for unused sick leave 
will retain that benefit on the effective date of this agreement as long as he/she 
remains in this bargaining unit.  The benefit will not apply to any employee who did not 
formerly belong to Local 1174 or to any employee who became a member of this unit 
after 9/19/86. 

(K) In the event of the death of any employee covered under (J) above, the employee’s 
estate shall receive, on the basis of the employee’s current wages, full compensation 
for any of the employee’s unused accumulation of sick leave up to a maximum of 120 
days. 

(L) An employee shall be able to take time off without loss of pay to attend appointments 
with medical providers.  Such paid time to attend appointments with medical providers 
shall not exceed two (2) hours in any given quarter. 

 
Section 7.1:  Special Leave with Pay: 
The following types of leave with pay may be offered: 
 
(A) Workers’ Compensation: 

The Town will comply with all applicable state legislation relating to Workers’ 
Compensation. 
 
Whenever an employee shall be absent because of a Town service connected injury 
or occupational disease they will be compensated under the provision of the Workers’ 
Compensation Act of Connecticut.  In addition to payments received under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act, any employee with six (6) months of continuous service 
shall receive payment from the Town, which payment will equal the difference between 
his take-home pay (gross pay less deduction for pension, income tax and FICA) and 
the payments received under the Workers’ Compensation Act for up to one year or 
maximum improvement, whichever comes first. 
 

The Corporation Counsel is authorized by the Town to negotiate anything less than 
the full amount of such reimbursement, subject to approval by the Town Council. 
 
Employees shall report all on-the-job illnesses and injuries, in accordance with 
Workers’ Compensation Laws of the State of Connecticut.  The Town shall post 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     13 

prominently a notice designating the authority to which employees shall report 
illnesses and injuries. 

 
(B) Jury Duty: 
 The Town will comply with State statutes regarding jury duty leave.  Any employee 

who is required to be absent from work in order to report for jury duty on a regularly 
scheduled work day will receive pay for those hours for which he/she is absent from 
work for this reason, at his/her regular base hourly rate less any fee or other 
compensation paid to him/her for performing such jury duty.  A second shift employee 
who reports for jury duty and is excused from jury service prior to 2:00 p.m. on any 
regularly scheduled work day shall report for work at the beginning of his regularly 
scheduled shift on such day.  He shall not be eligible for pay by the Town unless he 
so reports to work.  These provisions shall not apply in case of jury duty on any day 
during which the employee is not scheduled to work, nor on holidays, vacation periods, 
or authorized leaves of absences nor shall such provisions apply to employees who 
have volunteered for jury duty. 

 
(C) Funeral Leave: 
 Four (4) days of special leave with full pay, within a period of seven (7) consecutive 

working days following the date of death or funeral, shall be granted for death in the 
employee’s immediate family.  Immediate family, for purposes of this section, is 
defined as parents, step-parents, grandparents, spouse, brother, sister, child 
(including foster and/or adopted children), step-child, grandchild, son-in-law, 
daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, and any 
other relative that is domiciled in the employee’s household. 

 
(D) Military Leave: 
 Employees shall be granted leave in accordance with the Town’s policy on Military 

Leave, effective April 20, 2022, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix I. 
 
(E) Union officials shall be allowed the required time to attend official Union conventions 

and conferences up to a total maximum of twenty-two (22) days in a two-year period, 
commencing with this contract. 

 
Section 7.2:  Family Medical Leave 
 
The Town will comply with the terms of the Federal Family Medical Leave Acts.  
 
Section 7.3:  Unpaid Leave of Absence: 
The Human Resources Director, with the advice of the department head, may grant a leave 
of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) year, provided such leave may 
not be taken for the purpose of seeking or performing other employment.  Requests for such 
leave shall be made in writing to the Human Resources Director and shall include a 
statement of the reasons for the leave and proposed length of the leave. 
 
(A) During the period of leave without pay, except for military leave, the employee shall 

not be credited for length of service and shall not be credited with time for the purposes 
of accruing sick leave, vacation leave, or personal days. 

(B) Except as provided for in 7.3.D.2 below, an employee shall be reinstated from unpaid 
leave of absence to any position for which he/she is qualified that is comparable to the 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     14 

position the employee last held with the Town, but without any preferred status from 
his/her prior employment. 

(C) Any employee who is on an unpaid leave of absence shall not be paid for any holidays 
or sick leave during the period of absence.  Any vacation time due to an employee at 
the time the unpaid leave of absence commences may be paid at 
that time.   Authorized unpaid leaves of absence for one (1) month or less will not be 
used as a basis of reducing health insurance benefits. 

(D) The Town will comply with the terms of the Veterans’ Reemployment Rights Act. 
1. No employee shall lose any seniority standing because of any military service 

including service in the National Guard or organized Reserves. 
2. Upon returning from extended active military service, an employee shall be 

reinstated to his former job, or one of like rank, and shall receive credit for the 
yearly increments awarded, if any, during his/her absence for military service, 
provided that he/she reports for work within ninety (90) days of his discharge from 
military service.  The Human Resources Director will so notify, in writing, all 
employees entering extended active duty in the military service. 

3. The Town will give credit to the employee for time spent in military service for 
retirement purposes. 

4. The employee’s accumulation of sick leave upon leaving for extended active duty 
in the military service shall be retained to his/her credit when he/she returns. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

WAGES AND BENEFITS 
 
Section 8.0 
Effective and Retroactive to July 1, 2022 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage 
rates and steps in effect on June 30, 2022 shall be increased by 2.5% (Appendix B). 
 
Section 8.1 
Effective and retroactive to July 1, 2023 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage 
rates and steps in effect on June 30, 2023 shall be increased by 2.0% (Appendix B-1). 
 
Section 8.2 
Effective July 1, 2024 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage rates and steps in 
effect on June 30, 2024 shall be increased by 2.0% (Appendix B-2). 
 
Section 8.2 (a) 
 
Effective July 1, 2025 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage rates and steps in 
effect on June 30, 2025 shall be increased by 2.0% (Appendix B-3). 
 
Section 8.3 
Employees working on a shift other than the regular day shift shall receive a shift differential 
of ten (10) percent.  This section shall not apply to Police Communications Supervisors. 
 
Section 8.4 
Whenever an employee is permanently moved from a class or position in one grade to a 
different class in a grade having a higher maximum rate of pay, he shall be paid at the lowest 
step in the higher range that produces an increase of not less than five percent (5%). 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     15 

Section 8.5 
Whenever an employee is permanently moved from a class or position in one grade to a 
different class in a grade having a lower maximum of pay, he shall be paid at the step in the 
lower range which coincides with the same step he received in the former. 
 
Section 8.6 
Employees shall be covered by the Unemployment Compensation Laws of the State. 
 
Section 8.7 
Employees who work on the second and third shifts will receive their weekly pay on 
Thursday. 
 
Effective as soon as practical after Issuance of the Award in Case No. 2023- MBA-149, 
employees shall be paid on a ‘bi-weekly’ basis via direct deposit. 
 
Section 8.8 
Employees required to use a privately owned automobile for the conduct of Town business 
shall be reimbursed, once a month, for all mileage driven at the I.R.S. rate.  
 
Section 8.9 
(A) Employees who hold Local 818 bargaining unit classifications that are currently eligible 

to use a Town vehicle for the purpose of commuting to and from work shall continue 
to receive said benefit. 
 

(B) If an employee who is truck eligible transfers to or is promoted to another position 
which was historically truck eligible said employee shall continue his/her truck 
eligibility.  If an employee who is truck eligible transfers or promotes to a classification 
which is not truck eligible the employee shall lose the benefit. 

 
(C) Any new employees or present employees, who are not truck eligible as of June 11, 

1992, or who lose their eligibility as aforesaid, shall enjoy the benefit of a Town-owned 
vehicle at the sole discretion of the Mayor. 

 
Section 8.10 
New employees and current employees new to this bargaining unit who begin on the 
Probationary Step will move to Step 1 in their grade upon completion of probation. 
 
Section 8.11 
Bargaining unit members who were employed by the Town between March 1, 2020 and 
December 31, 2021, and are still employed by the Town at the time of issuance of the Award 
in Case No. 2023-MBA-149, shall receive a $800 payment. All other bargaining unit 
members employed by the Town upon issuance of the Award in Case No. 2023-MBA-149 
will receive $400. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE AND PENSION 

Section 9.0 
The Town shall provide and pay for the following insurance benefits for all active employees 
and their enrolled dependents: 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     16 

(A) A High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) with Health Savings Account (HSA) 
($2000/$4000 100% in-network/80% out-of-network) with prescription drug coverage 
as described in Appendix H.  
 

i. Employees may contribute to the HSA on a pre-tax basis. 
  

ii. Employees ineligible for the HSA will be offered the alternative Health 
Reimbursement Account and Flexible Savings Account. 
 

iii. The Town shall implement a Wellness Program which offers a financial incentive 
for employees to take a more active role in their health. The Wellness Program 
requires employees to annually: (a) have their physician complete the 
Preventative Health Attestation form attached as Appendix G certifying that they 
have had medical screenings appropriate for their age; and (b) have their 
physician provide them with biometrical results; and (c) complete an on-line health 
risk assessment utilizing the biometrical results.  Employees who fully comply with 
all of the Wellness Program requirements in a given year shall receive $600 
contribution toward their HDHP deductible for that plan year.  Proof of compliance 
will be required.  

 
(B) Triple Option Dental Plan, as described in Appendix D. 

 
(C) Effective July 1, 2014 BlueView Vision Rider as described in Appendix E. 

 
(D) The Town shall provide and pay for a Fifty Thousand ($50,000) Dollar Life Insurance 

policy for each employee, with Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage in 
the principal sum with double indemnity in the event of accidental death.  Members 
of the Union who retire on or after the date of execution of this agreement will be 
provided life insurance coverage in the amount of Ten Thousand ($10,000) Dollars. 
 

(E) All members of the bargaining unit who elect coverage under Sections (A) and (C) 
above (health, prescription drug, vision) will contribute toward the cost of such 
insurance benefits on a weekly pre-tax basis in accordance with Section 125 of the 
Internal Revenue Service Code for each year of the contract as described below: 

 
1. Effective July 1, 2022 bargaining unit members shall be required to contribute 

eleven percent (11%) of the cost of his or her insurance coverage. 
 
2. Effective July 1, 2023, bargaining unit members shall be required to contribute 

eleven and one-half percent (11.5%) of the cost of his or her insurance 
coverage. 

 
3. Effective July 1, 2024, bargaining unit members shall be required to contribute 

twelve percent (12%) of the cost of his or her insurance coverage. 
 
3. Effective July 1, 2025 bargaining unit members shall be required to contribute 

twelve and one-half percent (12.5%) of the cost of his or her insurance 
coverage. 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     17 

(F) The Town of East Hartford will implement a "Health Benefit Opt-Out Incentive 
Program."  This plan will offer employees a financial incentive to drop Town-
sponsored health insurance (excluding Dental) if they have or can get health benefits 
through another plan.  
 
1. The payments to be made to employees who drop their Town-sponsored 

health insurance plan (Blue Cross & Blue Shield or any HMO), excluding 
Dental, will be as follows: 

 
 

 
Coverage Type 

Payment 
Amount 

Individual $1,000.00 
Individual plus one dependent $1,250.00 
Individual plus two or more 
dependents 

$1,500.00 

 
No payment will be made for a reduction in the number of dependents.  The 
employee's entire contract must be canceled by the employee to qualify for 
payment. 
 

2. One-quarter of the above amounts ($250.00, $312.50, $375.00, respectively) 
will be paid at the end of the fiscal quarter for which the plan is canceled.  
Prorated payments will be made if an employee's plan is canceled partway 
through a quarter. 

 
3. Employees wishing to take advantage of this option will fill out the change form 

provided by their plan and the "Health Benefit Opt-Out Form," attached as 
Appendix F, and will provide written evidence of health insurance coverage by 
another plan. 

 
4. Current employees who are eligible but are not now on a Town-sponsored 

insurance plan will be qualified for this incentive upon presentation of proof of 
coverage by another health insurance plan. 

 
5. New employees who are eligible for Town coverage upon employment but 

choose not to enroll will be eligible for this incentive upon presentation of 
written evidence of health insurance coverage by another plan.  Prorated 
payments will be made to new employees if they begin employment partway 
through a quarter. 

 
6. Employees who opt-out of their Town-sponsored plan and then find that the 

other source of coverage is no longer available may re-enroll in a Town plan 
subject to the rules of that plan.  Employees can enroll in the Town's Blue 
Cross & Blue Shield only at the first of each month.   
 

7. To be eligible for the opt-out payment, the employee shall not be receiving 
coverage under any other Town or East Hartford Board of Education policy. 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     18 

Section 9.1 
The Town reserves the option to change insurance carriers from time to time, but not more 
than once in any calendar year, through competitive bidding, for all insurance benefits.  
However, covered services shall not be reduced by any such change, and there shall be no 
loss of coverage due to pre-existing conditions.  Any substitute plan shall have a high quality 
network, defined as one of the three (3) largest networks in the service area. 
 
Section 9.2 Retiree Health Insurance 
The term “Retired employee” will mean a former employee continuously employed by the 
Town until the commencement of a pension who meets the requirements to receive a 
Normal, Early Disability pension from the Town and who is receiving a pension provided for 
hereunder.  The term “vested employee” is being added to the Retirement Plan and will 
mean any former employee who terminates employment and who subsequently qualified for 
a deferred pension benefit. 
 
The East Hartford Retirement Plan as amended by agreement between the Union and the 
Town of East Hartford, dated August 24, 1988, covering all full time employees except Police 
and Firefighters shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect as it pertains to 
bargaining unit employees for the duration of this contract and as otherwise provided in said 
Agreement. 

 
The Town shall provide and pay for the insurance benefits listed in Section 9.0 (A) for all 
eligible employees upon retirement.  To be eligible for the retiree health and spousal 
insurance benefits set forth in this Section 9.2 the employee will have been hired prior to 
January 1, 2006 and must be actively employed by the Town of East Hartford until the 
commencement of retirement. 
 
(A) For retired employees age 65 and over, who are eligible for Social Security, Parts A 

and B Supplemental coverage shall be provided in place of the foregoing coverage. 
 
(B) The Town shall provide and pay for the insurance benefits as described in Section 

9.0 (A) for the retired employee’s spouse, under the following conditions: 
 

i. This coverage is only effective for the spouse of an employee retiring on or 
after January 1, 1984.  Such coverage will not be provided to the spouse of an 
employee who retired prior to that date. 

ii. The retired employee must attain age sixty (60) before his/her spouse will be 
eligible for this coverage. 

iii. If the retired employee remarries, the new spouse will not be eligible for this 
coverage. 

iv. The term “spouse” shall mean the retired employee’s spouse who shall have 
been married and living with the employee as his/her spouse at the time of 
their retirement.   

v. In order for this coverage to be effective, the retired employee must pay to the 
Town 50% of the monthly premium, as determined by the Town.  This premium 
shall be deducted from the retired employee’s monthly pension check.  If such 
deduction is not made continuously from the employee’s pension check 
commencing with his 60th birthday, all coverage to the spouse shall cease and 
not be reinstated. 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     19 

vi. When the retired employee’s spouse reaches age sixty-five (65) and enrolls in 
Medicare, the Town will pay 100% of the premium for Parts A and B 
Supplemental coverage. 

 
(C) The PPO will be replaced with the HDHP for all employees retiring on or after July 1, 

2019. The deductible will be $2000 single, $4000 family (Appendix H). The Town will 
not contribute any portion of the annual plan deductible or offer the wellness incentive.   

 
Section 9.3 Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
Upon ratification of this Agreement by both parties, employees eligible for a defined benefit 
pension (those hired prior to January 1, 2006) shall contribute one percent (1.0%) of their 
annual base pay (not including overtime) towards the Other Post-Employment Benefits 
(OPEB) Trust. This employee contribution shall be on a pre-tax basis.  It is understood that 
existing employee required contributions toward retiree insurance (e.g., contributions for 
spousal and dependent benefits) remain. Effective July 1, 2020, the 1% contribution will 
increase to 1.25%. Effective July 1, 2025, the contribution will increase to 1.50%. 
 

ARTICLE X 
SAFETY AND HEALTH 

Section 10.0 
A joint safety committee shall be formed by the Town and the Union and said committee, 
which shall consist of not more than two (2) employees representing the Union and two (2) 
persons representing the Town, shall meet not less than once every other month, or at the 
request of the majority of the members to review and recommend safety and health 
conditions. 
 
Section 10.1  
The Town shall provide foul-weather gear, i.e., raincoats, rain hats, boots, gloves, etc. and 
for their care as necessary. 

 
Section 10.2 
The Town shall furnish safety helmets and safety glasses to any employee working in 
hazardous locations or with hazardous equipment.  The Town will contribute up to $150 (one 
hundred fifty dollars) toward the cost of safety shoes (steel toe) provided the employee's job 
requires them.  In order to receive compensation, employees must turn in a valid receipt.  
Safety shoes and other equipment as required shall be worn at all times where hazardous 
conditions exist.  Failure to do so will result in discipline which need not be preceded by a 
verbal or written warning. 

The Town will provide 5 (five) sets of work uniforms per week for the waste services 
supervisor and foreman with cleaning services.  The Town shall provide either two (2 
sweatshirts or five (5) T-shirts annually to all other bargaining unit employees working in the 
Public Works and Parks Departments, excluding the Town Engineer and the Assistant 
Director of Public Works. 
 
Section 10.3 
The existing policies and practices concerning coffee breaks shall remain in effect. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     20 

Section 10.4 
Employees who may be required to work overtime more than two (2) hours beyond the end 
of their regular shift will be permitted a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period with no interruption 
of pay for such ½ hour. 
 
Section 10.5 
The Town will furnish free to any employee, upon his request, medical injections for the 
prevention of poison ivy and poison oak reactions, tetanus and such other injections as may 
be recommended by the Town Health Officer. 
 
Section 10.6 
All employees shall be required to abide with all OSHA regulations.  After the Town has 
provided the employees with safety equipment, the employee will be responsible for the 
replacement of this equipment, if lost or stolen.  An employee shall not be responsible for 
equipment lost or stolen by virtue of other than his own carelessness or negligence. 
 
Section 10.7 
All employees in the classification of Police Communications Supervisor will be required to 
carry communication devices on a 24-hour per day basis.  Communication devices will be 
provided by the Town, and may be used for personal matters while the employee is off duty. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

Section 11.0 
(A) Disciplinary action shall be for just cause and shall be applied in a fair manner and 

shall be consistent with the infraction for which the disciplinary action is being applied. 
 
(B) Disciplinary actions ordinarily shall be preceded by an oral warning and shall include: 

 
1. A written warning or reprimand 
2. Suspension for a period not to exceed five (5) days. 
3. Discharge 

 
(C) All disciplinary actions may be processed as grievances under Article XIII. 
 
Section 11.1 
At the time of any suspension or discharge, the employee and the President of the Union 
shall be furnished, in writing, a statement of the reasons for such action, the period of time 
for which any suspension is to be effective and the appeals procedure available under Article 
XIII. 

ARTICLE XII 
SAVING CLAUSE 

Section 12.0 
If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Agreement shall be held for any reason to 
be inoperative, void, or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement shall 
not be affected thereby, it being the intention  of the parties in adopting this Agreement, that 
no portion thereof, or provisions herein, shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the 
invalidity of any other portion or provision and the parties do hereby declare that it would be 
severally approved of the adopted provisions contained herein, separately and apart from 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     21 

the other.  The parties agree to immediately negotiate a substitute for the invalidated Article, 
Section, Sentence, Clause or Phrase. 

ARTICLE XIII 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Section 13.0 
Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties concerning the application, 
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, unless specifically excluded by this Agreement, 
shall be settled in the following manner: 
 
Step 1 Between the aggrieved party, who may be represented by not more than two (2) 

officers of the union, and the Director of the Department.  The Director of the 
Department shall adjust the grievance at once, or notify the Union Steward of his 
decision within two (2) working days from the day the grievance was presented. 

 
 A grievance may be presented either orally or in writing at this step of the 

grievance procedure.  If the grievance is presented orally to the supervisor and is 
not satisfactorily settled, it must be reduced to writing, there must be set forth in 
the spaces provided all of the following: 

 
a. A statement of the grievance and the facts involved. 
b. The remedy requested and, 
c. The violation, if any, of the Agreement which is claimed. 

 
Step 2 If the decision of the Director of the Department involved in step 1 is not 

satisfactory, the Union may take an appeal, within ten (10) working days of such 
decision, to the Human Resources Director.  The aggrieved party may be 
represented at this step of the grievance procedure by the Steward, and one (1) 
member of the Executive Committee.  The Human Resources Director and the 
Union may include in the conference any individual(s) concerned and the Human 
Resources Director will give an answer, in writing, to the appealing employee 
within (5) working days.  Such written disposition will be rendered on the form 
provided.  Employees appealing decisions regarding promotion, demotion, 
suspension, or discharge may submit such grievance directly to this Step of the 
grievance procedure without the necessity of complying with procedures set forth 
in Step 1. 

 
Step 3 If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at Step 2, the Union may submit the 

dispute within thirty (30) days of receiving such disposition to arbitration by the 
Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration. 

 
 The decision of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on both parties. 
 
Section 13.1 
Officers and/or Stewards, not to exceed two (2) members of the Union as shall be 
designated by the Union for the purpose of adjusting grievances and/or contract 
negotiations, shall be afforded the necessary amount of time, without loss of pay, to conduct 
such business. 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     22 

Section 13.2 
The Union shall furnish the Town with a list of its officers, Executive Committee Members, 
and Stewards, and shall, as soon as possible, notify the Town, in writing, of any changes 
therein.  Such notification shall be sent to the Human Resources Director, Town Hall, East 
Hartford.  No officer, Executive Committee Member or Steward shall be recognized by the 
Town until such written notification of his appointment shall be received by the Town from 
the duly authorized officer of the Union.  For the purposes of this Agreement, the term 
Chairman and President shall be synonymous. 

 
Section 13.3 
In addition to those specified, the Union or the Town may, at Steps 3 and 4 of the grievance 
procedure, have other representatives present during the presentation of grievances, 
provided either party shall so advise the other a reasonable period in advance of such 
hearing.  Employee grievances must be filed no later than ten (10) working days following 
the date of the incident giving rise to the alleged grievance; however, failure of an individual 
to grieve does not establish a precedent for settlement in any future grievance. 
 
Section 13.4 
Nothing in this article is intended to prohibit the Town from processing a grievance through 
the grievance procedure up to and including arbitration. Any such grievance shall be 
submitted first to the Union President.  If not satisfactorily settled within twelve (12) working 
days of its submission, the Town may submit the grievance to the Connecticut State Board 
of Mediation and Arbitration. 

ARTICLE XIV 
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

 
The rights, power, and authority heretofore held by the Town pursuant to applicable laws of 
the State of Connecticut concerning the nature of services offered by the Town; the direction 
of its work force; disciplinary action; lay off and recall of its employees; determine the 
standards of services to be offered by Town Departments; determine the standards of 
selection for Town employment; the issuance of reasonable rules and regulations after the 
concurrence of the Union; maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; determine the 
content of job classifications and to fulfill its legal responsibilities are retained, whether 
exercised or not, unless said rights, powers, and authorities are  limited, modified, abridged, 
relinquished, or are in conflict with this agreement or any part thereof.  The Town shall be 
free to exercise retained rights, powers, and authority subject to and in accordance with the 
Municipal Employees Relations Act (Section 7-467 et seq.) of the General Statutes of the 
State of Connecticut. 

ARTICLE XV 
DURATION 

Section 15.0 
This Agreement shall be effective the date it is signed by all respective parties and shall 
continue in effect until June 30, 2026 except that it may be amended at any time by mutual 
agreement.  Negotiations for a successor agreement shall commence in accordance with 
State Laws. 
 
Section 15.1 
Notwithstanding provisions of 15.0, any provision of this agreement which contains an 
effective date different than the date of execution of this agreement shall be effective on the 
date therein specified. 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     23 

 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed on this  
______ day of _________________, 2024. 
 
       EAST HARTFORD #818 
 TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD   SUPERVISORS UNION  
 
 
   
___________________________  _______________________________ 
Connor Martin     Christopher Sugar, Staff Representative 
Mayor          
 
___________________________  _______________________________ 
Tyron Harris      President, Local #818 
Director of Human Resources    
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Local #818 
     
 
      
       _______________________________ 
       Local #818 
     
 
       
       _______________________________ 
       Local #818 
 
 
    
 
 
        
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     24 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     25 

APPENDIX B 
July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI 

 
Effective upon ratification, the position of IT manager shall be upgraded from Grade 108 to Grade 111. The current incumbent shall be placed on Step 3 of the 

Grade 11 wage scale for the 2022-23 contract year. The position of Police Communications Supervisor shall be upgraded from Grade 104 to Grade 105. The position 
of Social Services Program Supervisor shall be upgraded from Grade 108 to 112.  
 

 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     26 

APPENDIX B-1 
July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     27 

APPENDIX B-2 
July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     28 

APPENDIX B-3 
July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     29 

 
 

APPENDIX C 

 

A medical certificate submitted in accordance with Article VII, Section 7.0 (D) shall be on 

the following form or shall contain substantially equivalent information. 

 

MEDICAL CERTIFICATE FORM  

NAME OF DOCTOR____________________________________ 

   ADDRESS___________________________________________ 

TEL. NO. _________________________________________ 

 

TO:        Human Resources Director 

      Town of East Hartford 

FROM:    _____________________________________ 

DATE:     _____________________________________ 

 

As physician duly licensed by the State of ____________________, I hereby certify that 

_________________________ (name of employee) who was seen by me on __________ 

(date) was unable to work during the continuous period from _____________________ 

(date) to ______________________ (date). 

He/she was under my care on or after ____________________ (date). 

I also certify that said employee can return to duty with no restrictions on 

_______________________________ (date). 

____________________________       

Signature of Physician 

____________________________ 

Date 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     30 

APPENDIX D 
TRIPLE OPTIONAL DENTAL PLAN 

 
 PPO 

IN 
NETWORK 

NO 
DEDUCTIBLE 

 
FLEX DENTAL 

$50 
DEDUCTIBLE* 

 
OUT OF NETWORK 
$200 DEDUCTIBLE 

BENEFIT DESCRIPTION 
 

   

ANNUAL MAXIMUM 
 

Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

BENEFIT 
 

Coinsurance Coinsurance Coinsurance 

PREVENTIVE SERVICES    
Prophylaxis 100% 100% 80% 
Oral Hygiene Instruction 100% 100% 80% 
(Included with Oral Evaluation)    
Fluoride Treatment to age 19 100% 100% 80% 
Sealants 100% 100% 50% 
Space Maintainers 
 

100% 100% 50% 

DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES    
Oral Evaluation 100% 100% 70% 
Radiographs 100% 100% 70% 
Pulp Vitality Test 100% 100% 70% 
(Included with Oral Evaluation) 
 

   

RESTORATIVE SERVICES    
Amalgam Fillings 100% 100% 50% 
Resin Fillings 100% 100% 50% 
    
ENDODONTICS    
Root Canal 100% 80% 50% 
Apicoectomy 100% 80% 50% 
    
ORAL SURGERY    
Simple Extractions 100% 100% 50% 
Surgical Extractions and Impaction 50% 50% 50% 
Treatment of Fractures & Dislocations 50% 50% Not Covered 
    
GENERAL SERVICES    
Consultation 60% 50% Not Covered 
General Anesthesia 60% 50% Not Covered 
Emergency Treatment 
 

100% 100% 50% 

PERIDONTICS    
Gingival Curettage 50% 50% Not Covered 
Gingivectomy or Gingivoplasty 50% 50% Not Covered 
Osseous Surgery 50% 50% Not Covered 
Mucogingival Surgery 50% 50% Not Covered 
Management of Acute Infection and 
oral lesions 
 

50% 50% Not Covered 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     31 

 PPO 
IN 

NETWORK 
NO 

DEDUCTIBLE 

 
FLEX DENTAL 

$50 
DEDUCTIBLE* 

 
OUT OF NETWORK 
$200 DEDUCTIBLE 

PROSTHODONTICS    
Dentures Full and Partial 50% Not Covered Not Covered 
Crowns, Bridges, fixed and removable 50% Not Covered Not Covered 
Inlays, onlays and crowns not part of 
bridge 

100% 50% Not Covered 

Addition of teeth to partial denture to 
replace extracted teeth 
 

50% Not Covered Not Covered 

Repair of Dentures 
 

100% 100% Not Covered 

Orthodontia    
$1,000 Lifetime maximum 50% 50% Not Covered 
Dependents covered to age 19 
 

   

*Flex Dental deductible does not apply to preventive services or sealants. 
 
Benefits will be available for resin (synthetic) fillings on anterior or bicuspid teeth only.  For resin 
(synthetic) fillings on molar teeth, the member coinsurance obligation will increase.  Benefits will 
be provided in an amount equal to the maximum allowable (MAA) amount for an amalgam filling.  
The member will be responsible for any amounts over the MAA. 
 
This is not a legal contract.  It is only a general description of the Triple Option Dental Program. 
 
11-May-01 

 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     32 

APPENDIX E 
BLUEVIEW VISION RIDER 

 
 

BENEFIT PERIOD 
 

Calendar Year 

DEPENDENT AGE LIMIT To the end of the month after which the child attains age 26. 

 
COVERED SERVICES COPAYMENTS/MAXIMUMS 
Prescription Lenses Network Providers Out-of-Network Providers 
Standard: (including factory scratch 
coating, polycarbonate lenses for 
children under 19 years old and 
Photochromic lenses for children under 
19 years old) 

  

Basic Lenses (pair)   
Single Vision lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $36 
Bifocal lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $54 
Trifocal lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $69 
(limited to one set of lenses per calendar 
year). 
 

  

Frames   
(Limited to one frame per calendar year) $130 retail amount, then  20%  off 

any remaining balance 
Reimbursed up to $64 

Prescription Contact Lenses 
(traditional or disposable) 

  

Non-Elective Contact Lenses 
(availability once every calendar year) 

Covered in full Reimbursed up to $210 

Elective Contact Lenses (in lieu of 
eyeglass lenses allowances) (availability 
once every calendar year) 

$130 retail amount Reimbursed up to $105 

Note: If you elect covered Non-Elective Contact Lenses or Elective Contact Lenses within one calendar year period, no benefits will be 
available for covered lenses and frames until the next calendar year period. 

 
Laser Vision Correction Services: 
Participating Lasik/photorefractive keratectomy PRK surgical centers offer a discounted rate for Members enrolled 
under this plan.  You are responsible for any remaining charges. 
 
The Schedule of Benefits is a summary of the amount of benefits Anthem will pay when you receive Covered Services 
from a Provider.  Please refer to the Covered Services Section of the Summary Plan Description for a more complete 
explanation of the specific vision services covered by the plan.  All covered services are subject to the conditions, 
exclusions, limitations, terms and provisions of the Certificate including any attachments or riders. 
 

No prior authorization is required to receive covered vision services. 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     33 

APPENDIX F 
HEALTH BENEFIT OPT-OUT FORM 

 
 
Employee Name_________________ Date of Form Completion_____________ 
 
Department____________________ Effective Date of Cancellation__________ 
 
 

 
Statement of Election to Participate in Town of East Hartford Health Benefit Opt-Out 

Program 
 
I elect to cancel my health insurance (but not my dental insurance) with the  
 
Town of East Hartford.  The health plan that I will be covered under is offered  
 
through_____________________________________ (name of company  
 
offering program).  The name of the plan providing my insurance coverage  
 
is_________________________________________(name of health  
 
insurance carrier).  This plan covers:  _____my spouse _______my family  
 
and ______myself  (check all that apply).  Attached is documentation of my  
 
enrollment in the above plan. 
 
 
In exchange for canceling my health insurance, I elect to receive a cash payment (totaling 
$1000 for individual employee coverage, $1250 for employee plus one dependent 
coverage or $1,500 for employee plus family coverage) to be paid in quarterly installments 
in October, January, April and July.  I understand that by accepting the opt-out program, I 
am no longer covered by the Town’s health insurance program.  However, I will continue to 
be covered by the Town’s dental insurance program. 
 
 
___________________________   _________________ 
Employee Signature     Date 
 
___________________________   _________________ 
Witness       Date 
 
 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     34 

 
APPENDIX G 

ATTESTATION FOR $600 WELLNESS REWARD  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Each employee covered by a Town of East Hartford High Deductible Health Plan has been 
asked to have an annual routine physical examination performed during each plan year.  This 
routine physical should consist of the items listed below as deemed appropriate by the 
employee’s primary care provider. 
 
Once the exam is complete, please sign and date this form and return it to the patient so they 
may turn it in to HR.  You may also mail the form directly.  Please do not fax the form – we 
need the original signature.  Please provide the employee with biometrical results of their exam 
and lab work.  They may use this information to complete an online Health Risk Assessment 
with Anthem. 
 
The Routine Physical Exam Should Include the Following: 
 Preventive Physical Exam, which includes medical and family health history, assessment of 

lifestyle (diet, stress, exercise, etc.) general system examination (heart, lungs, throat, 
thyroid, ears, skin, joints, etc). and measurement of height and weight 

 Routine blood pressure and urine screenings 
 Cholesterol and lipid level screenings 
 Blood glucose screening 
 Eye chart vision screening 
 Immunizations (tetanus every ten years, others as appropriate) 
 Pelvic examination, Pap Smear, and Mammography screenings  
 Prostate examination and prostate specific antigen blood test (PSA) (males only) 
 Colorectal cancer screening 
 

You, as the health care provider will determine which one of several types of screenings 
is most appropriate and at what age it should be done. 
 
I certify that I performed a routine physical exam on Town of East Hartford Employee:  
 
__________________________________________________________________ 

EMPLOYEE NAME 
 
Physician’s Name: __________________________________________________ 
Date of Physical:____________________________________________________ 
Physician’s Signature: _______________________________________________ 

THE ORIGINAL FORM SHOULD BE TURNED IN TO 
OR MAILED DIRECTLY TO: 

Town of East Hartford, Human Resources 
Attention:  Sandra Franklin 

740 Main Street 
East Hartford, CT  06108 

 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     35 

APPENDIX H 
HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS  
 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Covered Person Plan 
Year Deductible 

*$2000 SINGLE 
**$4000 FAMILY  

Covered Person 
Coinsurance 

Not Applicable 20% 

Covered Person Plan 
Year Out-of-Pocket 
Limit 
*Applies to Prescription 
Drug Copayments 

single*** $2000 
family**** $4000 

$4,000 single*** 
$8,000 family**** 

Lifetime Maximum Unlimited Unlimited 
*Single Deductible – The Deductible must be satisfied before any Covered Services are 
paid by the Plan except for Preventive Services which are not subject to the Deductible. 

**Family Deductible – The family Deductible must be satisfied before any Covered 
Services are paid by the plan except for Preventive Services which are not subject to the 
Deductible.  The family Deductible may be satisfied by one Covered Person or all members 
of the family collectively. 
***Single Out-of-Pocket Limit – Once the Member Out-of-Pocket Limit is satisfied, no 
additional Coinsurance will be required for the Covered Person for the remainder of the 
benefit period except for Out-of-Network Human Organ and Tissue Transplant services. 
****Family Out-of-Pocket Limit – Once the family Out-of-Pocket Limit is satisfied, no 
additional Coinsurance will be required for the Family for the remainder of the benefit 
period except for Out-of-Network Human Organ and Tissue Transplant services. 
 
In-Network and Out-of-Network Out-of-Pocket Limits are separate and do not accumulate 
toward each other. 
PREVENTIVE SERVICES 
Well Child Care No Cost-Share Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
Adult Physical 
Examinations 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Other Preventive 
Screenings including 
but not limited to: 
Routine gynecological 
care: pap smear and pelvic 
exam, Prostate screening, 
Mammography screening, 
colorectal cancer 
screening, flexible 
sigmoidoscopy, 
colonoscopy, total 
cholesterol screening, lipid 
screenings and panels, 
diabetic screening 
 
 
 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Immunizations and 
Vaccinations  
 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     36 

All Inpatient 
Admissions 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Specialty Hospital 
100 days per Member 
per Calendar Year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Outpatient Surgery 
(including colonoscopy) 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES 
Diagnostic, Laboratory 
and X-Ray Services 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

High Cost Diagnostic 
Tests  MRI, MRA, CAT, 
CTA, PET, and SPECT 
scans 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

THERAPY SERVICES 
Outpatient 
Rehabilitation 
Outpatient rehabilitative 
and restorative physical, 
occupational, speech 
and chiropractic therapy 
for up to 60 combined 
visits per Calendar Year 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Other Therapy 
Services: 
Outpatient cardiac 
rehabilitation therapy; 
Radiation therapy; 
Chemotherapy for the 
treatment of cancer; 
Electroshock therapy; 
Kidney Dialysis in a 
Hospital or free-standing 
dialysis center 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Allergy Office 
Visit/Testing 
 
Allergy Injections 
Immunotherapy or other 
therapy treatments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

MEDICAL EMERGENCY/URGENT CARE SERVICES 
Emergency Room 
Treatment Emergency 
Room Cost-Share 
waived if the Member is 
admitted directly to the 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     37 

Hospital from the 
emergency room 
 
Urgent Care Services 

 
 

Deductible 

 
Paid as In-Network 
Emergency Room 

Ambulance  
Land & Air: Paid 
according to the 
Department of Public 
Health Ambulance 
Service Rate Schedule 

Deductible Deductible 

PHYSICIAN MEDICAL/SURGICAL SERVICES 
Medical Office Visit Deductible Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
Surgical Services  
Performed by a Surgeon 
or Physician (Specialist) 
in any setting other than 
an Office Visit 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Non-Surgical Services 
of a Physician or 
Surgeon (other than a 
medical office visit) 
These services may 
include after care or 
attending medical care 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE SERVICES 
Outpatient Treatment 
for Mental Health Care 
& Substance Abuse 
Care 
 
Inpatient Hospital 
Services In a Hospital 
or Residential Treatment 
Center for Mental Health 
Care 
 
Inpatient 
Rehabilitation 
Treatment for 
Substance Abuse Care 
In a Hospital or 
Substance Abuse 
Treatment Facility 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

OTHER MEDICAL SERVICES 
Outpatient Surgery Deductible Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
In a licensed ambulatory 
surgical center  

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Skilled Nursing 
Facility 
Up to 120 days per 
calendar year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Immunizations and 
Vaccinations for 
Travel 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Prescription Drugs: Deductible and then:  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     38 

 
Retail Pharmacy: 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 30 
day supply. 
 
Diabetic equipment, 
drugs and supplies 
 
Specialty Pharmacy: 
The maximum supply of 
a Specialty Drug for 
which benefits will be 
provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 30 
day supply. 
 
Mail Order 
Prescription Drug 
Program 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 1-
90-day supply.  
 
Diabetic drugs & 
supplies 

 
Tier 1 $10 Copay per 

Covered Drug 
Tier 2 $25 Copay per 

Covered Drug 
Tier 3 $40 Copay per 

Covered Drug 
 
 
 
 
 

Tier 1 $10 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 2 $25 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 3 $40 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

 
 
 
 

Tier 1 $10 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 2 $50 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 3 $80 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
Human Organ and 
Tissue Transplant 
Services Unlimited 
maximum 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Home Health Care 
(including In-Home 
Hospice Care) 
Nursing and therapeutic 
services limited to 200 
visits 
In the Home Hospice 
Medical Social Services 
under the direction of a 
physician up to $420 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Infusion Therapy 
Unlimited lifetime 
maximum 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Durable Medical 
Equipment and 
Prosthetic Devices 
 
Hearing Aid Coverage 
Available for dependent 
children age 12 years 
and under with a 

Deductible Deductible & 50% 
Coinsurance 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     39 

maximum of $1,000 
within a two year period. 
 
Diabetic equipment, 
and supplies 
Ostomy Related 
Services 

Deductible Deductible & 50% 
Coinsurance 

Hospice Care 
(inpatient) 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Wig  up to $500 
maximum per Member 
per Calendar Year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Specialized Formula Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Infertility Services 
Please see Maternity 
/Family Planning 
Section  
 
Office Visit 
 
Outpatient Hospital 
 
 
Inpatient Hospital 
 
Infertility Drugs 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is 30 
day supply 
 

 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 

Same as Hospital 
Outpatient Cost-Share 

 
Same as Hospital 

Inpatient Cost-Share 
 
 

Deductible 
 

 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Maternity Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 
This is a summary of benefits and is by its nature limited in detail and scope. Refer to the Summary Plan 
Document for full details of coverage. 
  



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     40 

 
APPENDIX I 

MILITARY LEAVE POLICY 
 
Section 1 
Employees will be entitled to Military Leave when they receive official Military Orders for time requiring 
active duty service. Employees shall be entitled to a maximum of 10 weeks per fiscal year under the following 
conditions; 
  

A. Military leave to attend training for Reservists or National Guard members will not exceed four weeks 
per fiscal year. The combination of Military and Town base pay and wages shall not exceed the 
employee’s regular base pay. The Military Leave from the Town will be limited to the differential pay 
and wages required to maintain the employee’s base pay after accounting for the base pay received 
from the Military.  
 

B. Employees will be required to provide documentation of Military orders and wage stubs to the Town 
for such benefit. The Military amount paid will be adjusted to arrive at a weekly equivalent and 
subtracted from the member’s base pay to determine the differential. 

 
C. The differential amount will be paid until such time as the member returns to full duty with the Town. 

 
D. When the member returns to full duty, a copy of all the wage records with the Military should be 

provided to the employee’s department and forwarded to the Human Resources Department and the 
Finance Department. A copy of the Military Order(s) concluding Military Leave should also be 
provided. 

 
E. In the event the amount paid by the Town exceeds the provisions of this section, the employee will 

need to reimburse the Town in one lump sum or over multiple weeks. 
  
The term Military Leave shall mean the number of hours the employee was scheduled to work, beginning with 
the day on which the employee’s orders require them to report to Military service and ending with the day on 
which the employee’s orders discharge them from Military service. 
  
Time on Military leave shall be included for purposes in computing seniority. 
 
Section 2 
Employees who carry the Town’s health insurance may elect to continue such coverage for spouses and 
dependents on the plan at the commencement of active duty service, as reflected in the official Military Orders. 
If an employee elects to continue health insurance coverage for their spouse and dependents, said employee 
must pay the premium for the spouse and dependents to maintain such coverage. If the employee is not active 
on the payroll, payments for premiums will be recouped in a manner prescribed by Human Resources to 
maintain coverage. 
 
Section 3 
Notification of Leave 

Unless giving notice is unreasonable or precluded by Military necessity, employees requiring a Military leave 
of absence should provide their Director and the Office of Human Resources with a written or verbal advance 
notice along with, if available, a copy of the Military Order; to the Director at least two weeks before the 
Military-Leave-of-Absence start date. On the day of receipt of their first Military paycheck, the employee shall 
transmit a copy of the document, pay stub or pay record to their Department Director, who shall forward it to 
Human Resources and Finance if the member receives a promotion or other subsequent increase in Military 
pay during the deployment that shall be communicated to the Director of the Department and Human 
Resources. Employees on Military Leave greater than one whole week (7 days) will have their accounts 



 

 
4869-5475-1649, v. 1     41 

temporarily disabled. Human Resources will notify IT of the leave period and return to work dates as soon as 
possible. 

The Town of East Hartford may not insist on knowing exactly when the staff member will return to work; 
however, the employee can be asked to furnish the approximate beginning and concluding dates of their 
training. Final documentation of start and end dates is required for proper payment of wages. 

 



  

4889-3182-3777, v. 1 

DRAFT 
January 30, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

  

AGREEMENT  BETWEEN 
 

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD 
 

and 
 

EAST HARTFORD SUPERVISORS UNION 
LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 

AFSCME AFL-CIO 
 

July 1, 20192022– June 30, 20222026 
 

 

 

 
  

                                                
 Based on Interest Arbitration Award dated November 29, 2023 re: Case No.: 2023-MBA-149 

Style Definition: TOC 1: Tab stops:  6.69", Right,Leader: …



  

4889-3182-3777, v. 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
ARTICLE I RECOGNITION .............................................................................................. 1 

Section 1.0 ................................................................................................................ 1 
Section 1.1 ................................................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE II UNION SECURITY ........................................................................................ 1 
Section 2.0 ................................................................................................................ 1 
Section 2.1 ................................................................................................................ 1 
Section 2.2 ................................................................................................................ 2 
Section 2.3 ................................................................................................................ 2 
Section 2.4 ................................................................................................................ 2 
Section 2.5 ................................................................................................................ 2 
Section 2.6 ................................................................................................................ 3 

ARTICLE III SENIORITY .................................................................................................. 3 
Section 3.0 ................................................................................................................ 3 
Section 3.1 ................................................................................................................ 3 
Section 3.2 ................................................................................................................ 4 
Section 3.3 ................................................................................................................ 4 
Section 3.4 ................................................................................................................ 4 
Section 3.5 ................................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.6 ................................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.7 ................................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.8 ................................................................................................................ 5 
Section 3.9 ................................................................................................................ 6 
Section 3.10 .............................................................................................................. 6 

ARTICLE IV HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY .................................. 6 
Section 4.0 ................................................................................................................ 6 
Section 4.1 ................................................................................................................ 7 
Section 4.2 ................................................................................................................ 8 
Section 4.3 ................................................................................................................ 8 
Section 4.4 ................................................................................................................ 8 
Section 4.5 ................................................................................................................ 8 
Section 4.6 ................................................................................................................ 8 

ARTICLE V HOLIDAYS .................................................................................................... 8 
Section 5.0 ................................................................................................................ 8 
Section 5.1 ................................................................................................................ 9 
Section 5.2 ................................................................................................................ 9 
Section 5.3 ................................................................................................................ 9 
Section 5.4 ................................................................................................................ 9 

ARTICLE VI VACATIONS ................................................................................................ 9 
Section 6.0 ................................................................................................................ 9 
Section 6.1 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.2 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.3 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.4 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.5 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.6 .............................................................................................................. 10 
Section 6.7 .............................................................................................................. 10 



  

4889-3182-3777, v. 1 

Section 6.8 .............................................................................................................. 11 
ARTICLE VII LEAVE PROVISIONS ................................................................................ 11 

Section 7.0:  Sick Leave .......................................................................................... 11 
Section 7.1:  Special Leave with Pay: ...................................................................... 12 
Section 7.2:  Family Medical Leave ......................................................................... 14 
Section 7.3:  Unpaid Leave of Absence: .................................................................. 14 

ARTICLE VIII WAGES AND BENEFITS ......................................................................... 15 
Section 8.0 .............................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.1 .............................................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.2 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.2 (a)......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 8.3 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.4 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.5 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.6 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.7 .............................................................................................................. 16 
Section 8.8 .............................................................................................................. 17 
Section 8.9 .............................................................................................................. 17 
Section 8.10 ............................................................................................................ 17 
Section 8.11 ............................................................................................................ 17 

ARTICLE IX INSURANCE AND PENSION ..................................................................... 17 
Section 9.0 .............................................................................................................. 17 
Section 9.1 .............................................................................................................. 19 
Section 9.2 Retiree Health Insurance ....................................................................... 20 
Section 9.3 Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) .............................................. 21 

ARTICLE X SAFETY AND HEALTH ............................................................................... 21 
Section 10.0 ............................................................................................................ 21 
Section 10.1 ............................................................................................................ 21 
Section 10.2 ............................................................................................................ 21 
Section 10.3 ............................................................................................................ 21 
Section 10.4 ............................................................................................................ 21 
Section 10.5 ............................................................................................................ 22 
Section 10.6 ............................................................................................................ 22 
Section 10.7 ............................................................................................................ 22 

ARTICLE XI DISCIPLINARY ACTION ............................................................................ 22 
Section 11.0 ............................................................................................................ 22 
Section 11.1 ............................................................................................................ 22 

ARTICLE XII SAVING CLAUSE ..................................................................................... 22 
Section 12.0 ............................................................................................................ 22 

ARTICLE XIII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ..................................................................... 23 
Section 13.0 ............................................................................................................ 23 
Section 13.1 ............................................................................................................ 23 
Section 13.2 ............................................................................................................ 23 
Section 13.3 ............................................................................................................ 24 
Section 13.4 ............................................................................................................ 24 

ARTICLE XIV MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ......................................................................... 24 
ARTICLE XV DURATION ............................................................................................... 24 

Section 15.0 ............................................................................................................ 24 
Section 15.1 ............................................................................................................ 24 

APPENDIX A ................................................................................................................. 26 



  

4889-3182-3777, v. 1 

APPENDIX B July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI ............................................................. 0 
APPENDIX B-1 July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................. 1 
APPENDIX B-2 July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................. 2 
APPENDIX B-3 July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI ............................................................. 3 
APPENDIX C ................................................................................................................... 4 
APPENDIX D TRIPLE OPTIONAL DENTAL PLAN ........................................................... 5 
APPENDIX E BLUEVIEW VISION RIDER ........................................................................ 7 
APPENDIX F HEALTH BENEFIT OPT-OUT FORM .......................................................... 8 
APPENDIX G ATTESTATION FOR $600 WELLNESS REWARD ..................................... 9 
APPENDIX H HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS ............. 10 
APPENDIX I MILITARY LEAVE POLICY ........................................................................ 16 
 

 

ARTICLE           PAGE  

 I. Recognition 1 

 II. Union Security 1 

   III. Seniority 3 

    IV. Hours of Work, Overtime, and Holiday Pay 6 

     V. Holidays 8 

    VI. Vacations 9 

   VII. Leave Provisions 11 

  VIII. Wages and Benefits 15 

    IX. Insurance and Pension 17 

     X. Safety and Health 20 

    XI. Disciplinary Action 22 

   XII. Saving Clause 22 

  XIII. Grievance Procedure 22

 XIV. Management Rights 24 

 XV. Duration 24 
APPENDICES 

A Intentionally Left Blank 26  

B July 1, 2019 wages with 2% GWI 27  

B-1 July 1, 2020 wages with 2% GWI 28 

B-2 June 30, 2021 wages after all step movement 29 



  

4889-3182-3777, v. 1 

B-3 July 1, 2021 wages with 1.25% GWI 30 

B-4 June 30, 2022 wages after all step movement 31 

C Medical Certificate Form 32 

D Dental Plan 33 

E Retiree HDHP BlueView Vision Rider 35 

F   Health Benefit Opt-Out Form 40 

G  Attestation 41 

H   Active Employee HDHP & BlueView Vision Rider                          42 

I   Memorandum of Agreement effective December 15, 2016 48  

 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      1 

WITNESSETH 
 
This agreement is entered into between the Town of East Hartford, hereinafter referred to 
as the "Town" and Local #818 of Council #4, of the American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union". 

 
ARTICLE I 

RECOGNITION 
Section 1.0 
The Town recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose 
of collective bargaining on matters of wages, hours of employment and all other conditions 
of employment for all supervisory employees of the Town of East Hartford, excluding the 
Director of Libraries, Deputy Director of Finance, and Police and Fire Supervisors and 
Department Heads as defined by the Act.  Reference is hereby made to decision No. 1769 
of the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations and to Memorandum of Agreement dated 
November 30, 1992. 
 
The provisions of the Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining 
unit without discrimination because of age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, race, 
color, creed, national origin, disability or any other class protected by law, as defined under 
state law, political affiliation or union membership. 
 
Section 1.1 
Whenever used in this agreement, the word "his" shall be interpreted to include the word 
"her” and the word "employee" shall be interpreted to include the plural thereof. 

 
ARTICLE II 

UNION SECURITY 
Section 2.0 
The Town agrees to deduct weekly Union dues in whatever sum is established by the Union 
as the regular monthly dues uniformly required as a condition of retaining membership 
therein, upon the receipt of an assignment.  If, for any reason, a deduction was not made on 
the payday in which Union dues were to be deducted, a sufficient amount will be deducted 
in the first pay period in which the employee has sufficient funds due him to bring his 
deductions up to date.  The sum which represents such weekly Union dues deductions shall 
be certified to the Town as constituting such by the duly authorized Financial Officer of the 
Union.  If the sum once certified is changed, the amount deducted from the earnings of an 
employee who has authorized such deductions shall not be increased or decreased until 
thirty (30) days' written notice of such change has been received by the Town from the duly 
authorized Financial Officer of the Union.  
 
Section 2.1 
Deductions provided for in Section 2.0 shall be remitted to the duly authorized Financial 
Officer of the Union not later than one (1) week following the end of each month, following 
the pay period in which the deduction is made.  The Town will simultaneously furnish the 
duly authorized Financial Officer of the Union, each month, a record of the employees from 
whose earnings deductions have been made. 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      2 

Section 2.2 
The Town agrees to deduct Union dues or service fees required to be paid pursuant to this 
Article, provided, however, that no deductions hereunder shall be made without the written 
authorization of the employee, which authorization shall be on a form mutually agreed to by 
the Town and the Union. 
 
The Town's obligation to make such deductions shall terminate automatically upon 
termination of the employee who signed the authorization, or upon his transfer to a job not 
covered by this Agreement, or written revocation by the employee of the authorization, 
except that deductions shall be resumed if an employee, terminated by layoff, is rehired with 
seniority rights during the life of the contract then in existence and the authorization has not 
been revoked. 
 
The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Town harmless against any and all claims, 
demands, suits or proceedings arising out of, or by reason of, any action taken or not taken 
by the Town in reliance upon the Union security and check-off provisions of this Agreement 
or on the correctness of any dues or service fee deduction authorization furnished by the 
Union to the Town.  The Town shall call upon the Union to defend any suits or proceedings 
arising out of the foregoing indemnity and the Union shall promptly defend such suits or 
proceedings without cost to the Town and in the event the Union fails to defend such suits 
or proceedings, the Town shall undertake such defense and costs thereof shall be charged 
to the Union. 
 
Section 2.3 
All employees in the bargaining unit, who are members of the Union, shall tender regular 
periodic dues to the Union. 
 
Upon receipt of an individually signed authorization, the Employer agrees to deduct monthly 
from the wages of employees who on the date of the Agreement are or thereafter become 
members of the Union or voluntarily elect to pay a service fee in lieu thereof, whatever sum 
is established by the Union as the regular monthly dues uniformly required as a condition of 
retaining membership therein. 
 
The sum which represents such monthly dues deductions shall be certified to the Employer 
as constituting such dues deductions by the duly authorized financial officer of the Union. If 
the sum once certified is changed, the amount deducted from the earnings of an employee 
who has authorized such deductions shall not be increased until thirty (30) days written 
notice of such change has been received by the Employer from a duly authorized officer of 
the Union. 
 
Section 2.4 
At least one bulletin board shall be reserved, at an accessible place in each division, for the 
exclusive use of the Union for the posting of Official Union notices or announcements. 
 
Section 2.5 
The Town will provide the Union with sufficient copies of this Agreement, within thirty (30) 
days after the signing of this Agreement.  The local Union will receive one (1) and Council 
#4 will receive two (2) originally signed copies of this agreement. 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      3 

Section 2.6 
In accordance with Public Act 21-15, the Town shall provide to the union, in an editable 
digital file format, and, if possible, in a format agreed to by the union, the following 
information: 
 

a. Name 
b. Job title 
c. Department 
d. Work location 
e. Work telephone number and 
f. The home address of any newly hired employee. 

 
The public employer shall provide the union such information, if possible, with real-time 
electronic transmission of new hire data but in no event later than ten days after such 
employee is hired or the first pay period of the month following the hiring of such employee, 
whichever is earlier. 
 
All new hires which are represented by the bargaining unit, within fifteen (15) days of their 
start date, shall be released from work, for one (1) hour without loss of pay, to attend a union 
orientation. Management shall not be present during the union’s orientation.  
 

ARTICLE III 
SENIORITY 

Section 3.0 
(A) Each employee’s seniority shall be determined by his length of service with the Town 

since the most recent date of hire.  The Town shall prepare a list of all bargaining unit 
employees showing their seniority in length of service with the Town and deliver the 
same to the Union on December 1 of each year.  Upon completion of their probationary 
period, new employees shall be added to this list. 

 
(B) Bargaining unit seniority as used in this agreement will be defined as length of service 

in this bargaining unit upon completion of the probationary period in Section 3.1. 
 
Section 3.1 
(A) New employees shall serve a probationary period of six (6) months from the date of 

hire, which may be extended for three (3) months by mutual agreement between the 
department head and the Union, and they shall have no seniority rights during this 
period, but shall be subject to all other provisions of this Agreement.  All employees 
who have completed their probationary period shall be full-time employees and shall 
acquire seniority as of the date of their employment. 

 
 (B) Employees new to positions in this bargaining unit shall serve a probationary period 

of three (3) months from the date they come into this bargaining unit.  The employee 
shall be evaluated by the new supervisor at least twice in the first month and once 
each month thereafter during the probationary period.  The supervisor may return the 
employee to his/her former position at the end of the six (6) month probationary period 
if the written evaluations show the employee is not performing well in the new position.  
They shall have no bargaining unit seniority rights during this period and shall be 
subject to all other provisions of this Agreement. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      4 

 
Section 3.2 
At any time during the probationary period, the appointing authority may recommend, in 
writing, to the Human Resources Director, the removal of an employee if, in his opinion, the 
working test indicates that the employee is unable or unwilling to perform the duties of his 
position satisfactorily, or that his habits or dependability do not merit his continuing in the 
position.  The reason for his dismissal shall be made in writing to the Human Resources 
Director, the employee and to the Union.  The dismissal of an employee during the 
probationary period shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. 
 
Section 3.3 
(A) All vacancies and new positions shall be posted for a period of five (5) working days 

on bulletin boards to be provided for such purpose, prior to any action taken by the 
Town to fill such vacancies or new positions.  Employees will not be permitted a lateral 
or demotional transfer outside of their division more than once in a twelve-month 
period.  Employees wishing to be considered for assignment to such vacancies or new 
positions may, personally or through their Steward, submit their request to their 
supervisor in writing.   

 
 Employees requesting consideration and who were not selected for such assignment, 

in accordance with the provision of this Agreement, may appeal the action through the 
grievance procedure. 

 
(B) Copies of each job posting and a list of the persons bidding for the job shall be sent to 

the Union Secretary at the end of the posting period. 
 
Section 3.4 
(A) When a vacancy exists or a new position is created, the employee with the highest 

department or division seniority from within the department or division wherein the 
vacancy or new position exists, shall be given the first opportunity to fill the position, 
provided he has the ability and qualifications to perform the work. If he/she refuses, it 
shall go to the next senior person who has the qualifications and ability to perform the 
work. If a promoted employee proves to be unable to perform the work within three (3) 
months, he shall be returned to a position in his former classification and shift in the 
department or division from which he came.  This shall not have any effect on any 
future promotions. 

 
 Senior employees shall be given the first opportunity to train for higher classifications. 
 
(B) If no employee in the department or division wherein the vacancy or new position 

exists is qualified, the position shall be filled by an employee from other departments 
or divisions in the bargaining unit, provided that the employee is qualified. 

 
(C) If no employees in the bargaining unit are qualified, the position may be filled 

through recruitment of applicants not employed by the Town. 
 
(D) The person appointed to the vacancy or new position and the Union Secretary shall 

be notified, in writing, of the appointment and the vacancy shall be filled as soon as 
possible. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      5 

 
(E) Whenever an employee is temporarily promoted to another class having a higher 

maximum rate of pay, the rule for promotion as provided in Section 8.4 shall not apply.  
The rate of pay for such employee shall be his rate of pay in the former class; provided 
however that, after such employee has worked a total of thirty (30) working days within 
the most recent two year period in said higher class, Section 8.4 shall apply to 
determine the level of compensation for the remainder of the temporary assignment.  
When the employee is returned to the former class, the rate of pay shall be at the step 
previously received before the temporary promotion plus any step increases that 
would have occurred during the interim. 

 
(F) In the absence of one or both Public Works superintendents, acting superintendents 

can be assigned at the discretion of the department head. 
 
(G) In the absence of the Park superintendent or the Golf Course superintendent, an 

acting superintendent may be assigned at the discretion of the department head. 
 
Section 3.5 
Layoffs shall take effect as follows: 
 
(A) Part-time employees and temporary employees 
 
(B) Employees working twenty (20) hours a week but less than forty (40) hours per week. 
 
(C) Probationary employees. 
 
(D) The employees with the least bargaining unit seniority shall be laid off first within 

classification.  An employee whose position is eliminated shall have the option to bump 
the least senior employee in the same classification.  The least senior employee within 
the affected classification shall have the option to bump the least senior employee in 
any lateral or lower classification which either was previously held by the bumping 
employee, or for which the bumping employee is qualified.   

 
Section 3.6 
Laid-off employees with the most bargaining unit seniority shall be rehired first to any lower 
or lateral classification the laid-off employee has the ability to perform or any higher 
classification where the laid-off employee is qualified in accordance with the collective 
agreement, and no new employee shall be hired until all laid-off employees have been given 
an opportunity to return to work. 
 
Section 3.7 
Part-time employees are those employees who are not on the list furnished to the Union 
under 3.0 of this Article. 
 
Section 3.8 
Shift preference will be granted on the basis of department or division seniority within the 
classification as openings occur.  Before vacancies are filled, employees in the classification 
will be given shift preference, as provided in this section. 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      6 

Section 3.9 
An employee shall lose his seniority rights under any of the following circumstances: 
 
(A) If he resigns. 
 
(B) If he is discharged for just cause. 
 
(C) If he has been laid-off for lack of work and such layoff continues for more than two (2) 

years. 
 
(D) If he fails to report to work within (10) working days after due notice by the Town to 

the employee's last known address to return to work after layoff, provided the 
employee makes known his desire to return within five (5) days. 

 
Section 3.10 
For all purposes, except layoff, the seniority rights of the Union President, Vice-President, 
Secretary and Treasurer, as well as Stewards, shall be exactly the same as the seniority 
rights of all other employees, except as provided below: 
 
(A) In the case of a layoff, the above-named Union Officials will have super-seniority 

during their term of office, provided they have the qualifications to fill the vacant 
positions. 

ARTICLE IV 
HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY 

Section 4.0 
(A) Except as otherwise provided, the regular hours of employment for employees 

represented by the union in the Public Works Department and Parks Department, shall 
be forty (40) hours per week divided equally over five working days of eight (8) hours, 
Monday through Friday, beginning at 7:00 a.m. and ending at 3:30 p.m. with 1/2 hour 
for lunch.  If there is a second shift it shall begin at 3:00 p.m. and end at 11:30 p.m. 
with 1/2 hour for supper. If there is a third shift it shall begin at 11:00 p.m. and end at 
7:30 a.m. with 1/2 hour for supper. 

 
 (B) The Collector of Revenue, Supervisor of Administration and Environmental Control, 

Information Technology Manager, Grants Administrator, Assistant Library Director, 
Town Engineer, Assistant Director of Finance, Assessor, Assistant Director of Public 
Works, Supervisor of Nursing, and Police Records Supervisor shall normally work 
between the hours of 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday with one (1) hour 
for lunch.  The Assistant Library Director shall work five (5) days of seven (7) hours 
with one (1) hour for lunch.  Normal work hours will be scheduled during library open 
hours and may include evening (12-8) and/or Saturday (9-5) shifts. This constitutes a 
regular work day of seven (7) hours and a regular work week of thirty-five (35) hours.  
Should the interests of the Town require it, the incumbents of the positions cited herein 
may either occasionally, seasonally, or periodically work a different schedule of hours 
provided the union and the affected employees concur. 

 
(C) For all Police Communications Supervisors, the work schedule is an 8.75 hour 

workday with 4-days-on and 3 days-off, rotating every eight (8) weeks. The Chief of 
Police, or his designee, will be responsible for assigning all Police Communications 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      7 

Supervisors to the appropriate shifts. Shift rotation is on a 56-day cycle.  Initial 
placement on a shift is determined by seniority bidding.  The bid period shall be for a 
period equal to 56 days times the number of Communications Supervisors employed 
at the time of the bidding.   

 
 At the end of 56 days, all shift assignments are rotated.  The rotation is: 
 

Relief to Eves 
Eves to Days 
Days to Mids 
Mids to Relief 
 

The swapping of assigned shifts will be administered as follows: 
 
1)  All exchanges must be requested in writing, signed by all involved parties, and 

received by the Chief of Police or his designee at least 24 hours in advance of the 
beginning of the desired swap period. 

 
2)  All exchanges shall be reviewed and approved or disapproved in advance by the 

Chief of Police or his/her designee. 
 

3) The Department shall not incur any liability to pay overtime or compensatory time 
as a result of the swap.  No swap shall be approved which would violate any 
applicable State or Federal regulations or laws regarding the payment of overtime.  
No swap shall be approved which would violate any requirement of the collective 
bargaining agreement regarding the payment of overtime or which imposes 
restrictions regarding the number of hours that may be worked. 

 
4) Once a swap has been approved, the work schedule(s) shall be amended to 

reflect the change.  Upon approval, the responsibility for the shift shall rest with 
the employee now scheduled to work.  If the employee becomes ill and cannot 
work, he/she shall be charged with the sick time deduction, and the now-vacant 
shift will be filled in the same manner as any other vacant shift.  Any and all types 
of approved time off will be deducted from the employee taking responsibility for 
the shift. 

 
5) Except as described above, the exchanging of shifts, or a portion of any shift, is 

prohibited. 
 

Section 4.1 
Time and one-half shall be paid to non-exempt employees for: 
 
(A) All work performed in excess of the regularly scheduled hours of work in any one day 

and any work performed in excess of the regularly scheduled hours of work in any 
work week. 

 
(B) All work performed on Saturday (does not apply to Police Communication 

Supervisors). 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      8 

(C) When the Waste Services Supervisor and/or Foreman works on a Saturday, he shall 
be compensated for eight (8) hours or the total time worked, whichever is greater. 

 
Section 4.2 
Double time shall be paid for: 
 
(A) All work performed on Sunday (does not apply to Police Communication Supervisors). 

 
(B) All overtime work performed on the holidays listed in Article V, Section 5.0. 
 
Section 4.3 
(A) When an employee is called in for work outside his regularly scheduled working hours, 

he shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate. 
 
(B) When an employee is pre-scheduled to report for meetings of Town Boards or 

Commissions outside his regularly scheduled working hours, he shall be paid a 
minimum of two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate. 

 
(C) A superintendent may, at the department head's discretion be authorized to work 

overtime whenever two or more Local 818 subordinates are called in for overtime 
work. 

 
Section 4.4 
(A) All bargaining unit work will be done by bargaining unit employees unless there are no 

qualified bargaining unit employees available or if unforeseen circumstances occur 
which makes the use of bargaining unit employees impossible. 

 
(B) The Town agrees that the Assistant Director of Public Works shall not be assigned or 

perform bargaining unit duties of subordinate bargaining unit employees. 
 
Section 4.5 
All work performed on an overtime basis shall first be offered to employee(s) who regularly 
perform such work.  Supervisory overtime in Police Communications will be performed only 
by qualified certified employees. 
 
Section 4.6 
Compensatory time shall not accumulate to more than sixty (60) ninety (90) hours.  An 
employee may elect in lieu of overtime payment, compensatory time off for such overtime 
worked at the applicable overtime rate. 

ARTICLE V 
HOLIDAYS 

Section 5.0 
The following holidays shall be observed as days off with full pay: 
 
New Year's Day Memorial Day Veterans Day 
Martin Luther King's Birthday Independence Day Thanksgiving Day 
Lincoln's Birthday Labor Day Christmas Day 
Washington's Birthday Columbus Day Good Friday 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      9 

The employee’s birthday shall constitute an additional paid holiday. Any employee’s birthday 
falling on a weekend or holiday shall be celebrated within the month in which it occurs. With 
the prior approval of the Department Head, an employee may select another day within the 
calendar month on which to observe the birthday. 
 
Any unanticipated holiday or day of mourning declared by the Mayor, or his designee, and 
celebrated by all other Town employees, other than Board of Education employees, in the 
form of time off with pay, shall be granted to the members of this bargaining unit.  A holiday 
shall mean a day in which the usual Town business is suspended for the commemoration of 
some event or person. 
 
Section 5.1 
(A) Holidays falling on Saturday shall be celebrated on the preceding day. 
 
(B) Holidays falling on a Sunday shall be celebrated on Monday. 
 
Section 5.2 
Whenever any of these holidays shall occur while an employee is out on sick leave, the 
employee shall be granted an additional day off at a time mutually agreeable to the 
department or division head with no charge to sick leave. 
 
Section 5.3 
When a holiday occurs while an employee is on vacation, said holiday shall not be charged 
against the employee's earned vacation time.  The employee shall be granted an additional 
day off at a time mutually agreeable to the employee and the department or division head. 
 
Section 5.4 
Article V, Sections 5.0, 5.1, 5.2, 5.3, and any other contract language regarding holidays, 
shall not apply to Police Communications Supervisors.  In lieu of days off with pay for 
holidays, Police Communications Supervisors shall receive an amount equal to 7% of their 
base wage, payable on the first payday of each December.  This lump sum payment will be 
based upon the rate of pay in effect on December 1st and shall not become a part of base 
pay.   

ARTICLE VI 
VACATIONS 

Section 6.0 
Employees covered by this Agreement shall earn vacation at the current base rate of pay 
as follows: 
 
(A) One week for six months but less than one (1) year of service. 

 
(B) Two weeks for one (1) year but less than five (5) years of service. 
 
(C) Three weeks for five (5) years of service. 
 
(D) Four weeks for ten (10) years of service. 
 
(E) One additional day of vacation after completing fifteen (15) full years of service for a 

total maximum of five (5) weeks for twenty (20) years or more of service. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      10 

 
(F) The employee's anniversary date will be used to determine the amount of vacation 

time due. 
 
Section 6.1 
The scheduling of vacation periods will be made by the Town, in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 6.2 and 6.3, no later than April 15th of the vacation year.  However, 
employees shall have the right to change their vacation for good reason. 
 
Section 6.2 
Requested dates for vacation leave shall be granted with due consideration to the wishes of 
the employee except that it may be deferred by the Department Head, or his designee so 
as not to conflict with the emergency or peak workloads of the department or division. 
 
Section 6.3 
Whenever there shall be a conflict in requested date(s), preference will be given to 
employees according to seniority.  
 
Section 6.4 
When an employee has exhausted his/her sick leave, he/she must elect to use any other 
accumulated time unless the employee has requested and received a leave of absence as 
prescribed in Article 7, Section 7.6. 
 
Section 6.5 
When an employee is separated from Town service, he shall be paid his pro-rata 
accumulated vacation leave.  In the event of an employee's death, such payment shall be 
made to the employee's estate. 
 
Section 6.6 
Effective 1 January 1989, the maximum accumulation of vacation leave permitted will be 
fifty (50) days.  Employees hired prior to January 1, 1989 may accumulate more than fifty 
(50) days’ vacation.  However, they may not carry over more than fifty (50) vacation days 
from one anniversary date to another.  Earned vacation leave will be credited to the 
employee’s record on his/her anniversary date effective with calendar year 1989.  No 
vacation beyond fifty (50) days will be paid by the Town at retirement or separation.  No 
vacation leave may be used during the sixty (60) days prior to retirement without prior 
approval from the Town.  When an employee is separated from Town Service, he/she shall 
be paid his/her pro-rata accumulated vacation leave to a maximum of fifty (50) days.  Only 
forty (40) of the fifty (50) days shall be credited to the employee’s pension calculation. 
 
Section 6.7 
In determining vacations the Town shall schedule vacations from the smallest practicable 
units in order to provide the greatest number of concurrent vacations possible.  For Police 
Communications Supervisors, vacation weeks shall be the same as pay weeks, beginning 
on a Sunday and ending on the following Saturday.  No more than one Communications 
Supervisor will be permitted to be on a vacation week at any time, however, exceptions may 
be made by the Chief or his designee. 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      11 

Section 6.8 
In the event that an employee becomes sick during his/her vacation, an employee may elect 
to charge the vacation time that he/she is sick to sick leave and reschedule his/her vacation 
at a time mutually agreeable to the parties, provided that the employee has notified the Town 
immediately upon becoming sick, or as soon as possible.  Medical verification of any 
sickness incurred while on vacation must be provided on a form provided by the Town before 
vacation time may be changed to sick time. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
LEAVE PROVISIONS 

Section 7.0:  Sick Leave 
All employees shall earn paid sick leave at the rate of 1 1/4 days per month with no maximum 
on accumulation cumulative to 150 days. Bargaining unit members who have accumulated 
more than 150 days as of June 30, 2023, will not be subject to the 150 day cap until their 
accumulation drops below 150 days. Sick leave with pay may only be used for the 
employee's recovery from illness or injury, or to permit the absence of the employee for five 
days to care for a member of the employee's immediate family.  Immediate family, for 
purposes of this section, is defined as the employee's spouse, dependent child or either 
parent of the employee who is currently domiciled with the employee.  Use of sick leave to 
care for a family member shall be limited to two occurrences per calendar year. 
 
(A) Accrual of earned sick leave credits will continue while employees are absent from 

work due to vacation, injury, or illness, except for designated FMLA Leave (see 
Section 7.2). 

(B) In exceptional cases, the Human Resources Director, with the advice of the 
department head, may grant additional sick leave with pay.  Requests for such 
additional sick leave shall be in writing and signed by the employee, when possible. 

 Of the fifteen (15) potential sick days which can be accrued per year, one (1) can be 
used as a sick/personal day which may be taken during the fiscal year in a minimum 
of one-quarter (1/4) day segments for personal business or appointments that must 
be conducted during the working hours. Use of this personal/sick time will not interrupt 
the earning of personal days for perfect attendance. 

(C) Sick leave with pay will not be granted for recuperation from illness or injury which is 
directly traceable to employment by another employer. 

(D) It shall be the responsibility of the employee to notify the department or division head 
in advance of sick leave usage, if possible, and in any event not later than 30 minutes 
after before the workday begins, and if the absence exceeds five (5) working days, to 
provide the department or division head with a doctor’s certificate on the approved 
form (Appendix C) or substantially equivalent information attesting to the need for 
absence.  The signed form shall be presented to the department or division head 
immediately upon returning to work.  Whenever possible, an employee who is absent 
for more than five (5) working days must notify his department or division head of his 
intention to return to work. In addition, the Town shall have the right to require a 
medical certificate (Appendix C) to substantiate the employee’s request for sick leave 
for the following reasons: (a) any period of absence consisting of more than five (5) 
consecutive working days; (b) leave of any duration if absence from duty recurs 
frequently or habitually; (c) or leave of any duration when evidence indicates that sick 
leave is being abused and reasonable cause may exist for requiring such a certificate. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      12 

(E) It shall be the responsibility of each department head to maintain accurate up-to-date 
leave records for his/her employees.  Once every calendar year in the month of 
December, the department head shall notify all employees of the amount of vacation 
and sick leave to their credit and further shall submit copies of the same to the Human 
Resources Director who shall maintain a control file of such data. 

(F) For every calendar quarter of perfect attendance, an employee shall earn one 
Personal Day. If an employee has perfect attendance for four (4) consecutive quarters, 
the employee shall earn an additional Personal Day. An employee with perfect 
attendance will earn one Personal Day for each calendar quarter of perfect attendance 
and an additional Personal Day for a perfect calendar year. No more than five (5) days 
may be accumulated.  Perfect attendance for the purpose of this article shall mean no 
time taken for tardiness, sick leave, unauthorized leave, authorized leave without pay, 
or disciplinary suspension.  Personal Days shall be used at times mutually agreeable 
to the employee and department head.  The Town will not provide payment to any 
employee who wishes to cash in unused personal days. 

(G) If an employee has unused sick leave at the time of his/her layoff, he/she shall be paid 
in a lump sum for each day of unused sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. 

(H) Employees who became members of this bargaining unit after 9/19/86 will receive 
payment for unused sick leave, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days, upon his/her 
retirement or death. For this section only, retirement is defined as retiring under a 
Normal, Early or Disability retirement from the Defined Benefit pension plan or 
reaching Normal Retirement Age of 65 years old and vested in the Defined 
Contribution plan. 

(I) In the event of an employee’s death, the employee’s estate shall receive, on the basis 
of the employee’s current wages, full compensation for any of the employee’s 
accumulation of sick leave up to a maximum of ninety (90) days. 

(J) Any current employee who belonged previously to AFSCME Local 1174 and had the 
opportunity to accumulate 130 days maximum terminal leave for unused sick leave 
will retain that benefit on the effective date of this agreement as long as he/she 
remains in this bargaining unit.  The benefit will not apply to any employee who did not 
formerly belong to Local 1174 or to any employee who became a member of this unit 
after 9/19/86. 

(K) In the event of the death of any employee covered under (J) above, the employee’s 
estate shall receive, on the basis of the employee’s current wages, full compensation 
for any of the employee’s unused accumulation of sick leave up to a maximum of 120 
days. 

(L) An employee shall be able to take time off without loss of pay to attend appointments 
with medical providers.  Such paid time to attend appointments with medical providers 
shall not exceed two (2) hours in any given quarter. 

 
Section 7.1:  Special Leave with Pay: 
The following types of leave with pay may be offered: 
 
(A) Workers’ Compensation: 

The Town will comply with all applicable state legislation relating to Workers’ 
Compensation. 
 
Whenever an employee shall be absent because of a Town service connected injury 
or occupational disease they will be compensated under the provision of the Workers’ 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      13 

Compensation Act of Connecticut.  In addition to payments received under the 
Workers’ Compensation Act, any employee with six (6) months of continuous service 
shall receive payment from the Town, which payment will equal the difference between 
his take-home pay (gross pay less deduction for pension, income tax and FICA) and 
the payments received under the Workers’ Compensation Act for up to one year or 
maximum improvement, whichever comes first. 
 

The Corporation Counsel is authorized by the Town to negotiate anything less than 
the full amount of such reimbursement, subject to approval by the Town Council. 
 
Employees shall report all on-the-job illnesses and injuries, in accordance with 
Workers’ Compensation Laws of the State of Connecticut.  The Town shall post 
prominently a notice designating the authority to which employees shall report 
illnesses and injuries. 

 
(B) Jury Duty: 
 The Town will comply with State statutes regarding jury duty leave.  Any employee 

who is required to be absent from work in order to report for jury duty on a regularly 
scheduled work day will receive pay for those hours for which he/she is absent from 
work for this reason, at his/her regular base hourly rate less any fee or other 
compensation paid to him/her for performing such jury duty.  A second shift employee 
who reports for jury duty and is excused from jury service prior to 2:00 p.m. on any 
regularly scheduled work day shall report for work at the beginning of his regularly 
scheduled shift on such day.  He shall not be eligible for pay by the Town unless he 
so reports to work.  These provisions shall not apply in case of jury duty on any day 
during which the employee is not scheduled to work, nor on holidays, vacation periods, 
or authorized leaves of absences nor shall such provisions apply to employees who 
have volunteered for jury duty. 

 
(C) Funeral Leave: 
 Three (3) Four (4) days of special leave with full pay, within a period of seven (7) 

consecutive working days following the date of death or funeral, shall be granted for 
death in the employee’s immediate family.  Immediate family, for purposes of this 
section, is defined as parents, step-parents, grandparents, spouse, brother, sister, 
child (including foster and/or adopted children), step-child, grandchild, son-in-law, 
daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in-law, father-in-law, and any 
other relative that is domiciled in the employee’s household. 

 
(D) Military Leave: 
 Employees shall be granted leave in accordance with the Town’s policy on Military 

Leave, effective April 20, 2022, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix I.with 
full pay at current base rate for the purpose of attending training camps for Reservists 
or National Guard members provided:  

 
 Military pay and wages paid by the Town together do not exceed employee’s regular 

wages. 
 Such summer training periods do not exceed two weeks. 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at  -0.44"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.44",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.81" +  1.13" +  1.38" + 
1.63"



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      14 

(E) Union officials shall be allowed the required time to attend official Union conventions 
and conferences up to a total maximum of twenty-two (22) days in a two-year period, 
commencing with this contract. 

 
Section 7.2:  Family Medical Leave 
 
The Town will comply with the terms of the Federal Family Medical Leave Acts. These terms 
include but are not limited to the following: 
 
(A) Under circumstances described below, employees will be eligible for up to 12 weeks 
of paid or unpaid family and medical leave in a twelve-month period. Pursuant to Federal 
Law, employees may choose, or employers may require the employee to use, accrued paid 
leave to cover some or all of the FMLA leave taken.  In addition, employees may choose, or 
employers may require, the substitution of accrued paid vacation or personal leave for any 
of the situations covered by FMLA.  
(B) Events which qualify employees for up to twelve (12) weeks of unpaid leave are: 
 Birth or adoption of a child or placement of a child in the employee’s home for foster 
care. 
 A serious health condition, as defined by FMLA, of the employee or employee’s 
spouse, employee’s parent or child. 
 Any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee’s spouse, child, or 
parent is a covered military member on active duty or notified of an impending call-up to 
covered active duty. 
(C) Employees may be eligible for up to twenty-six (26) weeks of leave during a single 
12-month period to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness who is 
the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin to the eligible employee (Military caregiver leave). 
(D) To qualify for FMLA leave, employees requesting such leave must explain the reason 
for the leave in writing to their department head so that the Town can determine if FMLA-
qualified leave will be granted. 
(E) The Town may require medical certification to document the reason for the leave, 
where provided by law. 
(F) The Town will notify the employee in writing before the leave begins that the leave 
has been designated as FMLA leave and will be deducted from the allowable maximum. 
(G)  During the period of FMLA-qualified leave, the employee shall not be credited for 
length of service and shall not be credited with time for the purpose of accruing sick leave, 
vacation leave, or Personal Days. 
(H) During the period of FMLA-qualified leave, the employee shall retain health benefits 
at the same level as before the leave.  The Town will continue to pay the premiums as before 
the leave.  Any employee contributions to health insurance shall be made directly to the 
Town by the employee. 
 
Section 7.3:  Unpaid Leave of Absence: 
The Human Resources Director, with the advice of the department head, may grant a leave 
of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) year, provided such leave may 
not be taken for the purpose of seeking or performing other employment.  Requests for such 
leave shall be made in writing to the Human Resources Director and shall include a 
statement of the reasons for the leave and proposed length of the leave. 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.5"

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      15 

 (A) During the period of leave without pay, except for military leave, the employee shall 
not be credited for length of service and shall not be credited with time for the purposes 
of accruing sick leave, vacation leave, or personal days. 

(B) Except as provided for in 7.3.D.2 below, an employee shall be reinstated from unpaid 
leave of absence to any position for which he/she is qualified that is comparable to the 
position the employee last held with the Town, but without any preferred status from 
his/her prior employment. 

(C) Any employee who is on an unpaid leave of absence shall not be paid for any holidays 
or sick leave during the period of absence.  Any vacation time due to an employee at 
the time the unpaid leave of absence commences may be paid at 
that time.   Authorized unpaid leaves of absence for one (1) month or less will not be 
used as a basis of reducing health insurance benefits. 

(D) The Town will comply with the terms of the Veterans’ Reemployment Rights Act. 
1. No employee shall lose any seniority standing because of any military service 

including service in the National Guard or organized Reserves. 
2. Upon returning from extended active military service, an employee shall be 

reinstated to his former job, or one of like rank, and shall receive credit for the 
yearly increments awarded, if any, during his/her absence for military service, 
provided that he/she reports for work within ninety (90) days of his discharge from 
military service.  The Human Resources Director will so notify, in writing, all 
employees entering extended active duty in the military service. 

3. The Town will give credit to the employee for time spent in military service for 
retirement purposes. 

4. The employee’s accumulation of sick leave upon leaving for extended active duty 
in the military service shall be retained to his/her credit when he/she returns. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

WAGES AND BENEFITS 
 
Section 8.0 
Effective and Retroactive to July 1, 20192022 all classifications represented by Local 818, 
wage rates and steps in effect on June 30, 20192022 shall be increased by 2.0%2.5% 
(Appendix B). 
 
Section 8.0 (a) 
All bargaining unit members on Step 2 of their salary grade will be moved to Step 3 of their 
salary grade effective and retroactive to June 30, 2019. Effective on July 1, 2019 all 
bargaining union steps for all grades shall be renumbered one (1) through nine (9) in 
Appendix B.  
 
Section 8.1 
Effective and retroactive to July 1, 20202023 all classifications represented by Local 818, 
wage rates and steps in effect on June 30, 2020 2023 shall be increased by 2.0% (Appendix 
B-1). 
 
Section 8.1 (a) 
Effective on July 1, 2020 all bargaining union steps for all grades shall be renumbered one 
(1) through eight (8) in Appendix B-2. Bargaining Unit members will remain on their current 
grade and step for the 2020 Fiscal year. Effective on each bargaining unit member’s 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      16 

anniversary date the union member’s salary will be recalibrated in accordance with Appendix 
B-2. 
 
Section 8.2 
Effective July 1, 20212024 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage rates and steps 
in effect on June 30, 20212024 shall be increased by 1.25% 2.0% (Appendix B-2). 
 
Section 8.2 (a) 
Effective on July 1, 2020 all bargaining union steps for all grades shall be renumbered one 
(1) through seven (7) in Appendix B-4. Bargaining Unit members will remain on their current 
grade and step for the 2021 Fiscal year. Effective on each bargaining unit member’s 
anniversary date the union member’s salary will be recalibrated in accordance with Appendix 
B-4.  
 
Section 8.2 (a) 
 
Effective July 1, 2025 all classifications represented by Local 818, wage rates and steps in 
effect on June 30, 2025 shall be increased by 2.0% (Appendix B-3). 
 
Section 8.3 
Employees working on a shift other than the regular day shift shall receive a shift differential 
of ten (10) percent.  This section shall not apply to Police Communications Supervisors. 
 
Section 8.4 
Whenever an employee is permanently moved from a class or position in one grade to a 
different class in a grade having a higher maximum rate of pay, he shall be paid at the lowest 
step in the higher range that produces an increase of not less than five percent (5%). 
 
Section 8.5 
Whenever an employee is permanently moved from a class or position in one grade to a 
different class in a grade having a lower maximum of pay, he shall be paid at the step in the 
lower range which coincides with the same step he received in the former. 
 
Section 8.6 
Employees shall be covered by the Unemployment Compensation Laws of the State. 
 
Section 8.7 
Employees who work on the second and third shifts will receive their weekly pay on 
Thursday. 
 
Effective as soon as practical after Issuance of the Award in Case No. 2023- MBA-149, 
employees shall be paid on a ‘bi-weekly’ basis via direct deposit. 
 
Section 8.8 
The Town agrees to pay all employees required to work  on a paving (blacktop) operation a 
rate of one dollar ($1.00) per hour added to their regular rate for the periods that they are 
required to work on this job. 
 

Formatted: Not Highlight



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      17 

Section 8.8 
Employees required to use a privately owned automobile for the conduct of Town business 
shall be reimbursed, once a month, for all mileage driven at the rate of twenty-one point five 
(21.5) cents per mile, or I.R.S. limit, whichever is greater. I.R.S. rate.  
 
Section 8.9 
(A) Employees who hold Local 818 bargaining unit classifications that are currently eligible 

to use a Town vehicle for the purpose of commuting to and from work shall continue 
to receive said benefit. 
 

(B) If an employee who is truck eligible transfers to or is promoted to another position 
which was historically truck eligible said employee shall continue his/her truck 
eligibility.  If an employee who is truck eligible transfers or promotes to a classification 
which is not truck eligible the employee shall lose the benefit. 

 
(C) Any new employees or present employees, who are not truck eligible as of June 11, 

1992, or who lose their eligibility as aforesaid, shall enjoy the benefit of a Town-owned 
vehicle at the sole discretion of the Mayor. 

 
Section 8.10 
New employees and current employees new to this bargaining unit who begin on the 
Probationary Step will move to Step 1 in their grade upon completion of probation. 
 
Section 8.11 
Bargaining unit members who were employed by the Town between March 1, 2020 and 
December 31, 2021, and are still employed by the Town at the time of issuance of the Award 
in Case No. 2023-MBA-149, shall receive a $800 payment. All other bargaining unit 
members employed by the Town upon issuance of the Award in Case No. 2023-MBA-149 
will receive $400. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE AND PENSION 

Section 9.0 
The Town shall provide and pay for the following insurance benefits for all active employees 
and their enrolled dependents: 
 

(A) Effective July 1, 2014, A High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) with Health Savings 
Account (HSA) ($1500/$3000$2000/$4000 100% in-network/80% out-of-network) 
with prescription drug coverage as described in Appendix H. Effective July 1, 2017, 
the HDHP deductibles will increase to $2000/$4000. 
 

i. Employees may contribute to the HSA on a pre-tax basis. 
  

ii. Employees ineligible for the HSA will be offered the alternative Health 
Reimbursement Account and Flexible Savings Account. 
 

iii. The Town shall implement a Wellness Program which offers a financial incentive 
for employees to take a more active role in their health. The Wellness Program 
requires employees to annually: (a) have their physician complete the 

Formatted: Not Highlight



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      18 

Preventative Health Attestation form attached as Appendix G certifying that they 
have had medical screenings appropriate for their age; and (b) have their 
physician provide them with biometrical results; and (c) complete an on-line health 
risk assessment utilizing the biometrical results.  Effective July 1, 2014 
eEmployees who fully comply with all of the Wellness Program requirements in a 
given year shall receive $250 $600 contribution toward their HDHP deductible for 
that plan year.  Proof of compliance will be required. Effective July 1, 2019 and 
thereafter, this wellness incentive will increase to $600. 

 
(B) Triple Option Dental Plan, as described in Appendix D. 

 
(C) Effective July 1, 2014 BlueView Vision Rider as described in Appendix E. 

 
(D) The Town shall provide and pay for a Fifty Thousand ($50,000) Dollar Life Insurance 

policy for each employee, with Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage in 
the principal sum with double indemnity in the event of accidental death.  Members 
of the Union who retire on or after the date of execution of this agreement will be 
provided life insurance coverage in the amount of Ten Thousand ($10,000) Dollars. 

 
(E) Medicare Plan B for employees over sixty-five (65) years of age. 

 
(F)(E) All members of the bargaining unit who elect coverage under Sections (A) 

and (C) above (health, prescription drug, vision) will contribute toward the cost of 
such insurance benefits on a weekly pre-tax basis in accordance with Section 125 
of the Internal Revenue Service Code for each year of the contract as described 
below: 

 
1. Effective July 1, 2019,2022 bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute nine eleven percent (9%)(11%) of the cost of his or her insurance 
coverage. 

 
2. Effective July 1, 20202023, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute ten eleven and one-half percent (10%)(11.5%) of the cost of his or her 
insurance coverage. 

 
3. Effective July 1, 20212024, bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute eleven twelve percent (11%)(12%) of the cost of his or her insurance 
coverage. 

 
3. Effective July 1, 2021 2025 bargaining unit members shall be required to 

contribute eleven twelve and one-half percent (11%)(12.5%) of the cost of his or 
her insurance coverage. 

 
(G)(F) The Town of East Hartford will implement a "Health Benefit Opt-Out Incentive 

Program."  This plan will offer employees a financial incentive to drop Town-
sponsored health insurance (excluding Dental) if they have or can get health benefits 
through another plan.  
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25",  No bullets or numbering



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      19 

1. The payments to be made to employees who drop their Town-sponsored 
health insurance plan (Blue Cross & Blue Shield or any HMO), excluding 
Dental, will be as follows: 

 
 

 
Coverage Type 

Payment 
Amount 

Individual $1,000.00 
Individual plus one dependent $1,250.00 
Individual plus two or more 
dependents 

$1,500.00 

 
No payment will be made for a reduction in the number of dependents.  The 
employee's entire contract must be canceled by the employee to qualify for 
payment. 
 

2. One-quarter of the above amounts ($250.00, $312.50, $375.00, respectively) 
will be paid at the end of the fiscal quarter for which the plan is canceled.  
Prorated payments will be made if an employee's plan is canceled partway 
through a quarter. 

 
3. Employees wishing to take advantage of this option will fill out the change form 

provided by their plan and the "Health Benefit Opt-Out Form," attached as 
Appendix F, and will provide written evidence of health insurance coverage by 
another plan. 

 
4. Current employees who are eligible but are not now on a Town-sponsored 

insurance plan will be qualified for this incentive upon presentation of proof of 
coverage by another health insurance plan. 

 
5. New employees who are eligible for Town coverage upon employment but 

choose not to enroll will be eligible for this incentive upon presentation of 
written evidence of health insurance coverage by another plan.  Prorated 
payments will be made to new employees if they begin employment partway 
through a quarter. 

 
6. Employees who opt-out of their Town-sponsored plan and then find that the 

other source of coverage is no longer available may re-enroll in a Town plan 
subject to the rules of that plan.  Employees can enroll in the Town's Blue 
Cross & Blue Shield only at the first of each month.   
 

7. To be eligible for the opt-out payment, the employee shall not be receiving 
coverage under any other Town or East Hartford Board of Education policy. 

 
Section 9.1 
The Town reserves the option to change insurance carriers from time to time, but not more 
than once in any calendar year, through competitive bidding, for all insurance benefits.  
However, covered services shall not be reduced by any such change, and there shall be no 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      20 

loss of coverage due to pre-existing conditions.  Any substitute plan shall have a high quality 
network, defined as one of the three (3) largest networks in the service area. 
 
Section 9.2 Retiree Health Insurance 
The term “Retired employee” will mean a former employee continuously employed by the 
Town until the commencement of a pension who meets the requirements to receive a 
Normal, Early Disability pension from the Town and who is receiving a pension provided for 
hereunder.  The term “vested employee” is being added to the Retirement Plan and will 
mean any former employee who terminates employment and who subsequently qualified for 
a deferred pension benefit. 
 
The East Hartford Retirement Plan as amended by agreement between the Union and the 
Town of East Hartford, dated August 24, 1988, covering all full time employees except Police 
and Firefighters shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect as it pertains to 
bargaining unit employees for the duration of this contract and as otherwise provided in said 
Agreement. 

 
The Town shall provide and pay for the insurance benefits listed in Section 9.0 (A) for all 
eligible employees upon retirement.  To be eligible for the retiree health and spousal 
insurance benefits set forth in this Section 9.2 the employee will have been hired prior to 
January 1, 2006 and must be actively employed by the Town of East Hartford until the 
commencement of retirement. 
 
(A) For retired employees age 65 and over, who are eligible for Social Security, Parts A 

and B Supplemental coverage shall be provided in place of the foregoing coverage. 
 
(B) The Town shall provide and pay for the insurance benefits as described in Section 

9.0 (A) for the retired employee’s spouse, under the following conditions: 
 

i. This coverage is only effective for the spouse of an employee retiring on or 
after January 1, 1984.  Such coverage will not be provided to the spouse of an 
employee who retired prior to that date. 

ii. The retired employee must attain age sixty (60) before his/her spouse will be 
eligible for this coverage. 

iii. If the retired employee remarries, the new spouse will not be eligible for this 
coverage. 

iv. The term “spouse” shall mean the retired employee’s spouse who shall have 
been married and living with the employee as his/her spouse at the time of 
their retirement.   

v. In order for this coverage to be effective, the retired employee must pay to the 
Town 50% of the monthly premium, as determined by the Town.  This premium 
shall be deducted from the retired employee’s monthly pension check.  If such 
deduction is not made continuously from the employee’s pension check 
commencing with his 60th birthday, all coverage to the spouse shall cease and 
not be reinstated. 

vi. When the retired employee’s spouse reaches age sixty-five (65) and enrolls in 
Medicare, the Town will pay 100% of the premium for Parts A and B 
Supplemental coverage. 

 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      21 

(C) The PPO will be replaced with the HDHP for all employees retiring on or after July 1, 
2019. The deductible will be $1500 $2000 single, $3000$4000 family (Appendix H). The 
Town will not contribute any portion of the annual plan deductible or offer the wellness 
incentive.   
 
Section 9.3 Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
Upon ratification of this Agreement by both parties, employees eligible for a defined benefit 
pension (those hired prior to January 1, 2006) shall contribute one percent (1.0%) of their 
annual base pay (not including overtime) towards the Other Post-Employment Benefits 
(OPEB) Trust. This employee contribution shall be on a pre-tax basis.  It is understood that 
existing employee required contributions toward retiree insurance (e.g., contributions for 
spousal and dependent benefits) remain. Effective July 1, 2020, the 1% contribution will 
increase to 1.25%. Effective July 1, 2025, the contribution will increase to 1.50%. 
 

ARTICLE X 
SAFETY AND HEALTH 

Section 10.0 
A joint safety committee shall be formed by the Town and the Union and said committee, 
which shall consist of not more than two (2) employees representing the Union and two (2) 
persons representing the Town, shall meet not less than once every other month, or at the 
request of the majority of the members to review and recommend safety and health 
conditions. 
 
Section 10.1  
The Town shall provide foul-weather gear, i.e., raincoats, rain hats, boots, gloves, etc. and 
for their care as necessary. 

 
Section 10.2 
The Town shall furnish safety helmets and safety glasses to any employee working in 
hazardous locations or with hazardous equipment.  The Town will contribute up to $150 (one 
hundred fifty dollars) toward the cost of safety shoes (steel toe) provided the employee's job 
requires them.  In order to receive compensation, employees must turn in a valid receipt.  
Safety shoes and other equipment as required shall be worn at all times where hazardous 
conditions exist.  Failure to do so will result in discipline which need not be preceded by a 
verbal or written warning. 

The Town will provide 5 (five) sets of work uniforms per week for the waste services 
supervisor and foreman with cleaning services.  The Town shall provide either two (2 
sweatshirts or five (5) T-shirts annually to all other bargaining unit employees working in the 
Public Works and Parks Departments, excluding the Town Engineer and the Assistant 
Director of Public Works. 
 
Section 10.3 
The existing policies and practices concerning coffee breaks shall remain in effect. 
 
Section 10.4 
Employees who may be required to work overtime more than two (2) hours beyond the end 
of their regular shift will be permitted a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period with no interruption 
of pay for such ½ hour. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      22 

 
Section 10.5 
The Town will furnish free to any employee, upon his request, medical injections for the 
prevention of poison ivy and poison oak reactions, tetanus and such other injections as may 
be recommended by the Town Health Officer. 
 
Section 10.6 
All employees shall be required to abide with all OSHA regulations.  After the Town has 
provided the employees with safety equipment, the employee will be responsible for the 
replacement of this equipment, if lost or stolen.  An employee shall not be responsible for 
equipment lost or stolen by virtue of other than his own carelessness or negligence. 
 
Section 10.7 
All employees in the classification of Police Communications Supervisor will be required to 
carry communication devices on a 24-hour per day basis.  Communication devices will be 
provided by the Town, and may be used for personal matters while the employee is off duty. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

Section 11.0 
(A) Disciplinary action shall be for just cause and shall be applied in a fair manner and 

shall be consistent with the infraction for which the disciplinary action is being applied. 
 
(B) Disciplinary actions ordinarily shall be preceded by an oral warning and shall include: 

 
1. A written warning or reprimand 
2. Suspension for a period not to exceed five (5) days. 
3. Discharge 

 
(C) All disciplinary actions may be processed as grievances under Article XIII. 
 
Section 11.1 
At the time of any suspension or discharge, the employee and the President of the Union 
shall be furnished, in writing, a statement of the reasons for such action, the period of time 
for which any suspension is to be effective and the appeals procedure available under Article 
XIII. 

ARTICLE XII 
SAVING CLAUSE 

Section 12.0 
If any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Agreement shall be held for any reason to 
be inoperative, void, or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement shall 
not be affected thereby, it being the intention  of the parties in adopting this Agreement, that 
no portion thereof, or provisions herein, shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the 
invalidity of any other portion or provision and the parties do hereby declare that it would be 
severally approved of the adopted provisions contained herein, separately and apart from 
the other.  The parties agree to immediately negotiate a substitute for the invalidated Article, 
Section, Sentence, Clause or Phrase. 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      23 

ARTICLE XIII 
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Section 13.0 
Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties concerning the application, 
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, unless specifically excluded by this Agreement, 
shall be settled in the following manner: 
 
Step 1 Between the aggrieved party, who may be represented by not more than two (2) 

officers of the union, and the Director of the Department.  The Director of the 
Department shall adjust the grievance at once, or notify the Union Steward of his 
decision within two (2) working days from the day the grievance was presented. 

 
 A grievance may be presented either orally or in writing at this step of the 

grievance procedure.  If the grievance is presented orally to the supervisor and is 
not satisfactorily settled, it must be reduced to writing, there must be set forth in 
the spaces provided all of the following: 

 
a. A statement of the grievance and the facts involved. 
b. The remedy requested and, 
c. The violation, if any, of the Agreement which is claimed. 

 
Step 2 If the decision of the Director of the Department involved in step 1 is not 

satisfactory, the Union may take an appeal, within ten (10) working days of such 
decision, to the Human Resources Director.  The aggrieved party may be 
represented at this step of the grievance procedure by the Steward, and one (1) 
member of the Executive Committee.  The Human Resources Director and the 
Union may include in the conference any individual(s) concerned and the Human 
Resources Director will give an answer, in writing, to the appealing employee 
within (5) working days.  Such written disposition will be rendered on the form 
provided.  Employees appealing decisions regarding promotion, demotion, 
suspension, or discharge may submit such grievance directly to this Step of the 
grievance procedure without the necessity of complying with procedures set forth 
in Step 1. 

 
Step 3 If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled at Step 2, the Union may submit the 

dispute within thirty (30) days of receiving such disposition to arbitration by the 
Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration. 

 
 The decision of the arbitrators shall be final and binding on both parties. 
 
Section 13.1 
Officers and/or Stewards, not to exceed two (2) members of the Union as shall be 
designated by the Union for the purpose of adjusting grievances and/or contract 
negotiations, shall be afforded the necessary amount of time, without loss of pay, to conduct 
such business. 
 
Section 13.2 
The Union shall furnish the Town with a list of its officers, Executive Committee Members, 
and Stewards, and shall, as soon as possible, notify the Town, in writing, of any changes 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      24 

therein.  Such notification shall be sent to the Human Resources Director, Town Hall, East 
Hartford.  No officer, Executive Committee Member or Steward shall be recognized by the 
Town until such written notification of his appointment shall be received by the Town from 
the duly authorized officer of the Union.  For the purposes of this Agreement, the term 
Chairman and President shall be synonymous. 

 
Section 13.3 
In addition to those specified, the Union or the Town may, at Steps 3 and 4 of the grievance 
procedure, have other representatives present during the presentation of grievances, 
provided either party shall so advise the other a reasonable period in advance of such 
hearing.  Employee grievances must be filed no later than ten (10) working days following 
the date of the incident giving rise to the alleged grievance; however, failure of an individual 
to grieve does not establish a precedent for settlement in any future grievance. 
 
Section 13.4 
Nothing in this article is intended to prohibit the Town from processing a grievance through 
the grievance procedure up to and including arbitration. Any such grievance shall be 
submitted first to the Union President.  If not satisfactorily settled within twelve (12) working 
days of its submission, the Town may submit the grievance to the Connecticut State Board 
of Mediation and Arbitration. 

ARTICLE XIV 
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

 
The rights, power, and authority heretofore held by the Town pursuant to applicable laws of 
the State of Connecticut concerning the nature of services offered by the Town; the direction 
of its work force; disciplinary action; lay off and recall of its employees; determine the 
standards of services to be offered by Town Departments; determine the standards of 
selection for Town employment; the issuance of reasonable rules and regulations after the 
concurrence of the Union; maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; determine the 
content of job classifications and to fulfill its legal responsibilities are retained, whether 
exercised or not, unless said rights, powers, and authorities are  limited, modified, abridged, 
relinquished, or are in conflict with this agreement or any part thereof.  The Town shall be 
free to exercise retained rights, powers, and authority subject to and in accordance with the 
Municipal Employees Relations Act (Section 7-467 et seq.) of the General Statutes of the 
State of Connecticut. 

ARTICLE XV 
DURATION 

Section 15.0 
This Agreement shall be effective the date it is signed by all respective parties and shall 
continue in effect until June 30, 2022 2026 except that it may be amended at any time by 
mutual agreement.  Negotiations for a successor agreement shall commence in accordance 
with State Laws. 
 
Section 15.1 
Notwithstanding provisions of 15.0, any provision of this agreement which contains an 
effective date different than the date of execution of this agreement shall be effective on the 
date therein specified. 
 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      25 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their names to be signed on this  
______ day of _________________, 20232024. 
 
       EAST HARTFORD #818 
 TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD   SUPERVISORS UNION  
 
 
   
___________________________  _______________________________ 
Michael P. WalshConnor Martin   Christopher Sugar, Staff Representative 
Mayor          
 
___________________________  _______________________________ 
Tyron Harris      President, Local #818 
Director of Human Resources    
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Floyd Dugas      Local #818 
For the Town       
 
      
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Sandra L. Franklin     Local #818 
Benefits Administrator     
 
       
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Asst. Chief Mack Hawkins    Local #818 
 
 
__________________________ 
Deputy Chief Robert Davis      
 
 
        
 
 
The above and foregoing is a true and attested copy of the contract between the Town of East 
Hartford and the East Hartford Supervisors Union. 
 
 
     ATTEST_______________________________(s) 
        Town Clerk 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      26 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      0 

APPENDIX B 
July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI 

 
Effective upon ratification, the position of IT manager shall be upgraded from Grade 108 to Grade 111. The current incumbent shall be placed on Step 3 of the 
Grade 11 wage scale for the 2022-23 contract year. The position of Police Communications Supervisor shall be upgraded from Grade 104 to Grade 105. The 
position of Social Services Program Supervisor shall be upgraded from Grade 108 to 112.  
 

 
  

Formatted



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      1 

APPENDIX B-1 
July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      2 

APPENDIX B-2 
July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      3 

APPENDIX B-3 
July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI 

 

 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      0 

 
 

APPENDIX B 
July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI 

 
 
 

  

Pay Grade Job Ti tle Hours
 Probationary 

Step  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6  Step 7 

101 35 hrs 61,799$       62,637$       64,316$       65,997$       67,673$       69,351$       71,029$       72,707$       
40 hrs 70,627$       71,587$       73,505$       75,423$       77,343$       79,261$       81,175$       83,093$       

102 35 hrs 64,891$       65,773$       67,532$       69,295$       71,056$       72,819$       74,580$       76,343$       
40 hrs 74,166$       75,170$       77,179$       79,192$       81,206$       83,223$       85,233$       87,247$       

103 35 hrs 68,139$       69,063$       70,908$       72,760$       74,610$       76,460$       78,309$       80,159$       
40 hrs 77,869$       78,926$       81,041$       83,153$       85,268$       87,382$       89,497$       91,611$       

104 Pol ice Records  Spvs r. 35 hrs 71,541$       72,514$       74,455$       76,399$       78,340$       80,283$       82,225$       84,167$       
1041 Fleet Repai r Spvsr. 40 hrs 81,763$       82,873$       85,092$       87,314$       89,532$       91,751$       93,971$       96,190$       

Hi ghway Svs . Spvsr.

Park Mai nt. Spvsr.

Spvsr. Of Was te Svs .

Supt. Of PSC

105 Pol i ce Comm. Spvsr. 35 hrs 75,117$       76,138$       78,179$       80,219$       82,257$       84,297$       86,335$       88,375$       
1051 Fleet Manager 40 hrs 85,851$       87,017$       89,347$       91,674$       94,008$       96,339$       98,672$       100,996$     

Constructi on Spvsr.

Parks  Proj Coord & Mt. Spvsr.

Waste Svs . Mgr.

1061 40 hrs 90,142$       91,366$       93,813$       96,258$       98,710$       101,156$     103,602$     106,050$     
1071 Highway Svs . Mgr. 40 hrs 94,649$       95,935$       98,505$       101,073$     103,641$     106,215$     108,781$     111,351$     

Faci l i ty Manager

Supt. Of Parks

108 Ass t. Library Director 35 hrs 86,960$       88,139$       90,502$       92,861$       95,224$       97,582$       99,944$       102,303$     
Envir. Heal th Spvsr.

PHN Supervisor

El derly Services  Coordi nator

Ass t. Pub. Works  Di r.

Ass t. Dir. Parks  & Rec

1081 Supt. Of PW 40 hrs 99,380$       100,729$     103,430$     106,127$     108,827$     111,525$     114,223$     116,924$     
109 Grants  Manager 35 hrs 91,304$       92,546$       95,027$       97,504$       99,984$       102,463$     104,942$     107,422$     
110 Col lector of Revenue 35 hrs 95,873$       97,174$       99,777$       102,378$     104,983$     107,586$     110,191$     112,793$     
111 Town Engi neer 35 hrs 100,664$     102,031$     104,765$     107,501$     110,232$     112,966$     115,700$     118,432$     

Ass ess or

Info Tech Mgr.

112 Asst. Finance Di r. 35 hrs 105,700$     107,134$     110,004$     112,874$     115,743$     118,613$     121,481$     124,353$     
Soc. Svs . Program Spvsr.

Formatted



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      1 

 
APPENDIX B-1 

July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI 
 
 

  

Job Title Hours
 Probationary 

Step  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6  Step 7 

35 hrs 59,399$        60,205$        61,819$        63,434$        65,045$        66,658$        68,271$        69,883$       
40 hrs 67,884$        68,807$        70,651$        72,494$        74,339$        76,183$        78,023$        79,867$       
35 hrs 62,372$        63,219$        64,910$        66,604$        68,297$        69,991$        71,684$        73,378$       
40 hrs 71,286$        72,251$        74,182$        76,117$        78,053$        79,991$        81,924$        83,859$       
35 hrs 65,493$        66,381$        68,155$        69,934$        71,713$        73,491$        75,269$        77,046$       
40 hrs 74,845$        75,861$        77,894$        79,925$        81,957$        83,989$        86,022$        88,054$       

Pol ice Records  Spvsr. 35 hrs 68,763$        69,698$        71,564$        73,432$        75,298$        77,166$        79,032$        80,899$       
Fleet Repa ir Spvsr. 40 hrs 78,588$        79,655$        81,788$        83,924$        86,055$        88,188$        90,322$        92,455$       
Highway Svs. Spvsr.

Park Mai nt. Spvsr.

Spvsr. Of Waste  Svs .

Supt. Of PSC

Pol ice  Comm. Spvsr. 35 hrs 72,200$        73,181$        75,143$        77,104$        79,063$        81,024$        82,982$        84,943$       
Fleet Ma na ger 40 hrs 82,518$        83,638$        85,877$        88,114$        90,358$        92,598$        94,840$        97,075$       

Constructi on Spvsr.

Parks  Proj Coord & Mt. Spvsr.

Waste Svs . Mgr.

40 hrs 86,642$        87,819$        90,171$        92,521$        94,877$        97,228$        99,579$        101,932$     
Highwa y Svs. Mgr. 40 hrs 90,974$        92,210$        94,680$        97,148$        99,617$        102,090$     104,557$     107,027$     
Faci l i ty Ma nager

Supt. Of Parks

Asst. Li brary Director 35 hrs 83,583$        84,717$        86,987$        89,255$        91,526$        93,793$        96,063$        98,330$       
Envir. Hea lth Spvsr.

PHN Supervisor

El derly Services  Coordinator

Asst. Pub. Works  Dir.

Ass t. Dir. Parks  & Rec

Supt. Of PW 40 hrs 95,521$        96,818$        99,414$        102,006$     104,601$     107,194$     109,787$     112,383$     
Grants  Manager 35 hrs 87,759$        88,952$        91,337$        93,718$        96,102$        98,484$        100,867$     103,251$     

Col lector of Revenue 35 hrs 92,150$        93,401$        95,903$        98,403$        100,907$     103,408$     105,912$     108,413$     
Town Engineer 35 hrs 96,755$        98,069$        100,697$     103,326$     105,952$     108,579$     111,207$     113,833$     

Assess or

Info Tech Mgr.

Asst. Fi nance Di r. 35 hrs 101,595$     102,974$     105,732$     108,491$     111,249$     114,007$     116,764$     119,525$     
Soc. Svs . Program Spvsr.



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      2 

APPENDIX B-2 
July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI 

 
 

 
  

Pay Grade Job Ti tle Hours
 Probationary 

Step  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6  Step 7 

101 35 hrs 60,587$       61,409$       63,055$       64,703$       66,346$       67,991$       69,636$       71,281$       
40 hrs 69,242$       70,183$       72,064$       73,944$       75,826$       77,707$       79,583$       81,464$       

102 35 hrs 63,619$       64,483$       66,208$       67,936$       69,663$       71,391$       73,118$       74,846$       
40 hrs 72,712$       73,696$       75,666$       77,639$       79,614$       81,591$       83,562$       85,536$       

103 35 hrs 66,803$       67,709$       69,518$       71,333$       73,147$       74,961$       76,774$       78,587$       
40 hrs 76,342$       77,378$       79,452$       81,523$       83,596$       85,669$       87,742$       89,815$       

104 Pol ice Records  Spvs r. 35 hrs 70,138$       71,092$       72,995$       74,901$       76,804$       78,709$       80,613$       82,517$       
1041 Fleet Repai r Spvsr. 40 hrs 80,160$       81,248$       83,424$       85,602$       87,776$       89,952$       92,128$       94,304$       

Hi ghway Svs . Spvsr.

Park Mai nt. Spvsr.

Spvsr. Of Was te Svs .

Supt. Of PSC

105 Pol i ce Comm. Spvsr. 35 hrs 73,644$       74,645$       76,646$       78,646$       80,644$       82,644$       84,642$       86,642$       
1051 Fleet Manager 40 hrs 84,168$       85,311$       87,595$       89,876$       92,165$       94,450$       96,737$       99,016$       

Constructi on Spvsr.

Parks  Proj Coord & Mt. Spvsr.

Waste Svs . Mgr.

1061 40 hrs 88,375$       89,575$       91,974$       94,371$       96,775$       99,173$       101,571$     103,971$     
1071 Highway Svs . Mgr. 40 hrs 92,793$       94,054$       96,574$       99,091$       101,609$     104,132$     106,648$     109,168$     

Faci l i ty Manager

Supt. Of Parks

108 Ass t. Library Director 35 hrs 85,255$       86,411$       88,727$       91,040$       93,357$       95,669$       97,984$       100,297$     
Envir. Heal th Spvsr.

PHN Supervisor

El derly Services  Coordi nator

Ass t. Pub. Works  Di r.

Ass t. Dir. Parks  & Rec

1081 Supt. Of PW 40 hrs 97,431$       98,754$       101,402$     104,046$     106,693$     109,338$     111,983$     114,631$     
109 Grants  Manager 35 hrs 89,514$       90,731$       93,164$       95,592$       98,024$       100,454$     102,884$     105,316$     
110 Col lector of Revenue 35 hrs 93,993$       95,269$       97,821$       100,371$     102,925$     105,476$     108,030$     110,581$     
111 Town Engi neer 35 hrs 98,690$       100,030$     102,711$     105,393$     108,071$     110,751$     113,431$     116,110$     

Ass ess or

Info Tech Mgr.

112 Asst. Finance Di r. 35 hrs 103,627$     105,033$     107,847$     110,661$     113,474$     116,287$     119,099$     121,915$     
Soc. Svs . Program Spvsr.



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      3 

APPENDIX B-3 
July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Pay Grade Job Ti tle Hours
 Probationary 

Step  Step 1  Step 2  Step 3  Step 4  Step 5  Step 6  Step 7 

101 35 hrs 61,799$       62,637$       64,316$       65,997$       67,673$       69,351$       71,029$       72,707$       
40 hrs 70,627$       71,587$       73,505$       75,423$       77,343$       79,261$       81,175$       83,093$       

102 35 hrs 64,891$       65,773$       67,532$       69,295$       71,056$       72,819$       74,580$       76,343$       
40 hrs 74,166$       75,170$       77,179$       79,192$       81,206$       83,223$       85,233$       87,247$       

103 35 hrs 68,139$       69,063$       70,908$       72,760$       74,610$       76,460$       78,309$       80,159$       
40 hrs 77,869$       78,926$       81,041$       83,153$       85,268$       87,382$       89,497$       91,611$       

104 Pol ice Records  Spvs r. 35 hrs 71,541$       72,514$       74,455$       76,399$       78,340$       80,283$       82,225$       84,167$       
1041 Fleet Repai r Spvsr. 40 hrs 81,763$       82,873$       85,092$       87,314$       89,532$       91,751$       93,971$       96,190$       

Hi ghway Svs . Spvsr.

Park Mai nt. Spvsr.

Spvsr. Of Was te Svs .

Supt. Of PSC

105 Pol i ce Comm. Spvsr. 35 hrs 75,117$       76,138$       78,179$       80,219$       82,257$       84,297$       86,335$       88,375$       
1051 Fleet Manager 40 hrs 85,851$       87,017$       89,347$       91,674$       94,008$       96,339$       98,672$       100,996$     

Constructi on Spvsr.

Parks  Proj Coord & Mt. Spvsr.

Waste Svs . Mgr.

1061 40 hrs 90,142$       91,366$       93,813$       96,258$       98,710$       101,156$     103,602$     106,050$     
1071 Highway Svs . Mgr. 40 hrs 94,649$       95,935$       98,505$       101,073$     103,641$     106,215$     108,781$     111,351$     

Faci l i ty Manager

Supt. Of Parks

108 Ass t. Library Director 35 hrs 86,960$       88,139$       90,502$       92,861$       95,224$       97,582$       99,944$       102,303$     
Envir. Heal th Spvsr.

PHN Supervisor

El derly Services  Coordi nator

Ass t. Pub. Works  Di r.

Ass t. Dir. Parks  & Rec

1081 Supt. Of PW 40 hrs 99,380$       100,729$     103,430$     106,127$     108,827$     111,525$     114,223$     116,924$     
109 Grants  Manager 35 hrs 91,304$       92,546$       95,027$       97,504$       99,984$       102,463$     104,942$     107,422$     
110 Col lector of Revenue 35 hrs 95,873$       97,174$       99,777$       102,378$     104,983$     107,586$     110,191$     112,793$     
111 Town Engi neer 35 hrs 100,664$     102,031$     104,765$     107,501$     110,232$     112,966$     115,700$     118,432$     

Ass ess or

Info Tech Mgr.

112 Asst. Finance Di r. 35 hrs 105,700$     107,134$     110,004$     112,874$     115,743$     118,613$     121,481$     124,353$     
Soc. Svs . Program Spvsr.



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      4 

 
APPENDIX C 

 

A medical certificate submitted in accordance with Article VII, Section 7.0 (D) shall be on 

the following form or shall contain substantially equivalent information. 

 

MEDICAL CERTIFICATE FORM  

NAME OF DOCTOR____________________________________ 

   ADDRESS___________________________________________ 

TEL. NO. _________________________________________ 

 

TO:        Human Resources Director 

      Town of East Hartford 

FROM:    _____________________________________ 

DATE:     _____________________________________ 

 

As physician duly licensed by the State of ____________________, I hereby certify that 

_________________________ (name of employee) who was seen by me on __________ 

(date) was unable to work during the continuous period from _____________________ 

(date) to ______________________ (date). 

He/she was under my care on or after ____________________ (date). 

I also certify that said employee can return to duty with no restrictions on 

_______________________________ (date). 

____________________________       

Signature of Physician 

____________________________ 

Date 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      5 

APPENDIX D 
TRIPLE OPTIONAL DENTAL PLAN 

 
 PPO 

IN 
NETWORK 

NO 
DEDUCTIBLE 

 
FLEX DENTAL 

$50 
DEDUCTIBLE* 

 
OUT OF NETWORK 
$200 DEDUCTIBLE 

BENEFIT DESCRIPTION 
 

   

ANNUAL MAXIMUM 
 

Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited 

BENEFIT 
 

Coinsurance Coinsurance Coinsurance 

PREVENTIVE SERVICES    
Prophylaxis 100% 100% 80% 
Oral Hygiene Instruction 100% 100% 80% 
(Included with Oral Evaluation)    
Fluoride Treatment to age 19 100% 100% 80% 
Sealants 100% 100% 50% 
Space Maintainers 
 

100% 100% 50% 

DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES    
Oral Evaluation 100% 100% 70% 
Radiographs 100% 100% 70% 
Pulp Vitality Test 100% 100% 70% 
(Included with Oral Evaluation) 
 

   

RESTORATIVE SERVICES    
Amalgam Fillings 100% 100% 50% 
Resin Fillings 100% 100% 50% 
    
ENDODONTICS    
Root Canal 100% 80% 50% 
Apicoectomy 100% 80% 50% 
    
ORAL SURGERY    
Simple Extractions 100% 100% 50% 
Surgical Extractions and Impaction 50% 50% 50% 
Treatment of Fractures & Dislocations 50% 50% Not Covered 
    
GENERAL SERVICES    
Consultation 60% 50% Not Covered 
General Anesthesia 60% 50% Not Covered 
Emergency Treatment 
 

100% 100% 50% 

PERIDONTICS    
Gingival Curettage 50% 50% Not Covered 
Gingivectomy or Gingivoplasty 50% 50% Not Covered 
Osseous Surgery 50% 50% Not Covered 
Mucogingival Surgery 50% 50% Not Covered 
Management of Acute Infection and 
oral lesions 

50% 50% Not Covered 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      6 

 PPO 
IN 

NETWORK 
NO 

DEDUCTIBLE 

 
FLEX DENTAL 

$50 
DEDUCTIBLE* 

 
OUT OF NETWORK 
$200 DEDUCTIBLE 

 
PROSTHODONTICS    
Dentures Full and Partial 50% Not Covered Not Covered 
Crowns, Bridges, fixed and removable 50% Not Covered Not Covered 
Inlays, onlays and crowns not part of 
bridge 

100% 50% Not Covered 

Addition of teeth to partial denture to 
replace extracted teeth 
 

50% Not Covered Not Covered 

Repair of Dentures 
 

100% 100% Not Covered 

Orthodontia    
$1,000 Lifetime maximum 50% 50% Not Covered 
Dependents covered to age 19 
 

   

*Flex Dental deductible does not apply to preventive services or sealants. 
 
Benefits will be available for resin (synthetic) fillings on anterior or bicuspid teeth only.  For resin 
(synthetic) fillings on molar teeth, the member coinsurance obligation will increase.  Benefits will 
be provided in an amount equal to the maximum allowable (MAA) amount for an amalgam filling.  
The member will be responsible for any amounts over the MAA. 
 
This is not a legal contract.  It is only a general description of the Triple Option Dental Program. 
 
11-May-01 

 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      7 

APPENDIX E 
BLUEVIEW VISION RIDER 

 
 

BENEFIT PERIOD 
 

Calendar Year 

DEPENDENT AGE LIMIT To the end of the month after which the child attains age 26. 

 
COVERED SERVICES COPAYMENTS/MAXIMUMS 
Prescription Lenses Network Providers Out-of-Network Providers 
Standard: (including factory scratch 
coating, polycarbonate lenses for 
children under 19 years old and 
Photochromic lenses for children under 
19 years old) 

  

Basic Lenses (pair)   
Single Vision lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $36 
Bifocal lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $54 
Trifocal lenses $25 Copayment Reimbursed up to $69 
(limited to one set of lenses per calendar 
year). 
 

  

Frames   
(Limited to one frame per calendar year) $130 retail amount, then  20%  off 

any remaining balance 
Reimbursed up to $64 

Prescription Contact Lenses 
(traditional or disposable) 

  

Non-Elective Contact Lenses 
(availability once every calendar year) 

Covered in full Reimbursed up to $210 

Elective Contact Lenses (in lieu of 
eyeglass lenses allowances) (availability 
once every calendar year) 

$130 retail amount Reimbursed up to $105 

Note: If you elect covered Non-Elective Contact Lenses or Elective Contact Lenses within one calendar year period, no benefits will be 
available for covered lenses and frames until the next calendar year period. 

 
Laser Vision Correction Services: 
Participating Lasik/photorefractive keratectomy PRK surgical centers offer a discounted rate for Members enrolled 
under this plan.  You are responsible for any remaining charges. 
 
The Schedule of Benefits is a summary of the amount of benefits Anthem will pay when you receive Covered Services 
from a Provider.  Please refer to the Covered Services Section of the Summary Plan Description for a more complete 
explanation of the specific vision services covered by the plan.  All covered services are subject to the conditions, 
exclusions, limitations, terms and provisions of the Certificate including any attachments or riders. 
 
No prior authorization is required to receive covered vision services. 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      8 

APPENDIX F 
HEALTH BENEFIT OPT-OUT FORM 

 
 
Employee Name_________________ Date of Form Completion_____________ 
 
Department____________________ Effective Date of Cancellation__________ 
 
 

 
Statement of Election to Participate in Town of East Hartford Health Benefit Opt-Out 

Program 
 
I elect to cancel my health insurance (but not my dental insurance) with the  
 
Town of East Hartford.  The health plan that I will be covered under is offered  
 
through_____________________________________ (name of company  
 
offering program).  The name of the plan providing my insurance coverage  
 
is_________________________________________(name of health  
 
insurance carrier).  This plan covers:  _____my spouse _______my family  
 
and ______myself  (check all that apply).  Attached is documentation of my  
 
enrollment in the above plan. 
 
 
In exchange for canceling my health insurance, I elect to receive a cash payment (totaling 
$1000 for individual employee coverage, $1250 for employee plus one dependent 
coverage or $1,500 for employee plus family coverage) to be paid in quarterly installments 
in October, January, April and July.  I understand that by accepting the opt-out program, I 
am no longer covered by the Town’s health insurance program.  However, I will continue to 
be covered by the Town’s dental insurance program. 
 
 
___________________________   _________________ 
Employee Signature     Date 
 
___________________________   _________________ 
Witness       Date 
 
 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      9 

 
APPENDIX G 

ATTESTATION FOR $600 WELLNESS REWARD  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Each employee covered by a Town of East Hartford High Deductible Health Plan has been 
asked to have an annual routine physical examination performed during each plan year.  This 
routine physical should consist of the items listed below as deemed appropriate by the 
employee’s primary care provider. 
 
Once the exam is complete, please sign and date this form and return it to the patient so they 
may turn it in to HR.  You may also mail the form directly.  Please do not fax the form – we 
need the original signature.  Please provide the employee with biometrical results of their exam 
and lab work.  They may use this information to complete an online Health Risk Assessment 
with Anthem. 
 
The Routine Physical Exam Should Include the Following: 
 Preventive Physical Exam, which includes medical and family health history, assessment of 

lifestyle (diet, stress, exercise, etc.) general system examination (heart, lungs, throat, 
thyroid, ears, skin, joints, etc). and measurement of height and weight 

 Routine blood pressure and urine screenings 
 Cholesterol and lipid level screenings 
 Blood glucose screening 
 Eye chart vision screening 
 Immunizations (tetanus every ten years, others as appropriate) 
 Pelvic examination, Pap Smear, and Mammography screenings  
 Prostate examination and prostate specific antigen blood test (PSA) (males only) 
 Colorectal cancer screening 
 

You, as the health care provider will determine which one of several types of screenings 
is most appropriate and at what age it should be done. 
 
I certify that I performed a routine physical exam on Town of East Hartford Employee:  
 
__________________________________________________________________ 

EMPLOYEE NAME 
 
Physician’s Name: __________________________________________________ 
Date of Physical:____________________________________________________ 
Physician’s Signature: _______________________________________________  

THE ORIGINAL FORM SHOULD BE TURNED IN TO 
OR MAILED DIRECTLY TO: 

Town of East Hartford, Human Resources 
Attention:  Sandra Franklin 

740 Main Street 
East Hartford, CT  06108 

 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      10 

APPENDIX H 
ACTIVE EMPLOYEES - HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS  
Effective July 1, 2017 

 
COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 

SERVICES 
OUT-OF-NETWORK 

SERVICES 
Covered Person Plan 
Year Deductible 

*$2000 SINGLE 
**$4000 FAMILY  

Covered Person 
Coinsurance 

Not Applicable 20% 

Covered Person Plan 
Year Out-of-Pocket 
Limit 
*Applies to Prescription 
Drug Copayments 

single*** $2000 
family**** $4000 

$4,000 single*** 
$8,000 family**** 

Lifetime Maximum Unlimited Unlimited 
*Single Deductible – The Deductible must be satisfied before any Covered Services are 
paid by the Plan except for Preventive Services which are not subject to the Deductible. 

**Family Deductible – The family Deductible must be satisfied before any Covered 
Services are paid by the plan except for Preventive Services which are not subject to the 
Deductible.  The family Deductible may be satisfied by one Covered Person or all members 
of the family collectively. 
***Single Out-of-Pocket Limit – Once the Member Out-of-Pocket Limit is satisfied, no 
additional Coinsurance will be required for the Covered Person for the remainder of the 
benefit period except for Out-of-Network Human Organ and Tissue Transplant services. 
****Family Out-of-Pocket Limit – Once the family Out-of-Pocket Limit is satisfied, no 
additional Coinsurance will be required for the Family for the remainder of the benefit 
period except for Out-of-Network Human Organ and Tissue Transplant services. 
 
In-Network and Out-of-Network Out-of-Pocket Limits are separate and do not accumulate 
toward each other. 
PREVENTIVE SERVICES 
Well Child Care No Cost-Share Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
Adult Physical 
Examinations 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Other Preventive 
Screenings including 
but not limited to: 
Routine gynecological 
care: pap smear and pelvic 
exam, Prostate screening, 
Mammography screening, 
colorectal cancer 
screening, flexible 
sigmoidoscopy, 
colonoscopy, total 
cholesterol screening, lipid 
screenings and panels, 
diabetic screening 
 
 
 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Immunizations and 
Vaccinations  
 

No Cost-Share Deductible & 
Coinsurance 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      11 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 
All Inpatient 
Admissions 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Specialty Hospital 
100 days per Member 
per Calendar Year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Outpatient Surgery 
(including colonoscopy) 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES 
Diagnostic, Laboratory 
and X-Ray Services 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

High Cost Diagnostic 
Tests  MRI, MRA, CAT, 
CTA, PET, and SPECT 
scans 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

THERAPY SERVICES 
Outpatient 
Rehabilitation 
Outpatient rehabilitative 
and restorative physical, 
occupational, speech 
and chiropractic therapy 
for up to 60 combined 
visits per Calendar Year 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Other Therapy 
Services: 
Outpatient cardiac 
rehabilitation therapy; 
Radiation therapy; 
Chemotherapy for the 
treatment of cancer; 
Electroshock therapy; 
Kidney Dialysis in a 
Hospital or free-standing 
dialysis center 
 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Allergy Office 
Visit/Testing 
 
Allergy Injections 
Immunotherapy or other 
therapy treatments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

MEDICAL EMERGENCY/URGENT CARE SERVICES 
Emergency Room 
Treatment Emergency 
Room Cost-Share 

Deductible 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      12 

waived if the Member is 
admitted directly to the 
Hospital from the 
emergency room 
 
Urgent Care Services 

 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 

 
 
 
 

Paid as In-Network 
Emergency Room 

Ambulance  
Land & Air: Paid 
according to the 
Department of Public 
Health Ambulance 
Service Rate Schedule 

Deductible Deductible 

PHYSICIAN MEDICAL/SURGICAL SERVICES 
Medical Office Visit Deductible Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
Surgical Services  
Performed by a Surgeon 
or Physician (Specialist) 
in any setting other than 
an Office Visit 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Non-Surgical Services 
of a Physician or 
Surgeon (other than a 
medical office visit) 
These services may 
include after care or 
attending medical care 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE SERVICES 
Outpatient Treatment 
for Mental Health Care 
& Substance Abuse 
Care 
 
Inpatient Hospital 
Services In a Hospital 
or Residential Treatment 
Center for Mental Health 
Care 
 
Inpatient 
Rehabilitation 
Treatment for 
Substance Abuse Care 
In a Hospital or 
Substance Abuse 
Treatment Facility 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

OTHER MEDICAL SERVICES 
Outpatient Surgery Deductible Deductible & 

Coinsurance 
In a licensed ambulatory 
surgical center  

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Skilled Nursing 
Facility 
Up to 120 days per 
calendar year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      13 

Immunizations and 
Vaccinations for 
Travel 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Prescription Drugs: 
 
Retail Pharmacy: 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 30 
day supply. 
 
Diabetic equipment, 
drugs and supplies 
 
Specialty Pharmacy: 
The maximum supply of 
a Specialty Drug for 
which benefits will be 
provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 30 
day supply. 
 
Mail Order 
Prescription Drug 
Program 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is a 1-
90-day supply.  
 
Diabetic drugs & 
supplies 

Deductible and then: 
 

Tier 1 $10 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 2 $25 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 3 $40 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

 
 
 
 
 

Tier 1 $10 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 2 $25 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 3 $40 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

 
 
 
 

Tier 1 $10 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 2 $50 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

Tier 3 $80 Copay per 
Covered Drug 

 
 
 

 
Deductible & 

Coinsurance per 
prescription 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
 
 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance per 

prescription 
Human Organ and 
Tissue Transplant 
Services Unlimited 
maximum 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Home Health Care 
(including In-Home 
Hospice Care) 
Nursing and therapeutic 
services limited to 200 
visits 
In the Home Hospice 
Medical Social Services 
under the direction of a 
physician up to $420 
 

Deductible 
 
 
 

Deductible 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

COVERED SERVICE IN-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

OUT-OF-NETWORK 
SERVICES 

Infusion Therapy 
Unlimited lifetime 
maximum 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      14 

Durable Medical 
Equipment and 
Prosthetic Devices 
 
Hearing Aid Coverage 
Available for dependent 
children age 12 years 
and under with a 
maximum of $1,000 
within a two year period. 
 
Diabetic equipment, 
and supplies 

Deductible Deductible & 50% 
Coinsurance 

Ostomy Related 
Services 

Deductible Deductible & 50% 
Coinsurance 

Hospice Care 
(inpatient) 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Wig  up to $500 
maximum per Member 
per Calendar Year 

Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Specialized Formula Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Infertility Services 
Please see Maternity 
/Family Planning 
Section  
 
Office Visit 
 
Outpatient Hospital 
 
 
Inpatient Hospital 
 
Infertility Drugs 
The maximum supply of 
a drug for which benefits 
will be provided when 
dispensed under any 
one prescription is 30 
day supply 
 

 
 
 
 

Deductible 
 
 

Same as Hospital 
Outpatient Cost-Share 

 
Same as Hospital 

Inpatient Cost-Share 
 
 

Deductible 
 

 
 
 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 

Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

Maternity Deductible Deductible & 
Coinsurance 

 
 
 
This is a summary of benefits and is by its nature limited in detail and scope. Refer to the Summary Plan 
Document for full details of coverage. 
  



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      15 

APPENDIX I 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

 
This Memorandum of Agreement (hereinafter, “Agreement”) is by and between the Town of East 
Hartford (hereinafter, the “Town”), and Local 818, the Council 4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO Union, 
(hereinafter, the “Union”) (collectively “the parties”) in full and final settlement of grievance Case 
#2016-A-0311 agree to the following 
 
1. Effective on the date this Agreement is executed an employee with perfect attendance (i.e., 

no time absent due to illness, unauthorized or authorized leave of absence, disciplinary 
suspension or tardiness), will earn one Personal Day for each calendar quarter of perfect 
attendance, and an additional Personal Day for a perfect calendar year. No more than five 
(5) days may be accumulated.  MOVED TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 7.0 (F) 
 

2. Effective on the date this Agreement is executed an employee’s birthday shall constitute an 
additional holiday. 

 
i. Employees shall be able to celebrate their birthday on or before the last day of the 2016-

2017 Fiscal Year. With the prior approval of the Department Head, an employee may 
select another day on which to observe the birthday. 

ii. Effective on July 01, 2017 any employee’s birthday falling on a weekend or holiday shall 
be celebrated within the month in which it occurs. With the prior approval of the 
Department Head, an employee may select another day within the calendar month on 
which to observe the birthday.  MOVED TO ARTICLE V SECTION 5.0 

 
3. Effective on the date this Agreement is executed of the fifteen (15) potential sick days which 

can be accrued per year one can be used as a sick/personal day which may be taken during 
the fiscal year in a minimum of one-quarter (1/4) day segments for personal business or 
appointments that must be conducted during the working hours. Use of this personal/sick 
time will not interrupt the earning of personal days for perfect attendance. MOVED TO 
ARTICLE VII SECTION 7.0 (B) 
 

4. Ronald Arpin, one of the grievants in Case #2016-A-0311, shall have two (2) earned days 
posted to his earned day total balance upon the execution of this Agreement. Said earned 
days shall be used by June 30, 2017. 

 
5. All of the above benefit changes will take effect as indicated in each item. All said changes 

shall be incorporated into the appropriate Articles and Sections of the Successor Working 
Agreement between the parties that will be in effect beginning July 1, 2019. 

 
6. This Agreement shall not establish a past practice or precedent between the parties and 

shall not be presented in any other forum except to enforce the terms of this Agreement. 
 

7. In consideration for the above, the Union agrees to withdraw grievance 2016-A-3011. 
 

8. Nothing herein shall create a binding practice or precedent. 
 

This Memorandum of Agreement was renewed with the 2019-2022 contract. Formatted: Strikethrough for Contracts



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      16 

APPENDIX I 
MILITARY LEAVE POLICY 

 
Section 1 
Employees will be entitled to Military Leave when they receive official Military Orders for time requiring 
active duty service. Employees shall be entitled to a maximum of 10 weeks per fiscal year under the following 
conditions; 
  

A. Military leave to attend training for Reservists or National Guard members will not exceed four weeks 
per fiscal year. The combination of Military and Town base pay and wages shall not exceed the 
employee’s regular base pay. The Military Leave from the Town will be limited to the differential pay 
and wages required to maintain the employee’s base pay after accounting for the base pay received 
from the Military.  
 

B. Employees will be required to provide documentation of Military orders and wage stubs to the Town 
for such benefit. The Military amount paid will be adjusted to arrive at a weekly equivalent and 
subtracted from the member’s base pay to determine the differential. 

 
C. The differential amount will be paid until such time as the member returns to full duty with the Town. 

 
D. When the member returns to full duty, a copy of all the wage records with the Military should be 

provided to the employee’s department and forwarded to the Human Resources Department and the 
Finance Department. A copy of the Military Order(s) concluding Military Leave should also be 
provided. 

 
E. In the event the amount paid by the Town exceeds the provisions of this section, the employee will 

need to reimburse the Town in one lump sum or over multiple weeks. 
  
The term Military Leave shall mean the number of hours the employee was scheduled to work, beginning with 
the day on which the employee’s orders require them to report to Military service and ending with the day on 
which the employee’s orders discharge them from Military service. 
  
Time on Military leave shall be included for purposes in computing seniority. 
 
Section 2 
Employees who carry the Town’s health insurance may elect to continue such coverage for spouses and 
dependents on the plan at the commencement of active duty service, as reflected in the official Military Orders. 
If an employee elects to continue health insurance coverage for their spouse and dependents, said employee 
must pay the premium for the spouse and dependents to maintain such coverage. If the employee is not active 
on the payroll, payments for premiums will be recouped in a manner prescribed by Human Resources to 
maintain coverage. 
 
Section 3 
Notification of Leave 

Unless giving notice is unreasonable or precluded by Military necessity, employees requiring a Military leave 
of absence should provide their Director and the Office of Human Resources with a written or verbal advance 
notice along with, if available, a copy of the Military Order; to the Director at least two weeks before the 
Military-Leave-of-Absence start date. On the day of receipt of their first Military paycheck, the employee shall 
transmit a copy of the document, pay stub or pay record to their Department Director, who shall forward it to 
Human Resources and Finance if the member receives a promotion or other subsequent increase in Military 
pay during the deployment that shall be communicated to the Director of the Department and Human 
Resources. Employees on Military Leave greater than one whole week (7 days) will have their accounts 



 

 
 
4889-3182-3777, v. 1      17 

temporarily disabled. Human Resources will notify IT of the leave period and return to work dates as soon as 
possible. 

The Town of East Hartford may not insist on knowing exactly when the staff member will return to work; 
however, the employee can be asked to furnish the approximate beginning and concluding dates of their 
training. Final documentation of start and end dates is required for proper payment of wages. 

 





TOWN COUNCIL RESOLUTION  
GRANT INFORMATION FORM 

 
Grant Description:    Connecticut Brownfields Assessment Grant 
 
 
Funder:            State of CT Dept. of Economic and Community Development 
 
Grant Amount: $150,000 
 
 
Frequency:     ☐ One time ☐ Annual ☐ Biennial ☒ Other As funds are made 

   available       
 

First year received:   2014   
    
Last 3 years received:   2017   2014  
    

Funding level by year: $200,000 $175,000  
 
Is a local match required?      ☐ Yes         ☒ No 
 
 
If yes, how much?               Not applicable                               From which account? Not applicable 
 
 
Grant purpose:          The state’s brownfields program provides opportunities to investigate, clean 

up, and revitalize blighted properties that have fallen into disrepair and puts 
them back into productive use in ways that benefit local economies. 

 
 
Results achieved:      Assessment of 164 School Street (United Steel, Inc.) and (former Calvin 
Theater). 
 
 
Duration of grant:     Maximum two years from signing of grant contract 
 
 
Status of application: Application under development 
 
 
Meeting attendee:     Eileen Buckheit, Development Director, x7303 
 
 
Comments:               Previous grants were for assessment and demolition of Daley Court 

 complex. 



GRANTS ADMINISTRATION 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:  Mayor Connor S. Martin 
 
FROM:  Paul O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Council Resolution – CT Brownfields Assessment Grant Application  
 
DATE:  February 9, 2024 
 
 
Attached is a draft Town Council resolution requesting authorization for you as Mayor, 
on behalf of the Town, to apply to the Connecticut Department of Economic and 
Community Development (DECD) for a Brownfields Assessment Grant in the amount of 
$150,000 for the assessment of suspected environmental contamination at properties in 
Town. 
 
The Town plans to use the funds to perform environmental site assessments (ESAs) at 
two properties: 164 School Street (United Steel), and 1016 Main Street (former Calvin 
Theater).    
 
The United Steel site has been owned by Corneau Limited Partnership and operated as 
United Steel since 1996.  Phase I and II environmental site assessments (ESAs) have 
already been performed at the site.  This grant would fund a Phase III ESA, which is the 
next step in the assessment process. The Phase III will further evaluate the degree and 
extent of releases identified at the Site and prepare an order of magnitude opinion of 
probable remedial costs.  
 
The former Calvin Theater site is in the initial stages of the assessment process.  The 
grant will fund Phase I and Phase II assessments at the site.  The intent of a Phase I report 
is to assess if current or historical property uses have impacted the soil or groundwater 
beneath the property and could pose a threat to the environment.  A Phase II report 
involves a subsurface investigation to test soil, soil gas and/or groundwater to identify 
sources of environmental impacts. 
 
The Brownfields initiative provides opportunities to investigate, clean up, and revitalize 
blighted properties that have fallen into disrepair and puts them back into productive use 
in ways that benefit local economies.  The state has invested over $223 million in more 
than 246 old or vacant factories, mills, warehouses, and other contaminated sites and 
structures under the program. These funds are for investigation ONLY.  It does not 
involve any property transfer to the Town. 
  
I respectfully request that this resolution be included on the Town Council agenda for the 
February 20, 2024 meeting.  Please contact me at extension 7206 if you have any 
questions. 
 
Attachments: as stated 
 
Cc: Eileen Buckheit, Development Director 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

DATE:  February 14, 2024 

TO:  Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:  Mayor Connor S. Martin  

RE:  RESOLUTION: CT Brownfields Assessment Grant Application 
 

The Town of East Hartford is looking to apply to the Connecticut Department of Economic and 

Community Development (DECD) for a Brownfields Assessment Grant in the amount of 

$150,000 for the assessment of suspected environmental contamination at 164 School Street 

(United Steel, Inc.) and 1016 Main Street (former Calvin Theater). 

No local match is required from the town.  

 

Please place this item on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024 meeting.  

 
C: P. O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 

E. Buckheit, Development Director 
   
 



 

Office of Brownfield Remediation and Development  
Municipal Grant Program (Assessment-only)  

Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) 
January 5, 2024 

Round 19AO (Assessment-only Grant) 

Announcement: The Office of Brownfield Remediation and Development (OBRD) of the Dept. of 
Economic and Community Development (DECD) would like to announce the availability of funding 
under the Municipal Brownfield Grant Program (Assessment-Only) and is inviting applications for the 
same. The purpose of the Municipal Grant Program as per C.G.S Section 32-763, is to provide grants for 
brownfield remediation and redevelopment. Additional program goals include encouraging public-private 
partnerships, leveraging the maximum amount of private funds to increase the economic impact of the 
State’s investment, reactivating long-stalled sites and encouraging job creation. 

OBRD has also simultaneously announced the availability of funding under the remediation and limited 
assessment grant and loan programs. The total funding pool available for all DECD Round 19 notices is 
up to $25 million. The review and decision process for all programs will be simultaneous. 

“Brownfield” Definition: As per C.G.S Section 32-760, “Brownfield” means any abandoned or 
underutilized site where redevelopment, reuse or expansion has not occurred due to the presence or 
potential presence of pollution in the buildings, soil or groundwater that requires investigation or 
remediation before or in conjunction with the redevelopment, reuse or expansion of the property. 

Maximum and Minimum Requests Per Application or Project: 
 For any project: Maximum request: $200,000; Minimum Request: $100,000. 
 For Applicants who are Councils of Governments (COGs) and Brownfield Land Banks (BLBs) only: 

Total grant requests of up to $500,000 may be submitted per application and for multiple projects in 
one municipality or multiple municipalities. However, the maximum and minimum amounts 
thresholds per project will be as noted above. Please complete and submit the COG/BLB coversheet 
along with your project applications if you are submitting for multiple projects. 

All applicants are welcome to submit multiple projects under separate applications. Municipalities can 
also submit for multiple unrelated sites under one application as long as the total request for the project is 
within the specified thresholds (minimum of $100K and maximum of $200K). 

 

http://www.ctbrownfields.gov/
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_588gg.htm#sec_32-763
https://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/chap_588gg.htm#sec_32-760


 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

I, Jason Marshall, the duly appointed Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of 
East Hartford, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Connecticut, hereby certify that the following is a true and correct copy of a 
resolution adopted at a meeting of the East Hartford Town Council of said 
corporation, duly held on the 20th day of February, 2024 
 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to C.G.S Section 32-763, the Connecticut Department of 
Economic and Community Development is authorized to extend financial 
assistance for economic development projects; and 
 
WHEREAS,  it is desirable and in the public interest that the Town of East 
Hartford make an application to the State for $150,000 in order to undertake the 
Brownfields assessment of several Town properties and to execute an 
Assistance Agreement. 
 
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED BY THE EAST HARTFORD TOWN 
COUNCIL: 
 
1. That it is cognizant of the conditions and prerequisites (including the 
match obligations) for the state financial assistance imposed by C.G.S Section 
32-763; 
 
2. That the filing of an application for State financial assistance by the Town 
of East Hartford in an amount not to exceed $150,000 is hereby approved and 
that Mayor Connor S. Martin is directed to execute and file such application with 
the Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development, to 
provide such additional information, to execute such other documents as may be 
required, to execute an Assistance Agreement with the State of Connecticut for 
State financial assistance if such an agreement is offered, to execute any 
amendments, decisions, and revisions thereto, and to act as the authorized 
representative of the Town of East Hartford. 
 
 
 



AND I DO CERTIFY that the above resolution has not been in any way altered, 

amended, or repealed, and is now in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set my hand and affix the corporate seal 
of said Town of East Hartford the ___ day of February, 2024. 
 
 
        Seal                                               Signed: ___________________________ 
                                                                         Jason Marshall, Council Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

DATE:  February 14, 2024 

TO:  Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:  Mayor Connor S. Martin  

RE:  RESOLUTION: Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) Support with ARPA Funding 
 

On January 29, 2024, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) released wind-down 
guidance for Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) Outreach Grant recipients. We have a 
$250,000 grant through this program that was slated to fund a two-year regional outreach plan 
in partnership with the Hartford Public Library.  Due to the wind-down of the ACP itself, which 
is expected to run out of funding in April unless Congress acts, we are required to conclude our 
grant-funded activities on February 7, 2024.  Nearly 5,000 households in East Hartford are 
enrolled in the ACP and will lose their $30/month subsidy when the ACP ends. 
 

The Library Department and Department of Health & Human Services propose the use of 
American Recovery Plan Act (ARPA) funds that were originally allocated for health department 
operations to retain the full-time grant-funded employee, Malia Hunt, through the end of the 
fiscal year.  Our forecasted expense for Ms. Hunt’s wages for the remaining of fiscal year 2024 
is $23,000.   
 

Please place this item on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024 meeting.  

 
C: P. O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 

E. Buckheit, Development Director 
S. Morgan, Library Director 
L. Burnsed, Health and Human Services Director  

   
 



GRANTS ADMINISTRATION 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:  Mayor Connor S. Martin 
 
FROM:  Paul O’Sullivan, Grants Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Council Resolution – Transfer of ARPA Funding  
 
DATE:  February 9, 2024 
 
 
Attached is a draft Town Council resolution authorizing you as Mayor to transfer funds 
among American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) accounts to support the Town’s digital 
connectivity and inclusion efforts. 
 
Also attached is a memo from Director of Health & Human Services Laurence Burnsed 
explaining the need and rationale for the change. 
 
I respectfully request that this item be placed on the Town Council agenda for their 
meeting to be held on February 20, 2024.  Please contact me at extension 7206 if you 
have any questions. 
 
Attachments: as stated 
 
 
Cc:  Eileen Buckheit, Development Director 
  
 
 
  
 



MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:  Mayor Connor S. Martin 
 
FROM:  Laurence Burnsed, Director of Health & Human Services 
 
SUBJECT: Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) Support with ARPA Funding 
 
DATE:  February 2, 2024 
 
 
On January 29, 2024, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) released wind-
down guidance for Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) Outreach Grant recipients. 
We have a $250,000 grant through this program that was slated to fund a two-year 
regional outreach plan in partnership with the Hartford Public Library.  Due to the wind-
down of the ACP itself, which is expected to run out of funding in April unless Congress 
acts, we are required to conclude our grant-funded activities on February 7, 2024.  Nearly 
5,000 households in East Hartford are enrolled in the ACP and will lose their $30/month 
subsidy when the ACP ends. 
 
The Library Department and Department of Health & Human Services propose the use of 
American Recovery Plan Act (ARPA) funds that were originally allocated for health 
department operations to retain the full-time grant-funded employee, Malia Hunt, through 
the end of the fiscal year.  Our forecasted expense for Ms. Hunt’s wages for the remaining 
of fiscal year 2024 is $23,000.   
 
The Department of Health & Human Services supports the allocation of ARPA funds to 
this cover this program to assist in transitioning East Hartford households to their “next 
best” internet option.  We are not permitted to use FCC grant funds for this purpose. 
Furthermore, the Town has been fortunate to receive COVID-19 response grant funding 
from the Connecticut Department of Public Health (DPH) as well as the Hartford 
Foundation for Public Giving that supports personnel, supplies, and community outreach 
for case investigation, contact management, and vaccine administration.  
 
This limited allocation to support digital connectivity efforts will not impact our ongoing 
COVID-19 response program activities through 2026.  Digital connectivity is essential to 
pandemic recovery: it provides access to COVID-19 resources and available services, 
access to healthcare resources, and allows residents to apply for basic needs programs to 
mitigate the economic impact due the pandemic.  
 
Cc:  Melissa McCaw, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Sarah Kline Morgan, Library Director 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 

I, Jason Marshall, the duly appointed Clerk of the Town Council of the Town of 
East Hartford, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Connecticut, hereby certify that the following is a true copy of a resolution 
adopted at a meeting of the East Hartford Town Council of said corporation, duly 
held on the 20th day of February, 2024 
 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
 
WHEREAS; the Town has been awarded $24,561,068 in American Rescue Plan 
Act (ARPA) funds from the U.S. Treasury; and 
 
WHEREAS; in order to most effectively use these funds, the transfer of funds 
between existing accounts is periodically necessary;   
 
NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED; that Connor S. Martin, Mayor of the 
Town of East Hartford, is authorized to make the following transfers among 
ARPA Accounts: 
 
1. Transfer $23,000.00 from “COVID Other Public Health Services” to “ARPA 

Unallocated Balance” 
 
4. Transfer $23,000.00 from “ARPA Unallocated Balance” to “Digital 

Inclusion Project Manager” 
 
 

AND I DO CERTIFY that the above resolution has not been in any way altered, 

amended, or repealed, and is now in full force and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I do hereunto set my hand and affix the corporate seal 
of said Town of East Hartford the ___ day of February, 2024. 
 
 
        Seal                                             Signed: ___________________________ 
                                                                       Jason Marshall, Town Council Clerk 



  

TOWN OF EAST HARTFORD OFFICE OF THE MAYOR 

 

DATE:   February 14, 2024 

TO:   Richard F. Kehoe, Chair 

FROM:   Mayor Connor S. Martin  

RE:   AMUSEMENT PERMIT APPLICATION 

 

The following Amusement Permit is before you due to the East Hartford Code of Ordinances, Chapter 5, 
Amusements, Section 5-3 (e), passed by the Town Council: 

Sec. 5-3 (e): 
 
(e) If the application is submitted pursuant to subsection (b) of section 5-1 of the Town Ordinances, 
within one week of receipt of written comments from the Directors, the Chief of Police shall forward 
those comments to the Town Council. The Chief of Police shall also forward to the Town Council written 
comments pertaining to the impact the proposed amusement would have on the areas under the 
purview of the Police Department and any recommended changes in the planned operations, as well as 
a statement as to whether the Police Department can supply adequate police protection. 

Please add the following amusement permit on the Town Council agenda for the February 20, 2024 
meeting. 

 

 Lung Force Walk 2024 
o Saturday, June 1, 2024 from 9 AM to 11 AM at Great River Park.  

 
 
C: M. Hawkins, Interim Chief of Police 
  
 








































	02-20-24 Agenda Draft.pdf
	02-20-24 Exec Call Draft.pdf
	5A 02-06-24 Exec Mins.pdf
	CALL TO ORDER
	ADJOURNMENT

	5B 02-06-24 Minutes FINAL.pdf
	6A Memo 2024-02-14__Presentation.pdf
	6A1a February 2024_ East Hartford Town Council_Segal Presentation.pdf
	Town of East Hartford Pension Plan
	Slide Number 2
	Glossary of Pension Terms
	Ultimate Cost of Retirement Plan
	How are the Annual Plan Costs Determined?
	Plan Population
	Plan Population by Group
	Annual Benefit Payments – Closed Group
	Plan Asset Values as of July 1
	Plan Assets – Investment Return
	Determination of Actuarial Value of Assets�for Year Ended June 30, 2023
	Funded Status
	Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)
	Change in Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)
	Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC) by Employee Type
	Town Contributions
	Assumptions, Provisions, and Methodologies

	6A1b Freedom Investment Management.pdf
	Fiscal 2024 Pension & OPEB Equity Account Review
	Slide2
	Background
	Equity Outlook: Cautious on Valuation
	Enjoying the Tailwinds from 10 Years Ago
	The Base Case for Longer-Term Expectations
	2023: A Narrow Market Dominated by Tech
	Fiscal Year Review
	Asset Allocation (12/31/2023)
	Fiscal Year 2023 Performance 
	CY 2023 Performance 
	

	6A1c East Hartford Town Council Meeting February 2024.pdf
	Town Council Meeting
	Slide Number 2
	Firm and Market Update
	Slide Number 4
	CT Public Funds We Serve
	Public Fund Industry Experience
	Fixed Income Investment Review
	Pension Allocation Review
	Pension Fixed Income Characteristics
	Pension Performance vs Benchmark
	OPEB Allocation Review
	OPEB Fixed Income Characteristics
	OPEB Performance vs Benchmark
	Asset Allocation Summary Analysis
	2024 Allocation Updates
	2024-2033 Twenty-Year Outlook
	Frontier Engineer® Analysis
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Historical Annual Total Return
	Calendar Year Total Return
	Capital Market Assumptions
	Indices for Past Return & Risk Metrics
	Disclosure
	Disclosure

	6B1 ARPA Small Business Program Update.pdf
	2024-02-14__Presentation_ARPABusinessProgram.pdf
	TC memo for ARPA Small Buiness Assistance Program.pdf

	6B1 ARPA Update Presentation Feb 2024.pdf
	Slide1
	Slide2
	Slide3
	Slide4
	Slide5
	Slide6
	Slide7
	Slide8
	Slide9
	Slide10
	Slide11
	Slide12
	Slide13
	Slide14
	Slide15

	6B2 Training Report Land Use Commissioners.pdf
	TC memo for Land Use Training (002).pdf
	Memo to Dev Director - Land Use Training Status 2.9.24.pdf

	6C FD Memo Surplus.pdf
	6C FD Surplus 240207_2006 Ford Taurus.pdf
	8A Council Resolution Naubuc Sidewalks CIP Feb 2024.pdf
	refer to council Naubuc Sidewalks CIP LoCIP Feb 2024 (002).pdf
	Council Resolution Naubuc Sidewalks CIP Feb 2024 (004).pdf
	R E S O L U T I O N


	8B State of Connecticut Office of Policy and Management LOCIP ALLOCATIONS.pdf
	2024-02-14_Memo_Resolution_LoCIP (002).pdf
	reso LoCIP Feb 2024 (002).pdf

	8C 818 Contract.pdf
	Local No. 818  Memo 2024 _ 2.20.2024.pdf
	LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4 Cover Letter.pdf
	Attached is the agreement LOCAL NO. 818 OF COUNCIL NO.4, and the Binding Arbitration Award was on Tuesday, December 5.
	INSURANCE AND PENSION
	Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)


	818 Settlement Funds Transfer 2024.pdf
	ARPA Addional FundTransfer - LOCAL NO. 818 Arbitration Settlement_.pdf
	818 Contract Analysis 2024 REV.pdf
	EMPLOYEE_JOB_SALARY
	MAIN_ANALYSIS
	$400 vs $800 pmts
	Section 8.11 Arbitration 
	OPEB SAMPLE TEST
	PIVOT23 HEALTH
	PIVOT23 OT
	PIVOT23 BASE WAGES
	FY23 Accumulators Report
	T05 _ EMPLOYEES MASTER
	GWIs
	FY22,23,24 Ins. Rates

	Working Agreement - signature ready.pdf
	ARTICLE I RECOGNITION
	Section 1.0
	Section 1.1

	ARTICLE II UNION SECURITY
	Section 2.0
	Section 2.1
	Section 2.2
	Section 2.3
	Section 2.4
	Section 2.5
	Section 2.6

	ARTICLE III SENIORITY
	Section 3.0
	Section 3.1
	Section 3.2
	Section 3.3
	Section 3.4
	Section 3.5
	Section 3.6
	Section 3.7
	Section 3.8
	Section 3.9
	Section 3.10

	ARTICLE IV HOURS OF WORK, OVERTIME AND HOLIDAY PAY
	Section 4.0
	Eves to Days

	Section 4.1
	Section 4.2
	Section 4.3
	Section 4.4
	Section 4.5
	Section 4.6

	ARTICLE V HOLIDAYS
	Section 5.0
	Section 5.1
	Section 5.2
	Section 5.3
	Section 5.4

	ARTICLE VI VACATIONS
	Section 6.0
	Section 6.1
	Section 6.2
	Section 6.3
	Section 6.4
	Section 6.5
	Section 6.6
	Section 6.7
	Section 6.8

	ARTICLE VII LEAVE PROVISIONS
	Section 7.0:  Sick Leave
	Section 7.1:  Special Leave with Pay:
	Section 7.2:  Family Medical Leave
	Section 7.3:  Unpaid Leave of Absence:

	ARTICLE VIII WAGES AND BENEFITS
	Section 8.0
	Section 8.1
	Section 8.2
	Section 8.2 (a)
	Section 8.3
	Section 8.4
	Section 8.5
	Section 8.6
	Section 8.7
	Section 8.8
	Section 8.9
	Section 8.10
	Section 8.11

	ARTICLE IX INSURANCE AND PENSION
	Section 9.0
	Section 9.1
	Section 9.2 Retiree Health Insurance
	Section 9.3 Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

	ARTICLE X SAFETY AND HEALTH
	Section 10.0
	Section 10.1
	Section 10.2
	Section 10.3
	Section 10.4
	Section 10.5
	Section 10.6
	Section 10.7

	ARTICLE XI DISCIPLINARY ACTION
	Section 11.0
	Section 11.1

	ARTICLE XII SAVING CLAUSE
	Section 12.0

	ARTICLE XIII GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	Section 13.0
	Section 13.1
	Section 13.2
	Section 13.3
	Section 13.4

	ARTICLE XIV MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
	ARTICLE XV DURATION
	Section 15.0
	Section 15.1

	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B July 1, 2022 wages with 2.5% GWI
	APPENDIX B-1 July 1, 2023 wages with 2% GWI
	APPENDIX B-2 July 1, 2024 wages with 2% GWI
	APPENDIX B-3 July 1, 2025 wages with 2% GWI
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D TRIPLE OPTIONAL DENTAL PLAN
	APPENDIX E BLUEVIEW VISION RIDER
	APPENDIX F HEALTH BENEFIT OPT-OUT FORM
	APPENDIX G ATTESTATION FOR $600 WELLNESS REWARD
	APPENDIX H HIGH DEDUCTIBLE HEALTH PLAN SCHEDULE OF BENEFITS
	APPENDIX I MILITARY LEAVE POLICY

	Redline Copy.pdf

	8D Town Hall Enhancements.PDF
	8E Brownfields Assessment Grants.pdf
	Council Grants Form Brownfields Jan 2024.pdf
	Feb 2024 Council Refer Memo Brownfields Assessment App.pdf
	2024-02-14_Resolution_GRANTS_Brownfields.pdf
	Brownfields Assessment One-Pager Jan 2024.pdf
	Council resolution Brownfields Assessment Council Resolution Jan 2024.pdf
	R E S O L U T I O N


	8F Transfer of ARPA Funds for ACP Support.pdf
	2024-02-14_Resolution_GRANTS_ACP.pdf
	refer to council digital inclusion transfer.pdf
	memo Health and Human Services ACP outreach support with ARPA funds 2 Feb 2024.pdf
	2024-02-20 Council Resolution funds to digital inclusion.pdf
	R E S O L U T I O N


	8G Amusement Lung Force Walk 2024.pdf
	2023-2-14_AmusementPermits_LungForceWalk.pdf
	Town Council Packet for February 20 2024 - LUNG FORCE Walk.pdf


